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AMENDED INFORMATION (2/10/09)

APPELLANT'S FAST TRACK STATEMENT
DOCKET NO. 53859 (8/19/09)

DEFENDANT’S BRIEF ON ADMISSIBILITY
OF EVIDENCE OF ALLEGED VICTIM’S
HISTORY OF SUICIDE ATTEMPTS, ANGER
OUTBURSTS, ANGER MANAGEMENT
THERAPY, SELF-MUTILATION (WITH
KNIVES AND SCISSORS) AND ERRATIC
BEHAVIOR (3/20/09)

DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SETTLE
THE RECORD (3/24/09)

DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO STATE’S
MOTION TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER
CRIMES (2/6/09)

DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION IN
LIMINE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER
BAD ACTS PURSUANT TO NRS 48.045 AND
EVIDENCE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
PURSUANT TO 48.061 (1/18/11)

DEFENDANT’S PROPOSED EXHIBIT
B (MONTE VISTA HOSPITAL RECORDS)

DEFENDANT’S PROPOSED JURY
INSTRUCTIONS (8/23/10)

INFORMATION (12/19/08)

INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY (3/20/09)
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INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY (9/2/10) 2191-2218
JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION

(5/8/09) 709-710
MINUTES (1/6/09 - 5/5/09) 713-720
MINUTES (4/29/10, 5/20/10, 6/6/10) 746-748
MINUTES (9/1/10 — 9/2/10) 2221-2224
MINUTES (9/16/10) 2235
MINUTES (9/14/10) 2239

NOTICE OF APPEAL
(5/21/09) 711-712

NOTICE OF DEFENDANT'S EXPERT
WITNESSES (3/5/09) 40-45

NOTICE OF DEFENDANT’S WITNESSES
(3/6/09) 58-61

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO
ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER CRIMES
(BY STATE) (2/2/09) 7-22

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY

DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE

STATE FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL

OTHER ACT OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE

AND OTHER EVIDENCE WHICH IS UNFAIRLY
PREJUDICIAL OR WOULD VIOLATE HIS
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS (7/21/10) 749-765
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NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY

DEFENDANT O’KEEFE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE
PERTAINING TO THE ALLEGED VICTIM’S
MENTAL HEALTH CONDITION AND HISTORY,
INCLUDEING PRIOR SUICIDE ATTEMPTS,
ANGER OUTBURSTS, ANGER MANAGEMENT
THERAPY, SELF-MUTILATION AND ERRATIC

BEHAVIOR (7/21/10)

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT FOR DISCOVERY
(8/2/10)

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO SUPPRESS HIS
STATEMENTS TO POLICE, OR,
ALTERNATIVELY, TO PRECLUDE THE
STATE FROM INTRODUCING PORTIONS
OF HIS INTERROGATION

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO PRECLUDE EXPERT
TESTIMONY

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO PRECLUDE THE STATE
FROM INTRODUCING AT TRIAL
IMPROPER EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT
(1/3/11)

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION IN

LIMINE TO ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER
BAD ACTS PURSUANT TO NRS 48.045 AND

EVIDENCE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
PURSUANT TO 48.061 (BY STATE)
(1/6/11)
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NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION BY
DEFENDANT TO DISMISS ON GROUNDS OF
DOUBLE JEOPARDY BAR AND SPEEDY
TRIAL VIOLATION AND, ALTERNATIVELY,
TO PRECLUDE STATE’S NEW EXPERT
WITNESS, EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT
RELATING TO THE DYNAMICS OR EFFECTS
OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND ABUSE
(1/7/11)

NOTICE OF WITNESSES AND/OR
EXPERT WITNESSES (BY STATE) (2/3/09)

NOTICE OF WITNESSES AND/OR
EXPERT WITNESSES (BY STATE) (2/17/09)

NOTICE OF EXPERT WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (3/5/09)

OHIO V. BETTS, 2007 OHIO APP LEXIS,
4873 (2007)

ORDER OF REVERSAL AND REMAND,
DOCKET NO. 53859 (4/7/10)

ORDER GRANTING, IN PART, AND
DENYING, IN PART, MOTION BY
DEFENDANT O’KEEFE FOR DISCOVERY
(8/23/10)

ORDER GRANTING, IN PART, AND

DENYING, IN PART, MOTION BY DEFENDANT
O’KEEFE TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM
INTRODUCING AT TRIAL OTHER ACT
EVIDENCE AND OTHER EVIDENCE WHICH

IS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL OR WOULD
VIOLATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS
(9/9/10)
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REMITTITUR, DOCKET NO. 53859
(5/7/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
JANUARY 20, 2009 (7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
FEBRUARY 10, 2009 (7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
MARCH 10, 2009 (7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY TWO, MARCH 17, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY THREE, MARCH 18, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY FOUR, MARCH 19, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
DAY FIVE, MARCH 20, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
APRIL 7, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT (SENTENCING)
MAY 5, 2009
(7/10/09)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
AUGUST 17, 2010
(11/23/10)
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30-34

64-68
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ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
AUGUST 19, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
AUGUST 20, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
(PARTIAL) JURY TRIAL (DAY ONE),
AUGUST 23, 2010

(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
(PARTIAL) JURY TRIAL (DAY TWO),
AUGUST 24, 2010

(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY THREE), AUGUST 25, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY FOUR), AUGUST 26, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY FIVE), AUGUST 27, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY SIX), AUGUST 30, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY SEVEN), AUGUST 31, 2010
(11/23/10)
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1123-1135
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1259-1552

1553-1790

1791-2016

2017-2190
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ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY EIGHT), SEPTEMBER 1, 2010
(11/23/10)

ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL
(DAY NINE), SEPTEMBER 2, 2010
(11/23/10)

SECOND AMENDED INFORMATION

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO ADMIT EVIDENCE PERTAINING
TO THE ALLEGED VICTIM’S MENTAL
HEALTH CONDITION AND HISTORY (8/16/10)

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS STATEMENTS

TO POLICE, OR ALTERNATIVELY, TO
PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM INTRODUCING
PORTIONS OF HIS INTERROGATION (8/17/09)

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO
PRECLUDE EXPERT TESTIMONY (8/18/10)

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM
INTRODUCING AT TRIAL IMPROPER
EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT (1/12/11)

STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S
MOTION TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM
INTRODUCING AT TRIAL OTHER BAD ACTS
OR CHARACTER EVIDENCE AND OTHER
EVIDENCE THAT IS UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL
OR WOULD VIOLATE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHTS (8/16/10)
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STATE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO
DISMISS, AND, ALTERNATIVELY, TO
PRECLUDE EXPERT AND ARGUMENT
REGARDING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
(1/18/11)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (3/10/09)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (3/11/09)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY DEFENDANT) (8/16/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF
DEFENDANT’S EXPERT WITNESSES
(7/21/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT
WITNESSES (BY STATE) (8/13/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT
WITNESSES (BY STATE) (8/16/10)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF EXPERT
WITNESSES (BY STATE) (1/3/11)

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF WITNESSES
(BY STATE) (1/14/11)

TRANSCRIPT JURY TRIAL (DAY ONE)
MARCH 16, 2009
(10/14/09)

TRANSCRIPT (PARTIAL) JURY TRIAL
(DAY TWO) MARCH 17, 2009
(3/18/09)
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62-63

69-70

888-890

7185-816

878-879

906-914

2316-2320

2429-2432

71-369

370-374
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TRANSCRIPT AUGUST 12, 2010
(11/23/10)

TRANSCRIPT SEPTEMBER 16, 2010
(2/4/11)

TRANSCRIPT JANUARY 13, 2011
(2/4/11)

TRANSCRIPT JANUARY 18, 2011
(2/4/11)

TRANSCRIPT JANUARY 20, 2011
(2/4/11)

VERDICT (3/20/09)

VERDICT SUBMITTED TO JURY BUT
RETURNED UNSIGNED (9/2/10)
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CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
PlaintifT, ; Case No: 08-C-250630
) Dept. No: XVIL
-V§- )
, , ) Date; January 13, 2011
BRIAN K. O’KEEFE ) Time: 8:15 am.
Defendant. %

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO
PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM INTRODUCING AT
TRIAL IMPROPER EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, through

CHRISTOPHER J. LALLI, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby opposes the

Defendant’s Motion to Preclude Evidence and Argument. This Opposition is made and

based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the attached points and authorities in

support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if deemed necessary by this

Honorable Court,

DATED this 12th day of January, 2011.

DAVID ROGER
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #002781

BY /s Christopoher J. Lalli

CHRISTOPHER J. LALLI
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #005398

CrProprun FilusiWeevia.Com'Document Conveneritemp: 1 133936-1693898.20C
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

On November 5, 2008, Brian K. O’Keefe (hereinafter “the Defendant”) murdered
Victoria Whitmarsh by stabbing the right side of her chest. The knife he used to kill Victoria
sliced through various vital organs, [t was also apparent that the much-larger Defendant had
badly beaten Victoria. Weighing seventy pounds less than him, her body was badly bruised
at autopsy. On January 3, 2011, the Defendant filed the instant Motion to Preclude the State
from Introducing at Trial Improper Evidence and Argument. This Opposition follows.

ARGUMENT
1. Defendant’s Third Attempt to Deny the State from Presenting Evidence of
His Motive and Intent Sheuld be Denied

Prior to the commencement of the first trial, on February 2, 2009, the State filed a
Motion to Admit Evidence of Other Crimes. (A copy of that Motion is attached hereto as
Exhibit 1.} In that Motion, the State sought judicial authorization to call Cheryl Morris as a
witness in its case-in-chief. Morris had given a statement to the police and had testified at a
prelinminary hearing with respect to certain information about the Defendant. Also in its bad
acts motion, the State sought to introduce evidence from a case in which the Defendant had
been convicted pursuant to a jury verdict. The State argued, “The case [C207835] was tried
before a jury before the Honorable Valorie Vega on September 19, 2005, with Mrs.
Whitmarsh testifying against the Defendant.” Exhibit 1 at 8 (emphasis added). The Motion
continued: “The State now respectfully requests that evidence with regards to the
Defendant’s conviction in C207835 be admitted in its case-in-chief.” 7d.

That Motion was argued before His Honor on March 16, 2009. (A transcript of those
proceedings is attached to the Defendant’s instant Motion as Exhibit A.) After hearing

argument by the State and the Defendant, the Court ruled;

I think the prior acts here and the statements are relevant to the
charge. With the testimony under oath they’ve been proven by
clear and convincing evidence, And Mr, Pike, I do find that the
probative value is not substantially outweighed by the prejudicial
effect of this, so I'm going to allow that testimony to come in.

b2
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Defense Exhibit A at 8, After the ruling, the State further informed the parties of its intent
with respect to referencing Victoria in the bad-acts case. “The only detail I'm going to go
into with regards to the prior DV obviously is who the witness was that testified against him
....” Id. at 11 (emphasis added). Moreover, the Defendant has now made it perfectly clear
that Victoria did, in fact, testify against the Defendant in that case by attaching her testimony
to his instant Motion as Exhibit D.

Counsel for the Defendant wants to engage in a game of semantics about whether
Victoria actually testified “against” the Defendant. However, it is pretty clear the Defendant
perceived that Victoria was testifying against him based upon his statements to Cheryl
Morris. He understood the impact of Victoria’s testimony and the need for it to obtain a
conviction against him. If the Defendant is inclined to elicit the substance of Victoria’s
testimony, the State would welcome that opportunity and ask the Court to grant its bad acts
motion filed on January 6, 2011.

The Defendant also wants to litigate — for a third time — the admissibility of Cheryl
Morris’s testimony. The Defendant casts her testimony as “much expanded” and “greatly
expended” so as te include bad acts. Def.’s Mot. at 9. This is simply not the case. The
record of these proceedings clearly shows that Morris has previously testified that the
Defendant killed other individuals, not in the sense of murder, but as a member of the
military. See Transcript of Preliminary Hearing, December 17, 2008, at 68 (attached hereto
as Exhibit 2). The manner in which the Defendant could kill someone was elicited in the
first trial.  See Transcript of Jury Trial of March 17, 2009, at 17-18 (attached hereto as
Exhibit 3). Morris also previously testified that the Defendant was attracted to Victona
because she was submissive. See Exhibit 3 at 15-17.  Morris has previously testified that a
lock had been placed on her bedroom door, something that i #o way can be construed as
“character evidence.” See Exhibit 3 at 18.

The Defendant wants to attack any minor inconsistency in Morris’s iestimony and
claim that it is “expanded™ or a bad act. The simple truth of the matter is that the more often

a witness testifies, the more inconsistencies can be found from one transcript to the next,

002373
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These matters are for cross-examination, not exclusion,

The Defendant also wrongly criticizes the State for making fair argument based upon
the bruising found on Victoria’s body after her death. During the course of the trial, Doctor
Felicia Benjamin testified that the bruises on Victoria’s body were in various stages of
healing. Moreover, some of the bruising on Victoria’s body was found in areas indicating
that it was purposefully caused as opposed to accidently suffered. Based upon these facts,
the State properly argued that Victoria “had been roughty handled in an ongoing [fashion].”
See Transcript of Trial of August 31, 2010, at 135,

The State is certainly entitled to explain the injuries Victoria suffered through the
testtmony of a medical examiner and through the use of photographic evidence. It is
impossible to do this without also referencing older non-accidental bruising on Victoria’s
body. The res gestae doctrine allows the State to present the “complete story” when

presenting such evidence.

NRS 48.035(3) states the following:

Evidence of another act or crime which is so closely related to an
act in controversy or a crime charged that an orc%nary witness
cannot describe the act in controversy or the crime charged
without referring to the other act or crime shall not be excluded,
but at the request of an interested party, a cautionary instruction
shall be given explaining the reason for its admission.

The Nevada Supreme Court dealt with this issue in Bellon v. Stare, 121 Nev, 436 (2005). In
Bellon, the court explained:

The State may present a full and accurate account of the crime,
and such evidence is admissible even if it implicates the
defendant in the commission of other uncharged acts. However,
the “complete story of the crime” doctrine must be construed
narrowly. Accordingly, we have stated that “the crime must be
so interconnected to the act m question that a witness cannot
describe the act in controversy without referring to the other
crime.” We now reiterate that admission of evidence under NRS
48.035(3) is limited to the statute’s express provisions, Under
the statute, a witness may only testify to another uncharged act or
crime if it is so closely related to the act in controversy that the
witness cannot describe the act without referring to the other
uncharged act or crime.

fd. at 441.

002374




2

N e 1y i B

CLARK COUNTY
DISTRICT ATTORNEY

MAIOR VIOLATORT
uNiT
£702) 671-2830

The situation described in Bellon is precisely present in the instant case. The State is
entitled to “present a full and accurate account” of the acute injuries Victoria suffered at the
time of her death, In utilizing photograplis of her body, a jury will necessarily see other,
older bruising. Tt is impossible to present the acute injury without the jury seeing the older
injury. Therefore, all of the bruising is admissible under the res gestae doctrine codified in
NRS 48.035(3).

Moreover, the Defendant has already once tried to exclude evidence of injuries not
necessarily “tied into this [murder] event.” See Transcript of Proceedings of March 16,
2008, at 293. After brief argument on the issue during the first trial, the Court decided to
hear from the medical examiner before deciding whether to exclude photos of bruising. /d.
at 296. When the medical examiner did eventually testify, the Court allowed the photos into
evidence and permitted the medical examiner to testify regarding all of the injuries. See
Transcript of Proceedings of March 18, 2008, at §7-106.

2. The State is Permitted to Impeach and Comment upon the Credibility of

Defense Witnesses

During the cross-examination of defense expert George Schiro, the State inquired as
to the amount of money he had been paid for his testimony. He testified that the amount was
in excess of $11,000. This fact was then used in closing argument to challenge the
credibility of the witness. It is wholly proper to cross-exanline an expert witness on the
amount of his compensation to establish bias. See Collins v. Wayne Corp., 621 F.2d 777,
783 (5th Cir. 1980), superseded by rule on other grounds as stated in Mathis v. Exxon Corp.,
302 F.3d 448 (5th Cir. 2002); Cary Oil Co., Inc. v. MG Refining & Marketing, fnc., 257
F.Supp.2d 751,756 -757 (S.D.N.Y. 2003).

When the Defendant claims that the State violated Butler v. State, 120 Nev. 879
(2004), and Sipsas v. State, 102 Nev. 119 (1986), he fails to appreciate the difference
between disparaging a witness and merely arguing credibility. Indeed, it is permissible for a
prosecutor to argue the credibility of a witness, Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31, 39 (2002).

A prosecutor may argue the evidence and inferences before a jury so long as he does not
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heap verbal abuse on the witness or characterize the witness as a perjurer or fraud. Yases v.
State, 103 Nev. 200, 204-05 (1987). A prosecutor may demonstrate to the jury through
inferences from the record that testimony of a witness is untrue or biased. See Ross v. State,
106 Nev. 924, 927 (1990). The arguments made by the State regarding Schiro were intended
to attack his credibility and certainly did not characterize him as a “perjurer or fraud.”

With respect to Doctor Todd Grey, a medical examiner from the State of Utah, the
State arpued that his testimony was of limited value because it did not conclusively advance
any particular theory but simply “rule[d] out suicide.,” It is difficult to fathom how anyone
could construe such an argument as disparaging.

3. References to Domestic Violence in a Future Trial is Proper and Relevant

The Defendant argues that the issue of domestic violence is not relevant in this
domestic violence homicide. See Def.’s Mot. At 12-15. He argues that the State somehow
engaged in misconduct by making references to domestic violence in its opening statement
and closing argument, Try as he might, it is impossible to ignore the domestic violence
elephant in the room.

NRS 48.061 provides that “evidence of domestic violence and expert testimony
concerning the effect of domestic violence, including, without limitation, the effect of
physical, emotional or mental abuse, on the beliefs, behavior and perception of the alleged
victim of the domestic violence that is offered by the prosecution or defense is admissible in
a criminal proceeding for any relevant purpose ...”" Pursuant to NRS 48.061, references to
domestic violence are entirely proper and appropriate.

It is also permissible for the State to develop and rely upon domestic violence themes
in its opening statement and closing argument. Experts in trial advocacy recognize the

importance and propriety of developing themes when addressing the jury:

! The Delendam woetiilly misconstrues the meaning of NRS 48,061, A more elaborale discussion ol this
slalutory provision, including its legislative history, is discussed in the State’s Motion in Limine to Admit Evidence of
Other Bad Acts Pursuant to NRS 48.045 and Evidence of Domestic Violence Pursuant io NRS 48.061 filed on January
6, 2011, This discussion can he found on pages 14-22,
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Just as your theoJr&f must appeal to logic, your theme must
appeal to moral force. A logical theory tells the trier of fact the
reason that your verdict must be entered. A moral theme shows
why it should be entered.

A theme is a rhetorical or forensic device. It has no

independent legal weight, but rather it gives persuasive force to
your legal arguments.

Steven Lubet, Modern Trial Advocacy: Analysis and Practice 9 (National [nstitute for Trial
Advocacy 2d ed. 1997) (1993). Another author explained the importance of introducing
your case to the jury in opening statement this way: “A good beginning is just a sentence or
two long and does three things: -Focuses on people. —Gets jurors listening. —Arouses a
sense of justice and fair play.” David Ball, Theater Tips and Strategies for Jury Trials 103-
04 (National Institute for Trial Advoeacy 2d ed. 1997) (1994).

Moreover, courts have recognized that developing themes by use of quotations and
rhetorical devices is altogether property. For example, in State v. Thompson, 832 A.2d 626,
644-45 (Conn. 2003), the prosecutor characterized evidence adduced by the defendant
during the trial as a fantasy world akin to that encountered by Alice, both in Wonderland and
through the looking glass. The prosecutor argued that in order to believe the defendant’s
theory of the case, the jury would have to “step through the looking glass and follow the
white rabbit down into the rabbit hole. It’s only in this fantasy world that truth is stranger
than fiction.” Id. at 644. The Connecticut Supreme Court explained that the advocacy used
by the prosecutor was proper:

The mere fact that the prosecutor emPloyed the rhetorical
device of incorporating a literary theme into his closing argument
did not render his remarks improper. Accord State v. Cotron, 774,
825 A.2d 189 (Conn. Ct. App. 2003) (reference to Lewis
Carroll’s Through the Lookin %FI)E]SS was not improper). As we
stated earlier in this opinion, “[t]he occasional use of rhetorical
devices is simply fair argument.” Stare v. Reynolds, 824 A.2d
611 (Conn. 2003), reprinted at 836 A.2d 224, Through his
literary allusions to Lewis Carroll’s “topsy-turvy” imaginary
worlds, in which the irrational prevailed over the logical, the
prosecutor argued in effect that in order for the jury to believe
the defense witnesses, it would have to suspend logic and ignore
the weight of the evidence. This was mere rhetorical flourish and
not improper argument.
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Id. at 644-45 (internal citations refined).

Of course, there is nothing magical about the foregoing, It is what every first year
law student is taught about giving opening statements and closing arguments. It is a
rudimentary lesson of being an effective advocate and presenting a compelling opening
statement or closing argument. The dark days of beginning an opening statement with “An
opening statement is a roadmap ...” are long gone. The State’s use of quotations regarding
domestic violence in its opening statement and closing argument were altogether proper.

4, Defendant’s Convictions for Criminal Non-Support of Dependents

After reviewing the Defendant’s Entry of Sentence and related documents as well as
relevant Ohio law, the State agrees with the Defendant that these convictions to not meet the
criteria of NRS 20.095(1).

CONCLUSION

Based upon all of the foregoing, the State respectfully prays that the Defendant’s
Motion to Preclude the State from Introducing at Trial Improper Evidence and Argument,
except with respect 1o his convictions for Criminal Non-Support of Dependents, be denied.

DATED this 12 day of January, 2011.

DAVID ROGER

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #002781

BY /s/ Christopher J. Lalli

CHRISTOPHER J. LALLI
Chief Deputy District Atlorney
Nevada Bar #005398
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DAVID ROGER

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781

PHILLIP N. SMITH, JR.
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #010233

200 South Third Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2211
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

)
Plaintiff, )

) Case No. C250630
~V§- )

) Dept No. XVII

BRIAN O’KEEFE, )
#1447732 )
)
Defendant. )
)

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO ADMIT
EVIDENCE OF OTHER CRIMES

DATE OF HEARING: 02/10/2009
TIME OF HEARING: §:00 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, through
PHILLIP N. SMITH, JR., Deputy District Attorney, and files this Notice of Motion and
Motion to Admit Evidence of Other Crimes.

This Motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

/!
i
I
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NOTICE OF HEARING
YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned

will bring the foregoing motion on for setting before the above entitled Court, in Department
XVII thereof, on the 10th day of February, 2009, at the hour of 8:00 o'clock a.m., or as soon

thereafter as counsel may be heard.
DATED this day of February, 2009,

DAVID ROGER
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781

BY /s/PHILLIP N. SMITH, JR.

PHILLIP N. SMITH, JR.
Deputy District Attormey
Nevad);. Bar #010233

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
STATEMENT OF FACTS

Victoria Whitmarsh, a fashion mode! in New York City, met and married David
Whitmarsh, a fashion photographer, in 1985, They had a child, Alexandria. They were
planning on having another child, but Mrs. Whitmarsh was diagnosed with Hepatitis C in
1996. Physicians initially gave her five (5) years to live. The Whitmarshs subsequently
moved to Florida, hoping to spend Mrs. Whitmarsh’s final years in a warmer climate, The
terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 had an adverse effect on Mr. Whitmarsh’s business
(which was based out of New York City); consequently, they moved to Las Vegas. Mrs,
Whitmarsh began working at Merck-MEDCO, a local pharmaceutical company. Not long
after, she met Brian O’Keefe (the Defendant). Mrs. Whitmarsh ultimately decided she no
longer wanted to be with her husband and began to pursue a dating relationship with
O’Keefe. Mrs. Whitmarsh and O’Keefe had what could best be termed as an “on-again, off-
again” relationship.

i
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Perhaps most importantly, it was a relationship that was rife with domestic violence
upon Mrs. Whitmarsh at the hands of O’Keefe. This all culminated on November 3, 2008 at
approximately 11:00 p.m., when LVMPD dispatch received a 911 call from Robin Kolacz,
the manager of the “Casa Salvatore” apartments located at 5001 El Parque Avenue. Robin
stated that the female in apartment C-35 was lying inside the apartment and there was blood
everywhere. Police officers and medical personnel responded to the apartment complex.
Patrol officers arrived at the apartment and found the front door open. Officers challenged
the apartment and a male, later identified as O’Keefe, yelled at them to come in. The
officers cleared the front room and could hear O’Keefe talking from the master bedroom.
Officers continued to talk to O’Keefe, attempting to get him to come out of the bedroom;
however, he refused. O’Keefe’s actions made officers believe O’Keefe was attempting to
“bait” them into the room for a confrontation, Officers from the Crisis Intervention Team
approached the bedroom and observed O’Keefe holding the victim, identified as Victoria
Whitmarsh,

Officers could see that there was blood on the bed. O’Keefe first told officers Mrs.
Whitmarsh was dead, then stated she was alive and demanded officers enter to help her.
O’Keefe still refused to move away from the victim. Not knowing if Mrs, Whitmarsh was
still alive, officers entered the bedroom to expedite the removal of O’Keefe, so medical
could render aid. O’Keefe refused to comply with officer’s orders to move away from Mrs.
Whitmarsh; he therefore received one cycle from an electronic control device (ECD).
O’Keefe still refused to comply and received an additional cycle from ihe ECD.
Subsequently, O'Keefe complied with the officers” commands and was taken into custody
and removed from the bedroom, enabling medical personnel to enter and attend to Ms.
Whitmarsh. Medical personnel determined Mrs. Whitmarsh was deceased. Medical
personnel and officers exited the apartment. The area was cordoned off with crime scene
tape, and homicide detectives and criminalistics personnel were requested to the scene.
Homicide detectives arrived and a telephonic warrant was requested.

1
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Mrs. Whitmarsh appeared to have a stab wound on her right side under the arm pit
area, an injury to the middle knuckle of her left hand, and an injury to her right index finger.
Mrs, Whitmarsh was lying on her back on the floor and was nude from the waist down. The
bed linens were saturated with blood and there was a bloody black-handled kitchen knife
(approximately 8 inches long) lying on the bed. O’Keefe was taken to the homicide office
and advised of his rights per the Miranda decision, which he stated he understood. Homicide
detectives spoke with O’Keefe who stated he did not know what happened to Mrs.
Whitmarsh. O’Keefe stated only he and Mrs. Whitmarsh were in the apartment but he did
not know where all the blood came from. O’Keefe also stated he had been drinking
throughout the day of November 5, 2008. Detectives spoke to Charles and Joyce Toliver,
who live directly below O’Keefe. Joyce stated she heard loud thumping noises in the
apartment above that began around 10:00 p.m. The noises continued and eventually woke
up Joyce’s husband, Charles. Charles used a broom to strike the ceiling in an attempt to
have the upstairs neighbors, O’Keefe and Mrs. Whitmarsh, quiet down.

When the thumping noise continued, Charles went up to apartment C-35, Charles
found the front door of the apartment open and yelled in to O’Keefe. O’Keefe called for
Charles to “come in and get her, she’s dead.” Charles entered the apartment and walked to
the master bedroom. Charles only saw Mrs. Whitmarsh and O’Keefe in the apartment.
Charles looked into the bedroom and saw O’Keefe standing over the body of Mrs.
Whitmarsh. O’Keefe was attempting to lift Mrs. Whitmarsh at the waist. Mrs. Whitmarsh
was naked from the waist down and did not appear to be moving. Charles could see blood
all over the bed and there was a black-handled knife lying on the bed. Charles ran from the
room to the apartment manager’s apartment, spoke to Todd Armbruster (Robin’s boyfriend)
and told him to call the police. Jimmy Hathcox, who lives in apartment 36, next to O’Keefe
and Mrs. Whitmarsh, also heard loud thumping from apartment 35 at approximately 10:00
p.m, Hathcox stated he went outside of his apartment and saw O’Keefe standing outside of

his apartment. O’Keefe looked at Hathcox strangely and walked back into his apartment.

CAPROGRAM FILESWEEHA.COMDUCUMENT CONVERTERVTEMPG91557-462173.D0C

002384




—

[0

[ o N~ e = Y T -

—
pu—

[g] [\J — ek . ——t o —_— ] —
— (=] \D o] ~1 |95 E=N (o [

o]
2

Hathcox stated the next thing he heard was people yelling and he opened the door and
saw Charles Toliver and Todd Armbruster standing in front of O’Keefe’s door, The men
told Hathcox, “he killed her and there’s blood all over the place.” Todd Armbruster stated
that Charles Toliver came to his door and told him to call the police. Toliver told Todd that
he thought the girl in apartment 35 was dead. Todd went up to apartment 33, entered the
apartment, and saw O’Keefe bent over Mrs. Whitmarsh and blood on the bed. O’Keefe
looked up, saw Todd and took a swing at him and told him to “get the fuck out of here” (or
words to that effect). Todd left the apartment, went to apartment C-37, and phoned the
police. Detectives noted a large amount of blood on O’Keefe’s clothing and hands, an
incised wound on his right index finger and two abrasions on his forehead. O'Keefe also had
several long scratch marks on his back at the belt line. O’Keefe was photographed and his
clothing was impounded. O’Keefe was arrested and transported to the Clark County
Detention Center, where he was booked for Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon.

On November 6, 2008, at approximately 9:00 a.m., an autopsy was performed on the
bedy of Mrs. Whitmarsh at the Clark County Coroner’s Office by Dr. Jacqueline Benjamin.
Mrs. Whitmarsh had several bruises on her body including three on her left upper arm. Dr,
Benjamin noted a single stab wound just under the victim’s right arm pit. The wound looked
to have been made by a single edged knife with the sharp edge of the knife pointed towards
the victim’s back. Dr. Benjamin concluded that the wound was approximately 4.25 inches
long and traveled downward and forward. Upon completion of the autopsy, Dr. Benjamin
found that Mrs. Whitmarsh died from a single stab wound and the manmmer of death was a
homicide. During the interview of O’Keefe, O’Keefe was insistent he had called 911.
Detectives checked all the phones at the scene and none of them had a call to 911 or to the
non-emergency police number.

On November 20, 2008, Cheryl Morris gave a statement to the detectives assigned to
the case. Cheryl Morris stated she had a dating relationship with O’Keefe prior to Mrs.
Whitmarsh moving in with him at the 5001 El Parque address. Ms, Morris stated she and

O’Keefe dated for several months (starting in early 2008) and in June or July of 2008 she
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and O’Keefe moved into the El Parque address. At this point, the relationship was going to
be platonic. Ms. Morris said she slept in the master bedroom and O’Keefe slept on the
couch. Ms. Morris said she and O’Keefe had an agreement that they would share the
apartment as roommates, and after four (4) days O’Keefe called her and said he was bringing
Mrs. Whitmarsh home to live with them. Ms. Morris, not amenable to such a living
situation, left the house and only returned ito recover her property. Ms. Morris said that
during the course of their relationship, O’Keefe would always talk about his prior
relationship with Mrs. Whitmarsh and how he loved her and couldn’t live without her.

Ms. Morris stated when O’Keefe would drink he would become angry and abusive,
and he would also talk about how Mrs. Whitmarsh had ruined his life and would state that he
wanted to kill her (specifically because she had testified against him and “sent [him] to
prison” in case C207835) and that she (Mrs. Whitmarsh) was “poison.” She stated that he
said this several times over several different occasions. O’Kecfe also told Ms. Morris that he
liked Mrs., Whitmarsh because she was “submissive.” Ms. Morris refated how O’Keefe
would tell her about his training in the military and how he would demonstrate on her how
he could kill someone easily using a knife. Ms. Morris aiso indicated that in a conversation
with O’Keefe subsequent to the murder, he stated to her that “all he remembered” was him
being asleep on the couch and being woken up by something sharp poking him in the side
and Mrs. Whitmarsh standing over him, “and the next thing he knew, she was bleeding” (or
something to that effect).

The Defendant has an extensive history of violence against this victim. On January 7,
2003, the Defendant was arrested for slapping the victim, causing her to have a bloody nose.
This injury was observed by police officers. The Defendant ultimately pled guilty to
Resisting a Police Officer in the Las Vegas Justice Court in case 03M00410X. On
November 14, 2003, the Defendant got into an argument with Mrs. Whitmarsh which
became physical when he grabbed her by the arm, pushed her down, struck her in the head
with his fist, and then strangled her with one hand. He then got a pillow and attempted to

smother her with it, but was interrupted by the next-door neighbor responding to Mrs.
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Whitmarsh’s screams and knocking on the door. The neighbor came in and took Mus.
Whitmarsh to her apartment, whereupon the Defendant broke into and entered the neighbor’s
apartment through her front window. Police officers in the vicinity heard the commotion
and took the Defendant into custody. The Defendant ultimately pled guilty to Battery
Constituting Domestic Violence in the Las Vegas Justice Court in case 03M25901X.

On November 26, 2003, police responded to Mrs., Whitmarsh’s home in order to do a
“welfare check” whereupon they came in contact with both her and the Defendant. The
police observed that Mrs. Whitmarsh “had been severely beaten.” Although initially
uncooperative, Mrs. Whitmarsh ultimately stated to police that the Defendant had beaten her.
The Defendant was charged with Battery Constituting Domestic Violence in the Las Vegas
Justice Court in case 03M26791X, but the charges were ultimately dismissed as part of a
package negotiation. On April 2, 2004, Mrs. Whitmarsh called the police because the
Defendant had accused her of being unfaithful and slapped her repeatedly, breaking her
glasses. On April 3, 2004, the Defendant again accused Mrs. Whitmarsh of being unfaithful
and slapped her. She ran to the apartment manager’s office and the Defendant chased her
there. The manager called the police, and the Defendant was taken into custody. The
Defendant ultimately pled guilty to Battery Constituting Domestic Violence in the Las Vegas
Municipal Court in case C581783A.

On May 29, 2004, the Defendant again accused Mrs. Whitmarsh of being unfaithful
to him. He then battered Mrs. Whitmarsh and apparently forced her to have sex with him,
After the Defendant “passed out,” Mrs. Whitmarsh contacted a security guard at their
residence, and he in turn contacted the police. This incident ultimately led to charges of
Battery with Intent to Commit Sexual Assault, Sexual Assault, Attempt Sexual Assault, and
Burglary being filed against the Defendant in case C202793. The case was tried before a
jury before the Honorable Sally Loehrer on October 25, 2004, with Mrs. Whitmarsh
testifying against the Defendant. The Defendant was convicted of Batiery (a misdemeanor)
and Burglary and sentenced to credit for time served for Battery and 24 to 120 months for

Burglary—suspended for an indeterminate term of probation not to exceed five (5) years.
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The April 2, 2004 incident ultimately led to a charge of felony battery domestic violence
(based on two prior convictions) being filed against the Defendant in case C207835., The
case was tried before a jury before the Honorable Valorie Vega on September 19, 2005, with
Mrs. Whitmarsh testifying against the Defendant. The Defendant was convicted and
sentenced to 24 to 60 months in prison. He was released in April 2008.

The State now respectfully requests that evidence with regards to the Defendant’s
conviction in C207835 be admitted in its case-in-chief.

STATEMENT OF THE LAW

NRS 48.045(2) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to
prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in
conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other
purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent,
preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or
accident.

See NRS 48.045(2); see also Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176 (1997). The State will
seek to introduce, in its case-in-chief, evidence that the Defendant was arrested and
ultimately convicted (due to Mrs. Whitmarsh’s testimony) of felony Battery Constituting
Domestic Violence in case C207835. The State will also introduce evidence indicating that
the Defendant served close to three (3) years in prison as a result of said conviction. The
State seeks this evidence to show the Defendant’s motive and intent, In the instant case, the
Defendant is charged with Open Murder. This charge leaves to the jury the task of
determining if the Defendant is guilty of First Degree Murder, Second Degree Murder,
Voluntary Manslaughter, or Involuntary Manslaughter. Consequently, the Defendant’s intent
and motive is highly relevant. The State submits that evidence regarding case C207835 is
admissible pursuant to NRS 48.045 for the limiled purpose of establishing a motive with
regards to first degree murder and/or establishing the Defendant’s intent with regards to any
lesser degree of homicide. It is anticipated that these will be the key issues in the trial on this

matter,

/
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In order to admit “prior bad act” evidence, the State must establish that (1) the prior
act is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence;
and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of
unfair prejudice. Tingh, 113 Nev. at 1176, The admissibility of prior bad acts is within the
sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal unless found to be
manifestly wrong. 1d. The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the State may offer
evidence in its case-in-chief in anticipation of an expected aspect of the defense. See, e.g.,

Qverton v, State, 78 Nev. 198, 205-6, 370 P.2d 677, 681 (1962). In the instant case, due to

the underlying facts as well as pleadings already filed by the Defendant, it is anticipated that
the defense will assert that the Defendant lacked the requisite intent and/or malice for murder
due to his voluntary intoxication. Consequently, for the crime that the Defendant is charged
with here—Open Murder—an essential element will be the subjective intent of the
Defendant.

A. Motive.

At the preliminary hearing, Cheryl Morris (hereinafter “Morris™) testified that the
Defendant told her that he “hated” Mrs. Whitmarsh because she previously testified against
him, “put him in jail,” and “took three years of his life.” (December 17, 2008 Preliminary
Hearing Transcript, at 69-70 [heremafter “PHT”]). Morris went on to say that because of
this, the Defendant stated that he “wanted to kill the bitch.” Id. at 70. Morris testified that
the Defendant said this on more than one occasion. Id. The fact that the Defendant was in
fact convicted of felony Battery Constituting Domestic Violence in case C207835, and
ultimately sent to prison for almost three (3) years due to Mrs. Whitmarsh’s testimony, is
cortoborative evidence with regards to Morris’™ testimony at the preliminary hearing (as well
as the statement she gave to the police during the initial investigation). Specifically, it is
evidence that clearly establishes a motive (pursuant to the Defendant’s own statements), and
is therefore germane to the State’s efforts m securing a first-degree murder conviction. The
Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly upheld the provision of NRS 48.045 that allows the

State to introduce evidence of other bad acts in order to establish a motive. See. e.p., Wesley
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v. State, 112 Nev. 503, 916 P.2d 793 (1996); Lay v. State, 110 Nev. 1189, 886 P.2d 448
(1994); Felder v. State, 107 Nev. 237, 810 P.2d 755 (1991); Cavanaugh v. State, 102 Nev.
478,729 P.2d 481 (1986).

B. Intent,

Long ago, the Nevada Supreme Court held that in the trial of an accused, evidence of

other crimes is competent when it tends to establish intent. See. e.g.. Wyatt v. State, 367

P.2d 104, 77 Nev. 490 (1961). Sister states have reached a similar conclusion. For example,

in State v. Brewer, 507 P.2d 1009 (Ariz. App. 1973), the defendant was tried and convicted

of felony theft of a motor vehicle. At the trial in the matter, the prosecutor introduced
evidence that the defendant had possessed a different stolen vehicle the same day he was
arrested for the theft of the vehicle he had been charged with. The Arizona Court of Appeals
found no error. The court held that the evidence of possession was relevant to the
“defendant’s criminal intent or knowledge of his wrongdoing and [was] competent [because
it tended] to establish an absence of mistake or accident.” 1d. at 1010. Similarly, in Dution

v. State, 94 Nev. 461 (1978), disapproved on other grounds by Gray v, Siaie, 100 Nev. 556,

688 P.2d 313 (1984), police conducted an undercover fencing operation called “Operation
Switch.” On the day of the incident, the defendant walked into a store with a co-conspirator.
Both the defendant and the co-conspirator negotiated the sale to an undercover police officer
of a stolen camera and stolen bronzeware. The defendant, however, was charged only with
the possession of the stolen camera.

At trial, the State introduced evidence that the bronzeware the defendant possessed
was stolen the same day as the camera. The district court allowed the evidence, and the
Nevada Supreme Court upheld this ruling, reasoning that the evidence was admissible under
the complete story of the crime doctrine as well as to counter the defendant’s claim that he
did not have knowledge that the camera was stolen. Dutton, 94 Nev. at 464. In Findiey v.
State, 94 Nev. 212, 577 P.2d 867 (1978), overruled on other grounds by Braunstein v. State,

118 Nev. 68,40 P.3d 413 (2002), the defendant was charged with lewdness with a minor. At

trial, the State presented two witnesses (other than the charged victim) who testified that the
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defendant molested them similarly some nine years earlier. (Implicit in the Court’s ruling to
allow admission of such evidence was the finding that nine years was not overly remote in
time.) The Court affirmed the admission of the evidence to prove intent and absence of
mislake or accident. Perhaps most importantly, the Court noted that intent is placed in issue
when the defendant pleads not guilty, holding in Overton, supra: “[a] plea of not guilty puts
in issue every material allegation of the information.” Qverton, 78 Nev. at 205, 370 P.2d at
680. Tn the instant case, the Defendant has necessarily put every material allegation of the
Information in issue.

Federal courts, applying the Federal Rule of Evidence 404(3)(b)~which is identical
to NRS 48.045—also allow such evidence when it is used to establish intent. In United

States v. Thomas, 835 F.2d 219 (9‘1‘ Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 108 S.Ct. 1741, 486 U.S. 1010

(1988), the Court held that evidence that the defendant had previously written bad checks
was admissible to show intent in the prosecution for transporting a security known to have
been taken by fraud. In the charged offense, the defendant had written a check on an
account that had been closed for six months and subsequently obtained a cashier’s check on
the strength of that deposit. The prior bad checks were written approximately one year
before transaction for which the defendant was on trial. The court concluded that
defendant’s intent in depositing the bad check was very much in issue, and consequently the
admission of the evidence was appropriate.

In United States v. Kirk, 528 F.2d 1057 (5th Cir. 1976), the defendant was charged

with threatening the life of the President of the United States of America. At trial, the
prosecution presented evidence showing that three years earlier the defendant had committed
the same offense. The court ruled this evidence to be properly admissible to show the
defendant’s intent, holding:
Whether the prior conviction tended to show that defendant made this threat
intentionally or as the result of “alcohol taking,” was a matter for the jury’s

determination. The fact that the former offense occurred three years prior to the
offense charged does not make it so remote as to be excluded.
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Id. at 1061.
In United States v. Beechum, 582 F.2d 898 (5th Cir, 1978), a jury convicted the defendant, a

substitute letter carrier for the United States Postal Service, of unlawfully possessing a 1890
silver dollar that he knew to be stolen from the mails, in violation of 18 U.S.C, Section 1708
(1976). To establish that the defendant intentionally and unlawfully possessed the silver
dollar, the Government introduced into evidence of two Sears, Roebuck & Co. credit cards
found in the defendant’s wallet when he was arrested. Neither card was issued to the
defendant, and neither was signed. The Government also introduced evidence indicating that
the cards had been mailed some ten months prior to the defendant’s arrest to two different

addresses on routes he had serviced. The Court ultimately held:

Where the issue addressed is defendant’s intent to commit the offense charged,
the relevancy of the extrinsic offense derives from the defendant's indulgin
himself in the same state of mind in the perpetration of both the extrinsic an
charged offenses. The reasoning is that because the defendant had unlawful
intent in the extrinsic offense, it 1s less likely that he had lawful intent in the
present offense.

1d. at911.
In Unifed States v. Deloach, 654 F.2d 763 (D.C. Cir. 1980), the defendant was

convicted for submitting false applications for labor certification of an undocumented
immigrant. The Court allowed admission of testimony of three government witnesses, all
undocumented immigrants, that the defendant was a “swindler” who took their money for a
false promise to find them jobs and labor certifications and that the conduct occurred over a
period encompassing a year and a half prior to the offense charged. The Court held that the
testimony was properly admissible. The prosecution argued that the evidence of the other
“swindles” related to the ultimate issue of intent and the intermediate issues of knowledge,
motive, common plan and absence of mistake and accident. The defendant argued that the
prior bad acts were so dissimilar that the only logical inference to be drawn from the
adnussion of them was that he was a bad person who swindles undocumented immigrants,

and therefore, he was likely to try to deceive the government. The Court held:
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These prior acts were instead introduced to show intent. In this case, where
intent was the only real issue, and where appellant predictably raised the
defense of mistake, the admissible bad acts evu%jence need not show incidents
identical to the events charged, so long as they are closely related to the
offense and tend to rebut the defense of mistake.

1d. at 769.

The Court cited three additional factors, which reinforced the admissibility of the extrinsic
evidence. The prior acts were introduced to show intent, which was the only real issue. The
government had great need for evidence on the issue of intent; and the trial court pave a
limiting instruction which properly restricted the jury’s use of the evidence.

The admission of the other acts in this case is entirely appropriate since the necessary
element of the instant crime sought to be proved (the intent and motive to commit a violent
act against Mrs, Whitmarsh notwithstanding the Defendant’s anticipated claim of voluntary
intoxication and the inability to form the requisite intent) cannot be substantially established

by other evidence. See. e.g., Jones v. State, 85 Nev. 4, 448 P.2d 702 (1969); Tucker v. State,

82 Nev. 127, 412 P.2d 970 (1966). The intent to commit a violent act upon Mrs. Whitmarsh
will be a crucial element that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt. As such, the
evidence here is probative in helping the State meet that substantial burden of proof.

D. Balancing Test.

After a court finds that evidence of other crimes fits within NRS 48.045(2), it must
then review the evidence in regard to NRS 48.035.' This statute requires a weighing of

probative value against prejudicial effect. As stated above, it is anticipated that the defense

will argue that the proffered evidence is more prejudicial than probative. In United States v.

Parker, 549 F.2d 1217 (9111 Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 430 U.S. 971, 97 S.Ct. 1659 (1977), the

' NRS 48.035 provides in pertinent part:

1. Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of
misleading the jury.

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially
outweighed by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation
of cumulative cvidence.

88}
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defendants were convicted of armed bank robbery and one defendant was also convicted of
bank larceny. During the course of the trial, evidence was brought in that the defendant had
been addicted to heroin for approximately ten years and had been involved in drug
counseling during most of that period. The court held that the evidence of defendant’s
narcotics dealing was admissible to show his motive to commit a robbery. The defendant
argued that the prejudicial effect of the extrinsic offense substantially outweighed its
probative value. The court stated that “evidence relevant to defendant’s motive is not
rendered inadmissible because of its highly prejudicial nature . . . . The best evidence often
is!” Parker, 549 F.2d at 1222.

In Tucker v. State, 82 Nev. 127, 412 P.2d 970, (1966), the Nevada Supreme Court

elucidated the standard for balancing the probative value versus the prejudicial effect of bad
act evidence:
The reception of such evidence is justified by necessity and, if other evidence
has substantially established the element of the crime involved (motive, intent,
identity, absence of mistake, etc.), the probative value of showing another

offense is diminished, and the trial court should rule it inadmissible even
though relevant and within an exception to the rule of exclusion.

Id. at 130, 412 P.2d at 971-972.

In the instant case, the only way to show the motive is to actually admit evidence of it. The
probative value of admitting evidence with regards to the Defendant’s conviction in
C207835 is therefore by no means substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair
prejudice. The State prays that this Court will recognize the necessity and the admissibility
of the evidence it now seeks to admit to prove the Defendant’s motive and intent in the
instant case. The State intends to illustrate by clear and convincing evidence that the
Defendant indeed committed the acts which are sought to be admitted, pursuant to Petrocelli
v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985). The State intends to do so in an evidentiary
hearing prior to trial.

1

1

i
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CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the State requests the Court grant the State’s Motion to

Admit Evidence of Other Crimes,

DATED this

day of February, 2009,

DAVID ROGER
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781

BY /s/ PHILLIP N. SMITH, JR.

PHILLIP N. SMITH, JR.
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #010233
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CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION

| hereby certify that service of the State’s Notice and Motion to Admit Other Bad Acts, was

made this day of Fcbruary, 2009, by facsimile transmission to:

PATRICIA PALM, ESQ.
FAX # 455-6265

/s Terry Schessler

Secretary for the District Attorney's Office

ts/dvu
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Plaintiff,
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BRYAN OKEEFE,

Defendant.
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Taken on December 17, 2008
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For the State: PHILIP SMITH, ESQC.
Deputy District Attorney

For the Defendant: RANDALL PIKE, ESQ.

PATRICIA PALM, ESQC.
Special Public Defender
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1 A. No

2 MR. FIKE; Thank you very much.

3 MR, SMITH: Nothing further.

4 THE COURT: Thank you for your time.
5 You're excused.

6

7 MR, SMITH: State next calls Cheryl
8 Morris.

9

10 (Whereupon, the witness was duly sworn.)
11
12 THE CLERK: ©State your name, for the

13 record, and spell it.

14 THE WITNESS: Cheryl Morris, C-h-e-r-y-1,
15 tast name M-o-r-r-i-s.

16

17 DIRECT EXAMINATION

i8

19 MR. SMITH:
20 Q. Miss Morris, do you know a perscon by the namel
21 of Bryan Okeefe?

22 B, Yes, I do.

23 MR. PIKE: Stipulate to the identity of
24 Bryan QOkeefe.

25 MR. SMITH: Thank you.
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1 Q. Were you ever in a dating relationship with
2 Mr. Qkeefe?
3 A. Yes, I was.
4 Q. When did that begin?
5 A. January 7.
6 Q. 0f this year?
7 A. Qf this year, yes.
8 Q. When did it end?
g A, September 6.
10 Q. Qf this year?
11 A. Yes.
12 Q. While you were in a relationship with Mr.
13 Okeefe, did you ever come or become aware of a person
14 named Victoria Whitmarsh?
15 A. Yes.
16 Q. How did that occur?
17 A. He used to talk about her all the time.
18 Q. He being Bryan Okeefe?
19 A, Bryan used toe talk about her all the time.
20 Q. When the relationship started in January of
21 2008, where were you living?
22 A, I was living at a friend's hcuse just off of
23 Sara Jane Léane.
24 Q. Where was Mr. Okeefe living?
25 A. Mr. Okeefe was living in a trailer just off

MERCER & ASGOCIATES
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1 of Hinson Street.

2 Q. At some point subsegquent to that did you guys
3 share a residence together?

4 A. Off and on I would stay the night, vyes.

5 Q. How soon after the relationship began did vou

6 | guys reside together?

7 A, Probably, I wasn't really residing there
8 because I never kept anything there, I Jjust pretty
9 much stayed the night and I'd go off and do my own

10 thing during the day.

11 Q. At any point did you and him kind of move
12 into your own place?

13 A. We did. That was, I believe, in August.
14 Q. August of 20087

15 A. I believe so. August 2008, vyes.

16 Q. And what was the location of this place?
17 A, 5001 E1 Pargue Avenue.

18 0. 5001 El1 Pargue?

19 A, Yes.

20 Q. Apartment 357

21 A, Apartment 35, yes.

22 0. When you and Mr. Okeefe moved into that
23 apartment, was there anyone else living there at the
24 time?

25 A. No.
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1 Q. At some point subsequent to you moving in
2 there, did Mr. Okeefe express a interest in having
3 someone else move in with you guys?
4 A, No, actually I got a phone call.
5 Q. From who?
6 A, From Mr. OQkeefe.
7 Q. And what was the substance of that phone
8 call? Specifically in regards to your living
9 arrangements?
10 A. He just called, said he wanted to come home
11 and he was going to bring Victoria.
12 Q. Victoria Whitmarsh?
13 A Yes,
14 Q. Were you amenable to that relationship?
15 A. No.
16 Q. Because of that, what did you do?
17 A. I moved out that night.
18 Q. And approximately when was this?
19 A. I think it was a Saturday or Sunday of that
20 weekend, the weekend of the 6th of September.
21 Q. Now, after September 6, 2008, did you ever
22 reside with Mr. Okeefe again?
23 A. No.
24 Q. Do you know whether or not Miss Whitmarsh
25 moved in te the 5001 E1 Parque, Number 357

MERCER & ASSOCIATES
{702) 3B8B-2973

002402




ﬁs GB‘ 67

1 A, Yes.

2 Q. How did you become aware of that?

3 A, I still had the key to the apartment and I

4 had kept contact with the owner and teld him I was not
5 going to return the key until a brand new lease was

6 made up and my name taken off of the lease.

7 Q. Do you know how long Mr. Okeefe knew Mrs.

B Whitmarsh?

9 a. Since 2001,
10 Q. How did you become aware of that?
11 A, Mr. Ckeefe told me.
12 Q. Do you recall at any point coming into
13 contact with police detectives doing an investigation

14 in to the death of Miss Whitmarsh?

15 A, Only contact I actually had is when I was
16 called in to make a statement,

17 0. And did you give a statement to a Detective
18 Bunn and/or Detective Wildermann?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. That statement take place at the homicide
21 section of the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police

22 Department?

23 A, Yes, on Qakey.
24 Q. Would that have been November 20, 2008 7
25 A. Yes.
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1 Q. Now, do you recall the police officers asking
2 you guestions about statements the defendant made in

3 regards to how he could kill somebody?

4 A, Yes,

5 Q. Did the defendant ever make any statements

6 like that to you-?

7 A. Yes.
g MR. PIRE: Objection, Your Honor, hearsay.
9 MR. SMITH: I would submit it's not
10 hearsay if it's the defendant's own statement, I'm
11 proffering it to establish motive.
12 THE COURT: Overruled,.

13 MR. SMITH:
14 Q. What did Mr. QOkeefe say about his ability Lo

15 kill somebody?

16 A, He actually said that he could do that

17 because that was part of what he had to do in Grenada
18 in special ops.

19 Q. Let me ask you specifically, did he ever make

20 any statements about his ability to kill somebody witq

21 a knife?
22 A. Just the fact that that's how he would have
23 to survive.
24 Q. Did he ever demonstrate to you how he could

25 kill somebody with a knife?

MERCER & ASSOCIATES
{702) 388-2973

002404



1 Al Yes.
2 Q. Explain that, please?
3 A, He would stand in front of me and he would
4 show me, he would hold me onto one shoulder and say he
5 could take the knife and shove it right into my mid
6 section and just sort of pull up. And that's how you
7 would kill someone.
8 Q. Into your rib cage area?
5 A, Yes.
10 Q. Did Mr. Okeefe ever make any statements to
11 you regarding what he would do to you if he found out
12 that you were cheating on him?
13 A. On occasions he would say he would kill me if
14 he found out I was cheating.
15 Q. Finally, do you ever recall having a
16 conversation with Mr. Okeefe where he expressed
17 displeasure with Victoria Whitmarsh because of
18 semething she may have done to him?
15 A. Yes.
20 Q. Can you explain that?
22 MR. PIKE: Reguest ongoing objection,.
22 THE COURT: Objection noted and overruled.
23 You can answer that.
214 THE WITNESS: He would stay up nights and
25 we would talk, reminisce. When it got to the point he
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couldn't take too much he would actually just say he

would -- he would actually ~-- he hated Victoria.
Q. Did he say why he hated Victoria?
A, In his own words he said because Victoria put

him in jail, took three years of his life, that he
wanted to kill the bitch.

Q. Just so the record’'s clear -- incidently, can
you give me a time frame of when these conversations
would have taken place?

A. They took place throughout the time I was
with him.

Q. Did he make these statements on more than onhe
occasion?

A, Yes.

Q. And for the record, it was he was upset with

her for sending him to prison?

A. Yes,
Q. And he wanted to kill her because of that?
A, Yes.

MR. SMITH: Pass the witness,

CROS5 EXAMINATION

MR. PIKE:

Q. Miss Morris, good morning.

MERCER & ASSOCIATES
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1 In relationship to the time frame that you

2 and Mr. QOkeefe were involved with each other, you had
3 actually lived together -- you spent some evenings,

4 you said, spent some nights together. And based upon
5 answering the guestions from the State, I take it that
6 the apartment that you were in had a joint lease or

7 was with Mr. Okeefe or was it in your name?

8 . It was supposed to be in our name, both of

9 our names,
10 Q. In relationship teo that the two of you also

11 bought a vehicle together?

12 A. Correct.
13 Q. In fact, Mr. Okeefe had used your credit to
14 buy a car, so you were still obligated under the note

15 on that car at the time this happened?

16 A, Correct.
17 Q. You kept a key to the apartment complex or
18 the apartment that you and he shared. Did you ever go

19 back into that apartment prior to the death of

20 Victoria?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. What did you go back there for?

23 A, To go pick up the rest of my things, what was
24 left there. I couldn't pick up the two large boxes

25 that were left there, so he actually took them and
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dropped them off at a friend's house.

Q. Whether you say he?
A. I'm sorry, Bryan.
Q. During the course of that time, did you ever

have an oppeortunity to meet Victoria Whitmarsh?

A. Victoria requested that I meet with her. I
thought about it and I declined.

Q. When she requested that she meet with you,
did you talk with her on the phone?

A, Yes, several times.

Q. What was the general content of that
conversation?

A. The general content of that conversation was
why she was still seeing Bryan, why I was still seeing
Bryan. Also, the fact that if I made him upset, if I
got him mad, that he would and could hurt me. Because
she said he had done that to her.

Q. During the time that you were with Mr.
Okeefe, he didn't hurt you physically, did he?

MR. SMITH: Objection, relevance.

THE COURT: The relevance?

MR, PIKE: 1In response to the observations
of whether he was intoxicated. Let me rephrase the
guestion.

. During the time that you resided with Mr.
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Okeefe, you had an opportunity to see him both when he

was sober and both when he was intoxicated, is that

correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And up to the time c¢lose to the time when vyou

left, was he drinking more or less than he usually

did?

A, I would say that he was drinking a little bit
more.

Q. What was he drinking usually?

A, Beer. But on occasions he would drink vodka

and pretend as though I weculdn't know,

Q. When he was drinking or when you saw him
drink alcoholic beverages, did his general attitude
change?

A, When he was drinking beer he was okay, he
never really got violent. When it was hard liguor,
that was a different story. With vodka I had
experienced that situation with him.

Q. When you say you experienced that, you saw

that his demeanor changed?

A Yes.

Q. Did he become more or less violent?

A, More wviolent,

Q. During the time that you were residing with

MERCER & ASSCOCIATES
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1 him or, excuse me, when you made the decision to move
2 out and when you talked with Victoria, did she

3 indicate to you in the conversation that she had with
4 you that she was frightened of Mr. Ckeefe in any way?
5 A, No.

6 Q. And approximately how long prior to the time
7 that you became aware that she had passed away did

8 this conversation occur?

9 A, There were several conversations with her

10 throughout, from June through, I think it was August.

11 Q. Were all of these over the telephone?

12 A. Tes,

13 Q. Did any of these relate to the ongoing

14 relationship between her and Mr. QOkeefe or you and Mr.

15 Okeefe?

16 A, I den't understand.
17 0. It was a poor question, I'm sorry,
18 What basically were the conversations

19 about?

20 R. There was a time when he had spent the whole
21 week with her and he had actually come back to me

22 saying he no longer wanted to be with her, that he

23 wanted to be with me, she was poison, I was the good
24 person, or the good girl, is what he would say. And

25 that he did not want to have anything to do with her.

MERCER & ASSOCIATES
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1 But there were occasions in between June through the

2 time that we had broke up that he had actually gone to

3 see her and he wouldn't come home for a couple of
4 days.
5 Q. During that time, your conversation with Mrs.

6 Whitmarsh, did she indicate to you that she would

7 often initiate going back with Mr. Okeefe?

g MR. SMITH: Objection to relevance, Judge.
9 Either that or it's hearsay, under no exception.

10 MR. PIKE: Certainly it is hearsay. The

11 exception is the State has brought forth hearsay

12 evidence to indicate their belief or their theory as
13 to premeditation, deliberation or mental intent at the
14 time that this occurred. If there was any sort of

15 planning or question about planning, then this is in
16 direct response to that. It's reliable, there is a

17 general exception to the hearsay rule when the

1B evidence is inherently reliable., And it may involve

19 the mental state of Mrs. Whitmarsh at the time they

20 were getting back together.

21 MR. SMITH: My reply would be her mental
22 state, whether or not she was going to get back with
23 him has nothing to do with the admissions that I've
24 elicited on direct testimony regarding premeditation
25 or deliberation or planning.

MERCER & ASSOCIATES
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1 THE CQURT: The cobjection is overruled,.
2 Ask the guestion again. You can answer

3 MR. PIKE:

41 Q. During the conversation did she ever talk

5 with you about her initiating, reconnecting with Mr.
8 Okeefe?

7 A, One of the lengthier conversations she said

B she did not want to have anything to do with him, that

9 she could not take care of him, that he was a grown
10 man and he could take care of himself. I asked why
11 she wanted to be with him and if whether or not she
12 loved him or not. And her reply to me, and I never

13 told Mr. Okeefe this, but her reply to me was "I just
14 keep him around because somebody has to love

15 somebody."

16 MR. SMITH: I'm just going to continue my
17 objection, for the record

18 MR. PIKE:

19 Q. Since the arrest of Mr, QOkeefe, have you had

20 any contact with Mr. Okeefe?

21 a. Yes, I did.

22 Q. And what was that?

23 A, That was, I believe, two weeks ago I went to

24 visit him because a friend of mine had called and had

25 informed me that Bryan had sent a letter to his sister
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1 stating that the district attorney had given him some

2 information and said things that I did not say. And I

3 went to Bryan and I asked him about it, and that was
4 pretty much the conversation.
5 Q. Since this has occurred, were you able to go

& back in to the apartment after the police had cleared

7 it to get the rest of your perscnal items out of the

8 apartment?

9 A. The items that I took -- yes, I did. I was
10 able to go back there. I do not remember when. But
11 I was able to go ahead and retrieve the key for the
12 car. The other key 1s missing, we don't know where
13 that's at, and some paperwork for the car and the car

14 itself.

15 Q. It doesn't indicate, according to the

16 records, that it was impounded?

17 A. No. I just had te take it back. T had to
18 turn it in because the car payments were behind.

19 0. During the course of this have vou had a

20 opportunity to talk with any of the other neighbors
21 that were there at that time?

22 A. Just what we saw outside when we all gathered|
23 out there,.

24 Q. At that point in time you shared what you

25 knew about the case and they shared what they knew
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1 about the case?

2 A, They spoke about their feelings and why they
3 were here.

4 Q. Without saying what they said, you guys just

5 kind of talked about what you knew, what you felt

& about the case?
7 A. Yes.
8 Q. During the course of your conversations with

9 Mrs. Whitmarsh, did she talk to you about the two of

10 them drinking together?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. What did she say about that ?

13 MR. SMITH: Again, judge, I'd renew my

14 objection, hearsay, and I'd alsc add relevance.

15 THE CQURT: Relevance?

1o MR. PIKE: Relevance would have to be with
17 whether or not mutual drinking, if both of them were

18 drinking together, if that precipitated any sort of

19 violence or if she felt threatened by his drinking?
20 MR. SMITH: It's not really tailored to
21 the night in gquestion, it's more propensity than

22 anything, which is specifically precluded by statute.
23 It's no different than us asking is a person a
21 habitual drug user.

25 MR, PIKE: 1I'll withdraw the guestion.
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1 Q. During the time -- during your observations
2 when Mr. Okeefe was drinking, he became a little bit
3 louder, a little bit -- I guess meaner, would that be
4 a good term? Or how would you describe 1it?
5 A. That would only be when he was drinking hard
6 liguor. When he was drinking beer, he was pretty
7 mellow person.
8 Q. And you never -- during the time he was
9 intoxicated, although he may have said he was angry
10 about things, he was never physically violent with
11 you?
12 A. He hit me z couple times, once in the arm,
13 and pinned me up against a wall,
14 MR. PIKE: I have no further guestions.
15 MR, SMITH: Briefly.
16
17 REDIRECT EXAMINATION
18
19 MR. SMITH:
20 Q. Ma'am, you said something on
21 cross—examination, I just want to make sure it's
22 clear. Do you recall telling Mr. Pike that Miss
23 Whitmarsh had said something to you about I better be
24 careful because when he gets mad he hurt me?
25 A, Correct.
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Q.

careful or else Mr. Okeefe would hurt her or

A.

careful because if I got Mr. Okeefe upset, that Mr.

Qkeefe would hurt me.

Q.

be careful or Mr. QOkeefe would hurt her?

A.

Q.

that in Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada?

A,

MR. PIKE:

Q.

and you said in the rib cage, would that be in the

sternum,

A.

>

Q0

She stated to you that she had better be

No, she stated that I would need to be

So she did not say to you that she had better

No.

And one final guestien. 5001 El Pargue, is

Yes, 1t is.

MR, SMITH: No further questions.

RECRCSS EXAMINATION

When you were demonstrating the physical act

or front part of your chest?

Right here,

For the record, you're pcinting directly?
Off te one slide, closer to tﬁe heart.

But in the front?

Correct.

MR. PIKE: Thank yocu. That's all.
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1  he mude some statements, 1 Monlonya.
2 1 submit that that clearly satisfies the statute. 2 JUROR NO, 2: Here.
3 And Judge, it's the Steie's position thot the reason for the 3 THE CLERX: James Eml.
4 excited uterance exception is that it is presumed thal a q JUROR NO. 3: Here.
5 person will make truthful sinternents while under the stress of 5 THE CLERK: Judy Chelini.
& an event becouse presumably they have no molive to fabricate or § 6 JUROR NO. 4: Here.
7 1o lie. So the only thing thut the State has to show is that o 7 THE CLERK: Nancy Miralock.
8 sioriling event happencd, and that the person was still under 8 JUROR NO. 5 Here.
§ the stress of thu startling event while they made those 9 THE CLERK: Kirk Livernash,
10 stalements, and Lher's exactly what we have here. 10 JUROR NQ. 6: Here.
11 THE COURT: All right. T don't think he needs to see 11 THE CLERK: Dawn Fraley.
12 the nctual sinbbittg when he's - like counsel had mentioned, 12 JURORNO. 7: Here,
13 this lndy that perhaps didn't know if she was dead, blood all 13 THE CLERK: Araceli Murieta.
14 over the place. 1think he said the sheets or rags were soaked 14 JUROR NO. B: Here.
15 inblood. 15 THE CLERK: fames McCaldin,
16 MR. SMITH: Yes, sir. 16 JUROR NO. 9: Here.
17 THE COURT: The defendant he testified was shukenta 1 17 THE CLERK: Marie Pinillos.
18 wuke up or sumething like thot, So that's why [ overruled the 18 JUROR NO, 10 Here.
19 ehjection, Anything else? 19 THE CLERK: Josc Vasquez
20 MS. GRANAM: Nape. 20 JUROR NO. 11; Here.
21 THE COURT: Call the jury in. 21 THE CLERK: Robert Clark,
22 THE MARSHAL; Officers and members af the coun, 22 JUROR NO. 13: Here.
23 Department 17 jurors. 23 THE CLERK: And Manin Villascnor,
24 (In the presence of the jury) 24 JUROR NO. H4; Here.
25 THE CLERK: Rell call. Justin Dettre, Jody 25 THE MARSHAL: Let's make sure all cell phones are
Page 6 Page 7
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1 wmed off, please. All phones are off, 1 THE CLEREK: Please be seated, Siaic your nume and
2 THE COURT: Ladies ond gentlemen, just so you know, 2 spell it for the record.
3 luror No. 12 was involved in an extreme cmergency siluation, 3 THE WITNESS: Cheryl Moris, C-h-g-r-y-1. Morris,
4 ond so he is no longer part of the jury panel, and that's why 4 M-0-T-r-i-s.
S it's important Lot we have nliernates, As 1 said before, the 5 THE COURT: Go ahend, Countsel,
6 altcrnates have been randomly sclecled, so it's not necessarily 6 MR, SMITI: Thank you, Judge.
7 sems 13 or 14. So Pm sure everyone will pay aitention 7 DIRECT EXAMINATION
B throughout the rial. State, plense call your next witness. 8 BY MR SMITH:
9 MR. SMITH; Thork you, Judge, Judge, the Stae calls 9 Q Good morning, Ms. Mosris.
10 Cheryl Morris to the siand, 10 A Good moming.
11 TEE COURT: Also, 1 dun't believe cither purty's 11 Q Ms. Moris. do you know a person by the name of Brian
12 invoked the exelusionnry rule. Decs eilher party wish lo 12 O'Keefe?
13 invoke thu? 13 A Yes, ! do.
14 MS. GRAHAM: We do, your Honor, 14 Q Do you see Mr. O'Keefe present in court today?
15 THE COURT: AH right. 1fthere arc any witnesses 15 A Yes 1do.
16 that pre going 1o be called in this ease, they're instructed 1o 16 ' Q Can you point to him for us and identify what he's
17 remain outside uniit called in by the morshal. 17 wearing.
18 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Your Honor, the head phones | 18 A He's the gentleman sitting there with his counsel,
15 aren't working. 19 aond he's wearing o dark suit.
20 THE COURT: We'll have the marshil check -- or 20 Q  Whet color tie?
21 Michelle, do you have time 10 -- 21 A Brown/black tie, dark tie.
22 THE MARSHAL: Ms. Marris, if you'll remoin standing, 22 MR. SMITH: Judge, can the record reflect the witness
23 plense. Raise your right hand. Foce the elerk. 23 has identificd the defendant?
24 CHERYL MORRIS, PLAINTIFFS WITNESS, SWORN 24 THE COURT: Ycs it will,
25 THE WITNESS: Yes. 25 MR. SMITH: Thunk you, Judge.
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1 BY MR. SMITH:: 1 time?

2 Q And Ms. Morris, how do you know Mr. O'Keefe? 2 A Dreceived o phone calf rom Mr. O'Keele stoting that

3 A [was dating Mr. O'Reefe. 3 he wanted to come home, and he wanted 1o bring Victarin home

q Q When would that retationship stant? 4 with him,

5 A Jonuary 7th of 2008, 5 Q Victoria who?

6 3 When did that relationship end? 6 A Victoriz Witmarsh (phonetic),

7 A Septemher 6th of 2008, 7 Q Do you know who Victorin Witmessh is?

8 ) Okay, Now, when that relationship ended, where were | B A Yes

9 you residing? 9 Q And who is Vietorin Witmarsh?

10 A 1 was residing with a friend. 10 A A former girlfriend of his.

11 Q Okay. Throughout the course of the relationship thm ] 11 Q How do you know Victoria Witmarsh was 3 former
12 you had with Mr. O'Keefe, did you twao ever reside together? | 12 girlfriend of Mr. O'Keefe's?

13 A Briclly, which was last pant of Angust of this yeor 13 A Mr, O'Keefe let me know.

14 orexcuse me, of last year and September, actually, We movedj 14 Q Okay. Had you ever persamatly imct Victeria Witmarsh?
15 into en apartment, but | was only thers for four duys. 15 A No.

16 Q Okay. Where was that apanment located? 18 Q Now, when you moved inte the El Parque address in
17 A 5001 El Parque Avcnue, Apartment 35 — 17 August 2008, 1o your knowledge, was the defendant stifl in a
i Q lsthut-- ) 18 relationship with Ms. Witmarsh?
19 A - inLlas Vegus, 18 A “He had seen her on ccensions, yes. But he'd come
20 (  And was that in Clark County, MNevada? 20 hack and let me know that he was cetually more interested in me
21 A Yes 21 rather than being with her.
22 Q@ Mow, you just sai that you only lived there for four 22 Q Okay. Now, you've alreudy testified that you moved
23 days. 23 out of the El Parque address becouse the defcndant said that he
24 A Comect. 24 was going 1o bring Ms. Witmarsh 1o that address.
25 Q Why did you unly sty there for that short period of |25 A Comecl

Page 10 Page 11
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1 Q And were you not okay with that? 1 Q Okny. Now, let me nsk you fhis. You've already

2 A No. 2 testificd that you moved out of the spartment because Mr,

3 Q Okay. And why not? 3 ('Keefe wanled 1o bring home another woman as it were.

4 A Didn" think it was right. Several days prior 10 him 4 A Yes,

5 calling me, we had agreed that we weren't going to bring anyene 5 Q Did you have any il will towards Mrs. Wilmarsh?

& aver 1o the apartiment until T was uble to move out, Wi broke 6 A No, not ot all.

7 up two days before. 7 Q Did you have any ill will sowards Mr. O'Kecfe?

8 Q So we being you und Mr, O'Keeft? 8 A 1was — [ wos upscl at the way he had done ir.

9 A Yes. 9 Q Okny.
10 Q Okay. Su, is it correct to sny thal when you guys 10 A Atthe way - as of the way he epproached the
11 were living in the El Parque address, you puys beiag you and 11 situation because | actunily informed him that il he wanted 1o
12 Mr. O'Keele, that you weren't actually ina relationship at 12 be with her, it was okay. Jusl let me know, and I'd move out
13 thuttime? 13 of the way.
14 A No. 14 Q Okny. And did you, in fact, move out of the way?
15 Q Okuy. And what was the lense aprecment? 15 A Yes
16 A Fmsomy? 16 Q Okay. Now, you testified that your relationship
17 Q Whose name was on the lense? 17 lasted for severnl months.
18 A Bothefours. ) 18- A Corect.
19 Q Okay. Now, when you moved out of the apariment, did {19 Q Yousaid it started in Jonuary and itended when?
20 your name remain on the |ease? 20 A Itended Seplember,
21 A Yes, but | did not - | called the apartment owner, 21 Q Okay. Throughout the course of that relntionship did
22 and | requested that he take that lease and have Mr. O'Keefe 22 the defendant ever falk 1a you about his relationship with Mrs.
23 gl Ms, Witmarsh sign a brand new lease, 1 octually kept the 23 (FKeel - excuse me, Mrs. Witmarsh?
24 opariment keys and the only mailbux key 1o the apartment so 24 A Yes,
25 that it would be token care of, 25 Q Okay. And how olten would he speak to you sbaut her?

Page 12 Page 13
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1 A Almost all the time. He usually would be more or | 1 beceuse she put him in prison.
2 Jless on a daily basis. 1'd say about three, four weeks aday [ 2 ) Okay. What else would he say?
I - 3 A He'd soy things like he wanled to kill the bitch.
4 Q Okay. 4 Q So just so the record's clear, Mr, O'Keefe would moke
5 A - oratime. 5 statements to you saying he wanted to kill Mrs. Witmarsh
6 Q What types of things would he tet! you about the 6 becguse she put him in prison?
"7 relationship? 7 A Yes,
B MR PIKE: Objection, your Honor, Hearsay. 8 Q And when you say that because he put her in prisen,
9 THE COURT: Sustained. 9 did he indicate thot she had sctually testified aguinst him?
z0 MR, SMITH: Judge, it's a statement of n party 10 A Yes
11 opponent offered against that person. 11 Q Avajury trini?
12 THE COURT: Counsel approach. 12 A Y
i3 {Bench conference). 13 Q Okay. Did he make any Slatements a5 1o whal kind of
14 THE COURT: {'m going to overriile the objection. | 14 person Victorie Witmursh was?
15 MR. SMITH: Thank you, your Homor, 15 A He would state that Victoria was somewhat a very -
16 MR, PIKE: 1'd psk for that continuing objectionto | 16 she wasn't a strong person,
17 be placed. ' 17 Q Dkay,
18 THE COLRT: All right. 18 A She —~if you yelied at her, basically, she would
19 BY MR SMITH:: 19 cowcer. So she would be portruyed as a very meek person,
20 Q Ms. Morris, you can answer the queslion. 20 Q Sothe defendant described Mrs, Witmarsh to yos as a
21 A Could you repeat the question, please. 21 submissive woman?
22 Q The question was what types of things would the |22 A Correct.
23 defendant tell you with regards to his relationship with 23 Q Okay, Did he indicate that he liked her because of
24 VYictoria Witmarsh? 24 that?
25 A On occasions he'd actually say thet he was upset 25 A No, he didn't make any sort of indication,
Page 14 Page 15
ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT
1 @ Do yau recoll giving n siatement {o the police back 1 A Yes, he did
2 on November 20th, 20087 2 Q Now, Ms, Marris, agein, throughaut your time with Mr,
3 A Yes. 3 (FKeefc, did he ever muke any statements jo you indicaling his
4 Q Do you recall him recording that statement? 4 proficiency with weapans?
5 A Yes, Ido. 5 A Yes
G Q Ifl showed you n copy ol that stuterment, would it G Q Specifically what kind of & weapan?
7 refiesh'your recollection as 1o whether defendent ever made any | 7 A Aknife,
B  stalements to you regording whether he liked Vieloria because B Q Whnt types of things would he tell you?
9 she was a submissive woman? 9 A That he wes capable alkilling anyone.
10 A Yes, 10 Q Withaknifi?
11 MR. SMITH: May sppronch the wilness -- 11 A With nknile, ves.
12 THE COURT: Yes. L2 Q Did he ever demonstrate 1o you how he could kill
13 MR. SMITH: -~ Judge? 13 someone with a knife?
14 BY MR. SMITH:; 14 A Yes, he did.
15 Q  And [or the record, Ma'om, {'m showing you Page 18of | 15 Q Canyou show us.
16 nrecorded transcripy -- of a trapseript of a recorded 16 A I'd have 1o stand up,
17 voluntry stafement thot you gave 1o you poliee. I'd ask you 17 Q  Yus, ma'am.
1B to just ~ read this partion to yourselt, ond then let me knnw 18 A Mr. (Keefe would hold me on one shoulder and have a
19 when you're done. 19 pretend sort of weapon in his hand, and he would stand there
20 A Yes 20 ond hold me os lengih's — army's length and say he would come
21 Q Now do yau recoll whether ar not the defendant ever 21 at me nr could come ot a person and shove it through the coge
22 made a staiement to you that he liked Yictorin Witmarsh becawse | 22 -« riD coge arca and then just pull up pretty much —
23 he was submissive? 23 Q  And for the --
24 A Yes 24 A --slicing sumeane apen.
25 Q Didhe, in foct, say thot? 25 MR SMITH: And for the recard, the witness is
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1 pointing to her mid seetion. 1 Q Did Mr, O’Kecie ever make any statcments la you
2 THE COURT: Allright, 2 regurding any training that he has had in the special forces?
3 MR. PIKE: More particulurly the sternum orea. 3 A Yes, be said he had training in the Grenada.
4 MR. SMITH: The stemum &rea. 4 Q Okay, Naw, nfler you moved out of that apartment in
5 MR. PIKE: Thank you. 5 2008, did you ever huve an occasion to see Mr. O'Kecfe agnin?
& THE COURT: Okay. & A Yes, 1did. I'm nut exactly sure whal date it was,
7 BY MR SMITH:: 7 Q Could it have been December 6ih, 20087
B Q Now, while you two were living in the E1 Parque B A Ycs,
& gddress for those four days, did you sleep in the same bed? L] Q So would that huve been approximately o mooth afier
10 A No. 10 the incident in question?
11 Q  What were the sleeping wrmangements? 11 A Correct.
12 A After Mr. And Q'Keefe and T hud decided that we were | 12 MR SMITH: Your Hanor, we're -- actually, can we
13 no fonger gaing to be with cach ather, ! slept in the room in 13 upproach? Can we -
14 my bed behind locked deor, and he slept on the couch. 14 THE COURT: Al right.
15 Q And was that, to your knowledge, consistent with the 15 MR. SMITH: -- approach, Judge?
16 ngreement you two had to be merely platonic? 16 THE COURT: (Bench conference).
17 A Correct. 17 MR, SMITH: May I praceed, Judge?
18 Q Did you ever reside with Brian O'Keele again alter 18 THE COURT: Yus,
19 you moved oul? 19 MR. SMITH: Thank you.
2D A No. 20 BY MR.SMITH::
21 Q Do you know how long Mr. O'Keefe has known Victoria | 21 Q Now, Ms, Monis, under what cireumstances did you
22 Wiunarsh? 22 next come inta contact with Brien O'Keefe in Decemnber of 26087
23 A Since 2001. 21 A Tt wus just that moment when I went to ga and visil
24 Q And how do you know thal? 24 him at the county jail,
25 A Mr. O'Keefe has sizted that to me, 25 Q Okoy, Now, when you wenl (o 5o visit Mr, O'Keefe
Page 18 Page 19
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1 white he was in the Clark County Detention Center o month afier 1 indicute to you thut Mrs, Witmarsh cver struck him during this
2 this incident had happened, did you usk him what happened? 2 olleged struggle?
3 A Yes, [did 3 A No.
1 Q And what did he tell you? 1 Q Going back to the conversations thal you had with Mr.
5 A He snid that he and Viciorino hod come home from 5 ('Keele regarding his disdsin of Mrs. Witmarsh for sending him
& somewhere - | cannot remember the place whese he had mentiened] 6 1o prison, did he ever make any slatemenls to you us to the
T - 7 length of time? .
8 Q Oksy. 8 A In regards to how many times that she'd go und visit?
9 A -~ but he and Victorin come home, He was tired. He 8 Q No, in regards to her testilying against him and
10 went into the room, ond he proceeded to go tu sleep in the 10 ultimniely being incorcernted?
11 dorkroom want the next thing he knew he said thot ke felt a 11 A She would go and visit him quite oftien. I'm sorry —
12 prick or & stabbing on his hand, and he saw Victorin sianding 12 Q Okny.
13 aver him with o knife. i3 A -- [ donf understand.
14 Q Okay, 14 Q My guestion is, okay, do you recall whether or not
15 A And then he stated that the next thing he knew was 15 the defendimt made o statement 1o you that Ms. Witmarsh look
16 that he wes holding her hand, and it went limp, and the knife 16 away three yenrs of his fifc?
17 was Bt -~ in fier side. 17 A Yes, he did. He had mentioncd that quitc often, and
18 Q Okay. Did he offer anything to exptoin the gap 18 that was in conclusion with, you know, the bitch, [ hate her,
1% between the tfloged prick and the knife being inside of Mrs. 19 she's poison, she 1oak three year of my life, 1 want to kill
20 Witmarsh? 20 her,
21 A He said thot they struggled. 21 MR. SMITH: Pass the witness, Judge.
22 Q Okoy. What was his demeanor while he was telling you 22 THE COURT; Cross-exnmination.
23 this? 23 CROSS-EXAMINATION
24 A Somber. 24 BY MR.PIKE:
25 Q Okay. Did he ever -- excuse me, strike that. Did he 25 Q Moming —
Page 20 Page 21
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1 A Good moming. 1 you're talking on the telephons and you were developing a
2 Q - Ms, Morris, How are you today? 2 relationship with each other, you were developing an
3 A Fine, thonk you. 3 attraction; would that be an appropriute term lo use?
q Q NMow, how did you ond Brian meet? [ A Yes,
5 A 1 wns ol 2 casine called Arizona Charlie's with a 5 Q And it became o enuple type refationship where it
6 friend, and | happen lo go into the Sour Dough Cal (phonetic) 6 youcould talk with him about intimate details of your life and
7 and sit down and ent, and he und unother friend hod come inond | 7 he could talk 1 you about intimate details —
B  sat down beside mc. 8 A Yes
3 Q Okny. And thal was — you indicated thal was in g Q --ofhis life.
10 Januory of lost year. 10 A Yes
11 A No, actually that happened in December, and Eid 11 Q And beveen the two of you, that reiationship where
12 left to go to San Diego and 1 did not return until January. 12 you were tulking to ¢ach other wis a safz relationship where
13 Q Okay. And when you came buck in Januory, did - was 13 you could share drcams, hopes, pspirations, conoems, past
14 it you that initiated the contact with Brian to say I'm back in 14 hnorrors of your life and things like that.
15 town o did mutuat friends tell yeu? What - how did that work | 15 A Correct,
16 ouwt? 16 Q And that went on for  period of time.
17 A Mr, O'Keefe ond | had wlked while [ was in Stn 11 A Yes,
10 Diego. Aspmolter of faet, he mude this comment thol ke run 18 Q During that enrly part of the relationship, that wos
19 up o bill of $300. We had tetked on the phone aimost ulf - 19 hefare Victoria came back into the ~ into Mr. O'Keefe's lile,
20 severa) nights, ond he asked if he would be able to come and 20 carmrect?
21 pick me up from the Greyhound Station when 1 pot inte town, end{ 21 A Correcl.
22 that was the amangement, 22 Q Did you a murked change when Victario reinitiated
23 Q Okay. And he did pick you up? 23 contact? Let me rephrase it Did Brien start to drink more?
24 A Yes. 24 MR SMITH: Ohjection. Goes to relevance.
25 Q Allright. And so during that peried ol time while 25 THE COURT: Overruled.
Pape 22 Page 23
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1 THE WITNESS: No more than he usuully did. On 1 A Yes, 1did
2 occasions he waould have a Jittle more, yis. 2 ¢ And wha did she tell you?
3 BY MR PIKE: E| MR, SMITH: Ohbjection, Judge. Calls [or hearsay.
4 Q Did you believe during that periad of time that Brian 4 THE COURT: Sustnined.
5 had a problem with afcehol? 5 BY MR, PIKL:
6 A Yes, 6 Q During the time that you talked with Victaria, did '
1 Q Did he consume toa much alcohol? 7 you tgl) her that she wasn't good for Brian”
8 A Depends on what you call or consider toa much. 8 A No,
9 Q Too much - let me usk the question this way. Did he | ¢ Q  Did you tell her that she didn't ges buck in his
10 appear to hecome intoxicated or drink to the point where he 10 Tlife?
11 would not -- he would behave ditferently? 1t A No.
12 A With becr, no. 12 Q Did you tell him (sic) that she should leave well
13 Q With other alcoho! beverages, yes? 13 enough alone and just ga on with her lile?
14 A Comecl, 14 A No
i5 Q And you indicated just previously thut the 15 Q Was Vicloria persistent in valling you in and falking
16 questioning 1hat it wis Victoria thal reinitinted contact with 16 with you?
17 Mr. O'Keefe, correat? 17 A Several limes, yes.
1B A Yes, 1B Q In fact, when she got on the phone wills you and she
19 Q And you lalked 1o Victoria about that. 19 was lalking with you, would she yell at you?
20 A Yes. 20 A She did tha one oecasion which was the day that Mr.
21 Q And you told her - you told Victorin thal it was 21 O'Keefe colled und said he was bringing Victoria home.
22 inappropriate for her to try und get bock with him. 22 Q And how did you get the phone 1o talk to Victoria
23 A Idon't recall making that statement. 23 during ot that periad of time?
24 Q Okuy. When you lalked with Victoria, did you ask her { 24 A He handed her the phone.
25 why she wanted to gel back with Brian? 25 Q  And you talked with her, ind she was insistent about
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1 coming 10 your aparment? 1 custody over her testimony, didn't he?
B 2 A Yes, becnuse her statement was he lved there, he 2 A Yes,

3 paid the rent, why wasn'l he oble 1o come bnek. 3 Q And that she woold put money on his boaks,

1 Q And you took it from that conversation, the other 4 A Yes.

5 conversations that you hod with her that she wes coming back 5 Q And do you understand what that means?

6 inlo thal gpartment whether you liked it or not. & A Yes.

7 A WNo, Lok it that they both needed n place to stoy 1 Q That means? Okay, would you deseribe it for the

8  that night for onc reason or anather, and that's where they B jury.

8 were going 1o be. 9 A Tt means when vou go to the court house or anywhere
10 Q During that period of time you becume nware that 10 else, youre allowed to go ahead pnd put — the inmats hos an
11 during the conversations that Victoria was no longer welcome at | 11 expense account where you're able o deposit maney so the
12 her home with her husband, 12 inmate is allowed to buy things while they are incarceraled.
13 A That is what she tald me. 13 Q And, in focy, at the time of the trin in this
14 Q And frum everything that yuu hod observed during that | 14 matter, she testified on behall of Mr, O'Keefe.,

15 period of time, you didn't think it was going to be a good iden 15 A No, she testified against Mr. O'Keefe,
16 for Victoriu 10 be back in thot house. 16 Q Rcmember him saviog that she recanted her testimony?
17 A In whose hpuse? 17 MR. SMITH: Objection, Judge. It calls for hearsny.
18 Q In living bock with Brian, Mr. O'Keefe. 18 THE COURT: Sustzined.
19 A No, that's not true. What 1 actually was stating was 19 MR, PIKE: It's o complete story, your Hostor,
20 that gs soon as | moved out, they cauld be together. 20 They'vs brought in the hcarsny as 1o what he soid. [fshe
21 Q  And sa it was your impression during that peried of 21 recented that iestimony.
22 tirnc that both of them wanted 10 be back topether, 22 THE COURT: Well --
23 A Conect, 23 MR. SMITH: Well, Judge ~
24 Q  Andduring conversations with Brian nbout Vicloria, 24 THE COURT: - there wasn't any objection at the time
25 Mr. Q'Keefe told you that she went Lo visit him whilc he was ln | 25 so I'm sustain the objection,
Page 26 Page 27
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1 MR. PIKE: All right, thunk yau. 1 MR. PIKE: Thank you, your Honor,

2 BY MR. PIKE: 2 BY MR PIKE:

3 @ The fact that you had established a relationship with 3 Q And you had donc elt of this, and then Vicloria comes

4 Mr. O'Keefe for uhout a nine month period, you hod lived with | 4 oot of the hiue, somebody that you thnught would never come

5 him off and on during that period? 5 bouk; is that correct?

6 A 1 stayed with him in the trailer, 6 A No. Vigtoria was always there. He « Mr, O'Keefe

7 Q  And thot was locted here in Lus Viegas, Nevada? 7 toid me about her the very moment thot we'd mel. So she was

] A Yes, we -~ it was mostly during the night because he 9 always there in conversution throughout the entire time,

9 was working during the day, 1 hoad my school during the duy. 1] 2 Q And then physically she showed up.

10 did other things, weni to appointments, 10 A She colled him in June an Fother's Day wherz Mr.
11 Q And therc was a decision that you would become a 11 Q'Keefe proceeded 1o first fie fa me about it, ond then said |
12 couple. And in faet, you started to make plans together. You |12 con't lie to yoo, it was Viclorio.
13 rented an spartment. 13 Q  And it nppeared that Victoria was reinitiating the
14 A Yes. 14 relationship, os you've indicated, and then Mr. O'Kecle started
15 Q You purchased a car topether, 15 to spend more time with Victori,
16 A Yes. 16 A Mr. O'Keefe, afler thut conversatian, that following
17 Q He put you on a bank accounl. You had o joint 17 Monday he had lefl for ant entire week without any natice,
18 pecount logether -- 18 friends or myself, and stayed with Victoria for thal week.
19 A Correct, 19 Q And that cbviously would upsct you.
20 Q --for awhile. 20 A 1'was more hurt hecause | hed secn in Mr. O'Keefe
21 MR. SMITH: Judge, ot this point I'm gning (o object 21 something different. Something that when we had spoken before
22 to the relevance of their relationship, 22 thut if it ever erose thas he would be courteous enough (o let
23 THE COURT: | think i1 can go to bias 5o - 23 me know that that was his intentions,
24 MR. PIKE: Yeah, 24  Q Becawse you and -- you had mede plans with him,
25 THE COURT: -- going to uverrule the objection. 25 You'd bought o car with him. You had an account with him. And
Page 28 Page 29
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that of] sturted to chonge, yes or no? Ycs, it started 10
change,

It did start to change, ycs.

In faet, you were token ofl of the aceount.

No, 1 took myse!l ofT the account,

Okoy. And you wanted to take yoursell off of the

O > 0w

cor,

CorrecL

And you wunted 1o take yourseif off of the opartment.
Correct,

> Q0 >

Q  Atthat point in time you wanied to dissocinte
yourself completely with Mr. O'Keefe because he was invalved
with Victoria. ‘

A Be was invelved with Victoria -

Q And you wanted to go through and because that car hud
been purchased jointly with you and Ms. O'Keefe, that car was
- the loan was in your neme, and you still had o financial
responsibility for that,

A Hwas in both Mr. O'Keefe's name and my name.

Q And after — and you maintained o key to the
apartment. Afier you heard about what happened that night, did
you go back into that apariment?

A Ttwas not until the police cleared us to be able to
go back into the epartment,

Mo -~ v oo L B

11
12
i3
14
15
16
17
1d
15
20
21
22
23
24

A My son and Victoria's husband David and Yictoria's
duughter,

Q During the time Lhat you went through that upartment
did you have Mr. O'Keefe’s glasses? Did you pick those up?

A Yes, 1did.

Q  And for what purpose?

A Mr. O'Keele hed colled me some time when he ended up
in jail and requested that | — through his lawyer - through
you 1s o matter of foct requested thet T bring that ta you.

Q And you and 1 had some conversations in trying 1o
arrange the exehange of thost glosses --

Correct.

-~ and you brought them 1o the preliminary hearing —
Yes. ‘

-~ in Maet, so 1hat he could have those glasses,

Yes.

Q In addition 1o that, you wunted 1o hove B power of
atomey 1o ¢lese out the account, try and resalve the (ssues
with the car, end try and resalve the financinl issues that you
had been encumbered with during your relationship with Mr,
O'Keefi,

A Inregards to thay, it was only becouse of the fact
that Mr. O'Keefe, when [ did have an account with him and 1
voluntary took my name ofT the account, he would state to me if

> 0 =0 -
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25 Q And who did you go back in the apartment with? 25 anyihing happened 1o him, | would be able to huve nceess to be
Page 30 Page 31
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1 able 10 get money to him and put them on his books and anything} 1 jail conversation, your purpose for that visit was to ges his
2 else that needed to b taken care of, 2 side of the story, was it to gel a report from him, what was
3 Q And in fact, you kept that set ol keys you kept, and 3 your purpose in going and visiting him?
4 then you were able to resolve the issues with the car, correct? 4 A My purpose was | went 10 visit Mr. O'l(eele because a
5 A | voluniary gave it back, yes. 5 mutwal friend contacled me siating that Mr. O'Keefe sent a
& Q In going through that, during this period of time the 6 letter to his sister -
7 police actually didr't contact you. You went and confacted the 7 Q Well, okay, now let me just esk you, did you go there
B detectives. B wilh a specilic purposc in mind, yes or no?
9 A Yes, 1did, and the reason why | did thut was because 9 A Yesandit was because —
10 1thave a friend in Metro, and | spoke with this rctired 10 Q Did-
11 officer, and I nsked him what | should do. 1l A —Tneeded --
12 G  You weni in and gave a statement, and then you went 12 Q Letme - U'll get there, D'l get there, 1 promise.
13 aver and alked with Mr, O'Keefe ot the Clark County Detention | 13 We're developing a shart - in short scgments here, And prior
14 Cenler, and that was done over a monitor; is that comect? 14 (o poing over to talk with him ot the jail, you had met with
15 A Yes 15 the police and you'd piven o sistement.
16 Q  During the time that you had the conversations with 16 A Yes
17 him, did you believe that those conversations were being 17 Q You -~ a1 that point In time the police had told you
18 reeorded? 18 thal you were poing to testify ot a preliminary hear, is that
19 A He said they were -- 19 correct? '
20 Q Didyou-- 20 A Thay said it was o possibilily, yes.
21 A - recorded. 21 Q  And did any police officer trlk with you about going
22 Q Did you have 1 -~ did you belicve they were being 22 in and having conversations or wlking with Mr, O'Keefe and
23 recorded? 23 then coming back o them and telling them what he had said?
24 A Yes, | did. 24 A No
25 Q Okny. Andduring that period of time, during tha 25 Q Okay. No detective told you not to talk with him?
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1 MR, SMITH: Objection, Judge. Asked and answered. 1 relationship was to pel 1o meet his daughters?
2 THE COURT: I think it's -- I'm going to allow it. 2 A Mo
3 Cverruled, 3 Q You just - what did you take that as?
1 THE WITNESS: When [ made the statement it was said | 4 MR, SMITH: Objection, Judge. Relevance.
5 —1don't recall them telling me anyihing about that | wasn't 5 THE COURT: I'm goiog to nverrule it
6 suppased to o and see him, They may have suggested that it G BY MR. FIKE::
7 was o good idea not to see him or not to have any conversations| 7 Q [fanything.
8  with him. B A Just the fact that he was showing me how proud he was
9 BY MR PIKE: 9 of his daughters.
1o Q And regardless of that, then you went in and had thar 1o Q And how many times did you meet his daughtcrs?
11 conversation, which you believe to be recorded during that 11 A I think maybe once, twice, A couple of times.
12 period of time. During the time that you ond Mr. O'Keefe were | 12 Q And in going through this relationship you felf that
13 t1opether, did he ever 1ake you to the union to work with him? | 13 your agreements with Mr. O'Keefe had been viaiated by him.
11 A To go to work, you mean? 14 A Yes
15 Q Togo to work with himor ta -« 15 Q You felt that it waos inappropriate for him lo be back
16 A No. 16 be Vicloria,
17 Q - goto any socinl events at the union? 17 A No, it was innppropriate for him to cheat.
18 A No 1B Q Did you think, bused upon your conversations with
13 Q Did he ever take you to any sont of aicohol 19 Victoria when she was yelling at you, that that was somehow
20 counseling or drug counseling? 20 ifTerent than this submissive voice that somchow the State
21 A No. 21 indicates that she had? She cerainly didn't seem -- lct me
22 Q Did he ever take you o go over and meet his two 22 rephrase the question. It was a bad question.
23 minor dowghters? 23 When she was on the phane yclling at you, thad didn't
24 A Yes. 24 sound submissive.
25 Q And hoped that that was purt of establishing o 23 A Ttwasn't really yelling. 1t was more of o statzment
Page 34 Page 35
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1 with emphusis. 1 A Well, he and t had broken up twa days before so it
2 Q  Well, in your -- 2 didn't matier whot she was doing.
3 MR. PIKE: May I approach the witness? 3 Q Well, that's kind of a shart period of time to be
4 THE COURT: Yes. 4 replaced by somebody coming in bwo days.
3 BY MR. PIKE: 5 A No, becouse I had understoad that during the time
& Q Ms. Morris, this is the same stalement that you 6 that Mr. O'Keefc and [ were together, he had feelings for ber,
7 previously looked oz 7 and we tatked a lot about it. I did a lot of listening. Mr.
B « A Um-h'm. 8 OKeele did a [ot of talking, and he hed told me that, you
9 Q Andif you just kind of lock at that arca. 9  know, that he did care about her becausc she was dying, and he
10 A Um-h'm. 10 wanted to be with her.
11 Q Okay, 11 And 1 told him if that's whaol he wanted, if that's
12 A Right. 12 what made him happy, [ understood.
13 Q Heving looked at your statement and having refresh {13 Q She was dying because of what?
14 your recollection with that, you advised the police that when § 14 A She had Hepatitis.
15 she got on the phone, she did start yelling al you, 15 Q Do you recall her having cirrhosis of the liver also?
16 A Yes 16 A Clrrhosis of the [iver and Hepatitis C, yes.
17 Q AndyeHing is a loud ngpressive type of a voice. 17 Q Sheever talk with -- and didn't you suggest to Mr.
18 A It wouldn't be like something I'd have to hold the 18 O'Keele that being with her may expose him to health risks?
19 phone at here, but here, you know, and she said ita litle bit § 13 A Yes,
20 louder than usual, yes, 20 (Q Did at that seem to concern him?
21 Q It seemed 10 you during that peried of time that she | 21 A On an occasion, several occasians, yes, he latked to
22 was intent upon or inserting herself inta Mr. O'Keefe's life | 22 me ohout it.
23 ond kicking you out of it. 23 Q  And he called her poison.
24 A [ didn't think of that. 21 A Yes, he did.
25 Q You just knew that you were leaving, 25 Q And you woultin't disagree with that.
Page 36 Page 37
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1 A llet him talk. 1 A Cormeet,
2 MR. SMITH: Otjection, Judge. Thal's ~ 1o 2 Q Can you elaborate on that?
3 relevonce. 3 A He would drink vodku, and when he drank vodka, he
q THE COURT: Sustained. 4 would become violent.
5 MR. PIKE: 1have ne further guestions. 5 () Okay. Mow, you've olso testificd already that you
6 THE COURT: Any further dircct? & moved out of your owi accord,
7 MR, SMITH: Yes, Judge. 7 A Cormect.
8 REDIRECT EXAMINATION g Q Did you huve any hard feelings upan moving out?
3 BY MR, SMITH:: 9 A No, [ did not.
10 Q Ms. Morris, poing back (o some of the things that you | 1D Q And you've also testified on cross-cxamination that
11 kind of endcd your cross-examination with, specifically about | 11 you did several things to dissocinte yoursel{ with Mr. O'Reefe;
12 canversations that Mr. O'Keele had with you indicating that he | 12 is that comect?
13 still had feelings for Mrs. Witmarsh, 13 A Cormect, yes.
14 A Yes 14 {) Okay. Then, Ma'am, why are you here today?
15 ¢ Butis it stil] your testimony thot there were also 15 A Because | was subpoenacd.
16 occasions where he stated that he hated Mrs. Witmarsh for 16 Q Okay. Andarc you here today to tell the truth?
17 iestifying ngainst him ot that trial? 17 A Correel,
18 A Yes. 18 Q Pursuant to the oath you just took?
19 Q Andthat she tastificd against him as a vietim, 15 A Yes
20 A Yes. 20 MR. PIKE: Chijcction, your Honar. I's leading. 1t
21 Q Now, one ever the questions that Mr, Pike asked you 21 poes beyond the scope. It's —
22 about Mr. O'Keefc's propensities when drinking alcohol, 1 22 THE COURT: I'll sustain the objection.
23 think, based on - in answering a question thal he asked you, 23 MR PIKE: - vouching for o witness. | have s
24 you said that his mood didn't change when he drank beer but | 24 miotion at the appropriate time.
25 with other alcoho! it did. 25 THE COURT: Sustain the objection.
Puage 38 Page 39
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1 MR, PIKE: Thank you. 1 mind, Ms. Morris, is why did you go visit Mr, ('Keele in
2 DBY MR.SMITH: 2 December of 2008
3 Q Mrs. Morris, are you a jilted ex-girlfriend? 3 A Because of o letter he wrote to his sister, His
q A No 4 gister conacted p musual friend, and 1 wanled to scl the
5 Q Do you have any biases lowards Mr. O'Keefe as yousit | 5 record streight with him,
&  here wodoy? 6 Q Have you been hack to see him since then?
7 A N, [ donot, 7 A No
8§ Q Do you have any binses towards Victorin Witmnrsh os B () Have you spoken with him sincc then?
9  you sit here today? 9 A No.
10 A Ne,Idonot 10 Q And you've already testified that pursoant to a
11 Q Now, Mr. Pike also nsked you v question in regards to 11 request by the defenst attomney, you in fact, brought Mr.
12 the conversation thet you had with Mrs, Witmarsh with she 12 O'Keefe his glasses; is that correct?
13 yelled ot you -- 3 A Yes, 1did
14 A Yes 14 Q Would you hove done that if you were bizsed ngainst
15 Q - do you recall that? 15 him?
16 A Yes 16 MR. PIKE: Objection, your Honor. Impermissible.
17 Q And Mr. Pike asked you basically was she being 17 There's nothing te rehabilitate,
1B submissive under those circumstances; is that correet? 1a THE COURT: I'm going 1o sustain it as it relales 10
19 A Correct, 19 the form of the guestion.
20 Q Okny. Guing back o Mr. O'Keefe's statements to yau 20 BY MR, SMITH::
21 obout Mrs. Witmarsh's persondlity and her being submissive, did | 21 Q  Why did you bring his glasses?
22 he indicate if she was submissive to everyone or submissive o | 22 A Because he also asked me when | went 1o go and see
23 him? 23 him if'! could bring his glasses becouse he needed it and 1
21 A She was submissive to everyone, 24 said | would do that
25 Q Now, mnother question that I'm sure is on everyone's 25 MR. SMITH; Court’s indulgence.

Page 41
ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT

002427




@

Page 44
ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT

1 THE COURT: All right, 1 in Grenada? .
2 BY MR.SMITH: 2 MR. SMITH: Objecticn, Judge, Calls for hearsay.
3 Q Ms. Morris, how muny conversations would you soy you [ 3 MR. PIKE: Okny, let me rephrase the question.
4 had with Victorin Witmarsh? 4 BY MR PIKE:
5 A 1 would ssy probably about five. 5 Q0 During the ¢course of that time the - in the
6 Q And how many times out of those conversations did she | 6  comversations that you had with him, you were able ta form an
7 yell nt you? 7 opinion that thet training and thot pottion of it was
8 A Just that one day. B distastelul to him,
9 Q  Just that one time? 9 A Yes
10 A " Correct, 10 Q And that, in fact, it was those experiences that
11 MR. SMITH: Ne funther guestions. 11 caused him to sturl on his road to drinking.
12 THE COURT: Any recross? 12 A Ydon't know. No.
13 RECROSS-EXAMINATION 13 Q0  And he was drinking pretty much everyday at the cnd
14 BY MR PIKE: 14 of the relationship, wasn't he?
15  Q Inrelaticn tp the conversitions ubout Mr, O'Keefle 15 A Yes,
1& (indiscemiblc) military, did he tell you aboul his cxpetiences 16 MR. SMITH: Judge, I'd renew my objection to
17 during the Grenadn war? 17 relevant,
18 A Yes, he did. ] THE COURT: Overruled,
1¢g Q  And these had upset him? =9 MR, PIKE: Thank vou. Nothing further,
20 A Yes. 20 THE COURT: Anything further, Mr. Smith?
21 Q  And in relationship to what yau demonstrated about 21 MR, SMITH: No, Judge.
22 the knife or said -- testified about the knifc, that wes what 22 THE COURT: All right, thank you, Ma'am. Or any
23 had been - he'd been trained with in the Army? 23 questions from the jurors? Yes, we do. Counsel approach,
24 A Correct. 24 please,
25 Q And did he rell you nnything sbowt what had happened | 25 {Beneh conlerence).
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1 THE COURT: For the record, we received three 1 THE CQURT: Thank you, Mr, Pike. What number is
2 questicns from the jurors, and under the rules ol evidence 2 that?
3 we're tot able to nsk these questions, All right, thank you, 3 MS. GRAHAM: State's Exhibit 1.
4 Ma'am, for your testimony, You are instnucled not to discuss 1 THE COURT: 1 will be admyitted.
5 your festimony with any olher witness involved in this case 5 MS. GRAHAM; Thank you, Judge.
6 until this matier is fnally resolved. Thank you for your 6 MR, SMITH: 15 it okey if I just stand up with my
7 time, Ma'am. 7 co-counsel?
8 THE WITNESS: Thunk you 8 THE COURT: Yes.
9 THE COURT: State, please catl your next witness, 9 BY MS.GRAHAM:
10 MS. GRAHAM: That would be Officer Born Sumorossa. | 10 Q Officer Sanlarossa, how are you employed?
11 THE MARSHAL: Officer Santarossy, if you'tl remain 11 A Police officer with the Las Vegns Metropolitan Police
12 standing, plense. Raise your right hand and face the clerk. 12 Depariment,
13 OFFICER BRIAN SANTAROSA 13 Q And how long have you been employed with Metro?
14 THIE CLERK: Pleasc be seped. Wil you please state 114 A About one and o half years,
15 your name and spell it for the record, 15 Q And were you working in your capacity as an officer
16 THE WITNESS: Brian Santarossa, B-r-i-u-o, 15 on November 5th, 2008, this pust yenr?
17 Seg-p-t-0-r-0-5-5-a. 17 A Yes, 1 was,
18 DIRECT EXAMINATION 18 Q Approximately 13:00 p.m.ish?
15 BY MR, GRAHAM: 19 A Yes, ma'am.
20 Q Good moming, Officer. 20 Q Did you respond to n call at a location of 5001 El
21 A CGood moming. 21 Parque, Aparimeni 33 that evening?
22 MR, PIKE: Your Hanor during this testimony and 22 A Yes, ma'ani.
23 during the testimony of the wial there is o dingrom ol an orea 23 @ And what were the details of that call?
24 that's been prepared, We've been pravided a copy of that and 24 A The only dctails we initinfly got was thot there wos
25 stipulnted to its admissian at this point in time. 25 afemale lying in a bedroom and that there was blood every

Page 45
ROUGH DRAFT TRANSCRIPT

002428




b2

o B~ W

Electronically Filed
01/14/2011 04:13:52 PM

NOTC O b zéﬂwm.—

DAVID ROGER

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #002781

CHRISTOPHER J. LALLI

Chief Deputy District Attomey

Nevada Bar #005398

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff’

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, )

Plaintift, g CASE NO: 08250630

-V§- 3 DEPT NO: XVII

BRIAN KERRY O'KEEFE, )
#1447732 )

Defendant. g

2 o] 2 (]
N wn

I
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TO: BRIAN KERRY O'KEEFE, Defendant; and
TO: PATRICIA PALM, ESQ., Counsel of Record:
YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STATE OF

NEVADA intends to call the following witnesses in its case in chicf;

NAME ADDRESS

ARMBRUSTER, TODD 6344 BURGUNDY ST., LVN

BALLEJOS, 1. LVMPD P#8406

BAS, JENNIFER LVMPD P#9944

BESSE, TOBIAS 1254 N. TORREY PINES #1154, LVN
BUNN, CHRISTOPHER LVMPD P#4407

COLLINS, CHELSEA LVMPD P#9255

CONN, TODD LVMPD P#8101

CONNOR, MICHAEL 801 BINBROOK DR., HENDERSON, NV
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DAHN, ROBBIE
DUNCAN, J.

DUTRA, DR. TIMOTHY
EBBERT, LINDA
EGGLESTON, LINDA
FONABUENA, R.
FORD, DANIEL
GUENTHER, ED
HATHCOX, JIMMY
HODSON, R.

HORN, D.
HUTCHERSON, C.
KELLY,S.

KOLACZ, ROBIN
KYGER, TERESA
MALDONADOQO, J.
MONIOT, T.
MORGENSTERN, K.
MORRIS, CHERYL
MOTT, HONEY
MURPHY, KATE
NEWBERRY, DANIEL
OELAND, A.

PAZOS, E.

PENNY, B.
POINTON, C.

PRICE, RICHARD
RADMANOVICH, S.

LVMPD Pif5947

LVMPD P#7157

CCME, 1704 PINTO LN., LVN
SANE/UMC

3864 ALGONQUIN #2, LVN
LVMPD P#6834

LVMPD P#4244

LVMPD P#5891

3955 CHINCHILLA AVE.,LVN
LVMPD P#3711

LVMPD P#1928

LVMPD P#12996

LVMPD P#6836

MGR./CASA SALVATORE APTS,,
LVMPD P#4191

LVMPD P#6920

LVMPD P#4604

LLVMPD P#4665

C/O DAWN BARLOW/CCDA’S OFFICE
1500 STARDUST RD. #A-2016, LVN
LVMPD P#9756

LVMPD P#4956

LVMPD P#6942

LVMPD P#6817

LVMPD P#6042

LVMPD P#7160

LVMPD P#5626

LVMPD P#6420

C:\ng_uum Files\Neevia.Com\Document Converteriternpi1 463 193-1707165.D0C

002430




e}

L~ e = ¥ L . S vt

f— et
[a—

[— — — —_ —
[ Ln =S =5} 3%

—
~J

18

RAMIREZ, V. LVMPD P#4916

RUMERY, S. LVMPD P#6734

SANTAROSA, B. LVMPD P#6930

STALLINGS, JOHN CCME, 1704 PINTO LN., LVN
STEIBER, R, LVMPD P#3542

TAYLOR, SEAN LVMPD P#8718

TINIO, NORMA 2992 ORCHARD MESA, HENDERSON, NV
TOLIVER, CHARLES 1013 N, JONES #101, LVN
TOLIVER, JOYCE 2218 DISK LANE, NLVN
WHITMARSH, ALEXANDRA 7648 CELESTIAL FLOW, LVN
WHITMARSH, DAVID 7648 CELESTIAL GLOW, LVN
WILDEMANN, MARTIN LVMPD Pi#3516

WONG, T. LVMPD P#6812

These witnesses are in addition to those wiinesses endersed on the Information and

any other witness for which a separate Notice has been filed.
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DAVID ROGER
DISTRICT ATTORNEY
Nevada Bar #002781
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I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing, was made this 14th day of

January, 2011, by facsimile transmission to:

PATRICIA PALM, ESQ.
FAX: 386-0114

/s/Deana Daniels
Secretary for the District Attomey's
Office
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; THURSDAY, JANUARY 13, 2011

[Proceeding commenced at 9:07 a.m.]

THE CQOURT: 250630, Brian C’'Keefe. Mr. O'Keefe is present in
custody. Ms. Palm. Mr. Lalli coming up.

MS. PALM: Good merning, Your Honor.

THE CCURT: Defendant’'s motion to preclude the State from
introducing at trial improper evidence and argument.

MS. PALM: Your Honor, would you like us to take this one at
a time? There’'s five different arguments or how would you -- how
would you like to do it?

THE COURT: No. Just hit your points and --

MS. PALM: Okay.

THE COURT: -- I've reviewed the motions.

MS. PAIM: OQkay. With respect to the first argument that the
State should be precluded from introducing evidence or argument to
show that Victoria Whitmarsh testified against C’Keefe in the prior
felony case. It’'s one thing, Your Honor, to say that she was the
named victim in that case, that he was convicted cof the offense
against her. It’s another thing when the prosecutor argues that
she testified against him for battering her previously; that she
stood right here in the courtroom like this when she testified
against him which is simply not true. TIt’s presenting a false
light on the evidence when her testimony was actually recanting.

and you know we're not challenging that judgment of
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conviction, but again the jury should net be given a false
impression of what her testimony actually was. 2And I think that,
you know, for us to say that she recanted to impeach Cheryl Morris
‘cause Cheryl Morris says that’s a whole motive of -- for O’Keefe
to be mad at her. He’s mad at her because she testified against
him and so he wants to kill her; that’s Cheryl Morris' testimony.

We should be able to impeach that without opening the
door to anything else and even with a limited instruction saying
yvou know that the fact she recanted can only be used to impeach
Cheryl Morris and not to challenge the judgment of conviction;
that‘s fine.

The State also should not be allowed to present
evidence that she testified against him and characterized it as --
in that manner because that’s just false.

THE COURT: But at the -- in his first conviction, not
relating to this case.

MS. PALM: Right.

THE CQURT: She recanted in trial, but did she testify
differently at a preliminary hearing or before the grand jury?

MS. PALM: That I don't know. I only know her trial
testimony.

THE COURT: So at trial she said he did nothing to me, but
bring me flowers and candy; is that --

MS. PALM: She --

MR. LALLT: No, that's not what she said.
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THE COURT: Okay.

MR. LALLI: The transcripts attached. She -- she’s the one
who called the police. She minimized. And, you know, we can get
into this little semantics game. She did testify. She didn’t.

The fact of the matter is the Defendant knows that she
testified against him because she told -- he told Cheryl Morris I’'m
going to kill that bitch for taking three years of my life. So
however they want to paint it today, years after the fact, he knew
the import of this woman testifying against him at the trial.

THE COURT: I remember that now,

Okay. Next item, Ms. Palm.

MS. PALM: The next item is Cheryl Morris’ expanded testimony
that was actually introducing bad acts. We want to preclude all
that. Cheryl Morris testified at the preliminary hearing. She
testified at the prior trial and she gave a statement.

For the first time at the last trial she testified that
O'Keefe actually killed people. She didn’‘t previously state --
state that in any of her testimony. She said that he showed her
how to could kill people and Mr. Smith, when he was arguing that
the State should be able to use that evidence, argued that it was
relevant to show his skill because he was trained by the military.
Not that he had killed people. Having killed people is incredibly
prejudicial. 1It’s an obvious bad act and the State should not he

allowed to go there.

If the Court’'s going to allow them still to use Cheryl
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Morris’ testimony at all, I think she -- she turned out to be very
incredible at the last trial. I don’‘t know 1if the Court remembers
that, but she actually is the one that testified that she had a
casual relationship with O'Keefe and that she admits on Cross that
she bought a car with him, she shared a bank account with him and
she actually went to his work crying when he left her.

So, she -- she turned out to be very incredible in her
testimony, but also going back to her expanding her testimony at
the last trial, she also testified that O'Keefe was kicked out of a
trailer which is just bad acts conduct; it’s not relevant to
anything. It tends to show he’'s a bad character; that he yelled at
Cheryl Morris or that he stated he yelled at Cheryl Morris; that’s
a bad act. We didn't have any notice of that and that’s not
relevant.

That she -- that she slept behind a locked door when
the two of them split up. Mr. Lalli did point out in his
opposition that she did testify to that at the prior trial. T
didn‘t -- I did not recall that, but I still think it should be
excluded. I think it tends to show that she thought O'Keefe was
dangerous which is just not relevant to this case and it's overly
prejudicial.

She testified at the last trial for the first time that
a week before the incident, he was calling her asking her to meet
with him which indicates that he was going to cheat on Victoria

Whitmarsh. Again, it'’'s speculative and incredible. She never
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mentioned it before even though she’s given, you know, one
statement, two prior testimonies.

2and then she testified that at the last trial that he
demonstrated a different way of killing people which is slicing
them across the neck. She never said that in her statement to
police. She didn’t state it at the preliminary hearing. She
didn‘t say that at the prior trial. You know, again that’s
incredible. She keeps expanding her testimony every time she
testifies and the State shouldn’t be allowed to keep adding to what

she’'s got to say given that none of it could be proved beyond clear

and -- proved by clear and convincing evidence since it’'s ever
changing.
MR. LALLI: Your Honor, the problem is with -- with retrials,

every time a witness hits the stand there are going to be minor
inconsistencies. Every time that a witness gives a statement to
the police, there are going to be inconsistencies. The witness
will remember things. The Court may recall the six-week trial that
we were all in on a capital case where a particular witness and I
know Ms. Palm might not be privy to this, but it’s -- you had a
witness who had given multiple statements to the police. Had
testified in multiple hearings and Mr. Sgro did a cross-examination
that lasted most of the day; that’s just the very nature of someocne
giving multiple statements to the police.

There’s going to be inconsistencies; that’s a matter of

cross-examination. That’s not a matter of exclugion. This is the
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third time now that the defense has tried to exclude this evidence,
the third time. And as I’'ve done in my moticon, as I’'ve indicated
just every single time that Cheryl Morris has testified to these
things.

We’ve never suggested that Mr. O'Keefe is a murderer or
that he has murdered somecne before. Every single reference to his
killing including in the last trial was in the context of his
military service; every single one of them. Sc to try to now
reattack this as being my goodness, overly prejudicial is just
ludicrous,

The fact that scmebody yelled is not a bad act; that's
just life. The fact that -- that a door was locked incidentally
Cheryl Morris had testified to that multiple times. So, there’s
nothing in her -- and there is a reference to Ms. Palm says that
while she testified about a phone call that the Defendant made to
her just before Victoria was murdered, there’s actually a reference
to that in her voluntary statement. The first voluntary statement
that she gave to the police, it was never really clarified, but
through pretrial conferences with her we were able to clarify that
and then ultimately elicited at the trial, so the Court has rule on
this.

In fact, in the last -- in the last -- before the last
trial, there was an attempt to try to exclude this evidence which
the Court denied. So, nothing is really changed. I think that the

same ruling should apply.
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THE COURT: Mr. Lalli, let me get a better understanding on
the issue of the relevancy of the fact that Ms. Morris slept behind
a closed door. She had to lock herself in a bedroom.

MR. LALLI: The relevance of that?

THE COURT: Right.

MR. LATLI: Well, the relevance is -- is how this man treats
women., The -- it’s relevant to intent. It‘s relevant to motive.
What you’ll find is and we even argued how he treated Theresa
Keiger [phonetic] during the -- the interview. Theresa Keiger
[phonetic] was the homicide detective. How he kept referring to
her as young lady, young lady; things of that nature.

It’'s -- it’s ~-- it’'s relevant for his motive, his
intent, how he perceives women in general. 2And she’s testified to
this numerous times; that she slept behind a closed door. 1It's
also relevant because at the time of the murder, it’'s pretty clear
this Defendant and Victoria Whitmarsh, were although living under
the same roof, living separately.

The Court may recall that the -- there was a couch that
was made up as a bed in the living room, so they're sleeping apart
at -- at the same time. B2and the police had to come in and allow --
well, that might be a different case.

THE COURT: You have too many cases?

MR. LALLI: Well, possible.

THE COURT: And the issue that he was kicked out of the

trailer; can you address that again?
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MR. LALLI: It‘s -- it’s not a point of consequence in
explaining something Cheryl Morris mentioned that. It’s -- it‘s
not a point ~-- it’s simply not a point of -- of contentions.

THE COURT: Well, Ms. Palm was saying that this just puts him
in a bad light and that’s her objection. T think -- I think that'’'s
her objection.

MR. LALLI: That he was kicked out of the trailer and he was
charged with a murder case, I don’'t see how those --

THE COURT: Well --

MR. LALLI: -- things are -- I don’t see how something like
that enters the guilt equation quite honestly. It’s not something
that we intend to elicit. If the Court doesn’'t want us to elicit
it, we’ll do our bhest not too, but -- but I just don't see it as --
as a matter of consequence in the case.

THE COURT: Well, you know, on relevant testimony is that the
testimony tends to prove the truth of the charges and the fact that
he was kicked out for whatever reason I don't -- separate trailers,
relevance -- I'm recomnsidering my previous ruling. The issue of
kicked out of the trailer, I'm going to direct the State to
admonish Ms. Morris that she’s not to provide that testimony..

And also, Mr. Lalli, for further consideration the
issue that she slept behind closed doors. If it was Ms. Whitmire
[phonetic] who slept behind cleosed doors on a regular basis because
she had a fear could be a different story. So those two items

slept behind closed doors and that he was kicked cut of the trailer
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will be excluded at the -- at the third trial. The State is
directed to admonish Ms. Morris not to discuss those items and
perhaps we’ll do it before she testifies, so it’s outside of the
presence of the jury panel.

MS. PAIM: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE CQOURT: ©On all of the other issues, Ms. Palm, 1f she’s
given numerous statements and expanded on the statements, those are
areas of impeachment on your part.

MS. PAIM: OQkay. Did the Court want to address the first --
go back and address the first issue or do you want to wait until
the end?

THE COURT: Well, on that issue there regarding the prior
testimony, I'm going to deny your motion on that issue.

And the issue of that the State referred to your
expert, he was paid thousands and thousands of dollars, T think
that’s permissible argument. And I know there’s a Nevada Supreme
Court case where you can‘t -- I mean, i1t was a doctor from
California and an attorney referred to him as someone from the hot
tub capital in Supreme Court.

MR. LATLT: Hired gun from hot tub country.

THE COURT: Something like that and the Supreme Court found
that inappropriate, but to merely state he was paid ten thousand
dollars for his testimony is proper impeachment and so --

M5. PAIM: And that’s not my only argument with -- with

respect to that though, Your Honor. He did argue last time that

10
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Schiro was the Defendant’s highest paid expert from Louisiana and
that Dr. Grey came all the way from Utah to tell us that he could
not rule out suicide. Those are appealing to regionalism. They're
appealing to biases against outsiders. They’re inappropriate.
They’re like the hot tub county argument. &nd he’s talking about
the high paid expert again; that’s inappropriate argument and I‘'m
seeking teo preclude them from deoing that.

Arnd alsoc part of the argument was that it‘’s not fair
for them to refer to the cumulative cost here because last time --

THE COURT: I'm sorry, the cumulative --

MS. PALM: -- the cumulative cost --

THE COURT: I just didn’t hear you that’s all. COkay.

MS. PALM: -- for these experts because last time he argqued,
you know, Schiro was paid over ten thousand dollars to come in here
and say this to you, but that’s the fault of having three trials
now. It's going to probably be fifteen, sixteen thousand dollars.
And that’s not fair to Mr. O’'Keefe because with the amount of money
going up, 1t soundsg like we’re paying this guy an awful lot of
money and then Mr. Lalli wants to argue that he’s saying what he’s
saying because he’s getting paid so much money. It’s not Mr.
O'Keefe’s fault that were on the third trial right now.

So 1t’s not fair for the cost to keep raising and him
to be able to make that argument based on the cumulative cost of
retaining his expert. He should be able to ask about the cost for

this trial period.
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MR. LALLI: Well, it -- all of that could be cured on cross-

examination; all of it. How much money -- it’s interesting because
it -- it almost weighs in my favor the fact that here we go yet
another trial, we’re using the same expert. It creates even more -

- my argument was it's a business venture for this expert because
all of his businesses through the Special Public Defender’s Office
which is true.

This case originated in the Special Public Defender --
Defender’'s Office. Ms. Palm worked in the Special Public
Defender’'s Qffice at the time, so all of that could be cured with
through cross-examination. Well, you testified previously and your
testimony was the same then. It‘’s the same now. It continues to
be the same. They can fix that,

This argument with respect to regionalism, that’s a new
onne. I've never heard that. &and, in fact, if that were true we
call Dr. Benjamin to testify. He was actually a resident of
California. So, gosh, you know, that really doesn’'t work either.

We're allowed to impeach the credibility of witnesses.
If they're some suggestion that Mr. Schiro who comes in with, in my
opinion, ridiculous theories that maybe there might be some
financial motivation for him not to perjure himself. And I've
never called him a perjurer or a liar in Court. I’ve never imputed
him personally, but I'm certainly allowed to argue the bias
associated with his testimony. And there’s absolutely nothing

wrong in the manner in which those arguments were made.
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THE COURT: How's the State going to argue or present to the
doctors that you have now been paid let'’'s say thirty thousand
dollars ‘cause basically ten thousand per trip here, without the
trip -- they might gquestion why are you testifying three separate
times.

MR. LATLT: Previcus hearings associated with the case; that
happens all the time.

THE COURT: Ms. Palm, anything further?

MS. PALM: Well, he -- he did argue last time that it
impugned his credibility. Like he said he was paid ten thousand
dollars to walk in this courtrcom and say what he did. His total
bill was over ten thousand dellars and when someone is getting that
kind of money, do you think they might extend themselves a little
bit? That’s his argument and that’s why we’re biased by them being
able to refer to the cumulative cost when it’s not Mr. O’Keefe’s
fault.

And we’'re not telling the jury that there’s been prior
trials, so they‘re going to think he’'s been paid that much money
for this one case.

MR. LALLI: There's prior hearings. I’'m sure like I did with
the last trial, I'm sure I will attack his credibility based upon
inconsistencies in his testimony like I did last time, so they're
going to know there’s prior hearings.

THE COURT: I'm going to allow the testimony. Just make sure

he refers to his prior hearings and as a total of prior hearings

13
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you’ve been paid twenty thousand dollars or whatever the amount. I
think its appropriate impeachment.

Next issue, Ms. Palm.

MS. PALM: The next issue -~

THE COURT: And I don’'t see any regionalism that someone came
from Louisiana or Utah. Mr. Lalli is not attacking someone well we
have this expert from the Bayou or something like that; that would
be inappropriate the same as hot tub capital.

MS. PALM: The next issue was to preclude them from arguing
and introducing evidence relating to domestic violence syndromes,
effects or the dynamics of domestic violence in general or trying
to kind of get the jury in finding the cause of domestic violence.
They did some of that questioning about domestic violence during
jury selection last time and the Court ruled that they couldn’t
talk about syndromes or defining that term. They couldn’t talk
about, you know, the whole community problem and because that's
improper.

And then in closing argument, they made several
references to domestic violence. Kind of theories and what
domestic violence is about. 2And there’s not evidence admissible
here for the -- to show that Mr. O’Keefe had the character trait of
an abuser. The prior felony was only admitted and it’'s supposed to
be with limiting instruction to show that there was intent in this
cage or malice in this case because this is now a second dedgree.

And so to argue about domestic vioclence in general is improper.

14
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And we also, I'm sure the Court'’s probably aware, we
have motions set for next -- for the 20" which is two days after
calendar call on the whole domestic violence issue.

THE COURT: I’m not --

MS. PAIM: Okay.

THE COURT: -- I'm not aware of it until a couple of days --

MS. PATM: Well, they noticed --

THE COURT: -- right.

MS. PAIM: -- a domestic violence expert who is allegedly
going to come in and testify about syndromes or battered woman
syndrome. I filed a motion to preclude their expert and then I
filed a motion based to dismiss this case based on double jeopardy.

They filed a motion to admit other bad acts and those
are all going to be heard on the 20", so I'm not sure if the Court
wants to deal with this now.

THE COURT: On the issue of domestic vielence, I’'1l defer
that until we have the hearing on the other motion.

I would like the -- the ability, Ms. Palm, to review
motions four weeks in advanced. Some of our caseload of two
thousand cases doesn’t allow me to do that.

MS. PALM: Okay. So we’ll move that one to the 20" and then
number -- number 5 was the prior convictions for non-support and
State and I are in agreement those are inadmissible.

THE COURT: State’s not going to seek?

MR. LATLI: That’'s correct. I mean, they -- it doesn’t

15
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appear that even though they’re felonies in Ohio, they probably
don’t need the statute here.
THE COURT: Okay, so that’'s excluded.
All right, we’ll see you back next week.
MR. LALLI: Thank you, Your Honor.
THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

[Proceeding concluded at 9:26 a.m.]

* ® % * *

ATTEST: I hereby certify that I have truly and correctly
transcribed the audio/video proceedings in the abov tled case
to the best of my ability.

urt Recorder/Transcriber
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, ; CASE NO: C2560630

Plaintiff, § DEPT. NO: XVII

VB.
) DATE: | [z20/1/

BRIAN K. OKEEFE, ) TIME o

Defendant. % ' ‘9 /S

DEFENDANT O’KEEFE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION IN LIMINE TO
ADMIT EVIDENCE OF OTHER BAD ACTS PURSUANT TO NRS 48.045
AND EVIDENCE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PURSUANT TO 48.061
COMES NOW the Defendant, Brian O'Keefe, by and through his attorney,
Patricia Palm of Palm Law Firm, Ltd., and hereby opposes the State’s Motion to
Admit Evidence of Other Bad Acts, above-named, which was filed on servéd onj
Defendant’s counsel on January 7, 2011.1
g
/7
/i
/77
i

/77

1The State’s Certificate of Facsimile Service certifies that the document was served
on January 6, 2011. That date is incorrect, as the document was actually served by
facsimile in the late afternoon of January 7, 2011.
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This Opposition is made and based upon all papers and pleadings on file with
this Court, the United States and Nevada Constitutions, the attached Points and

Authorities, and any argument as may be had at the time of hearing.

Dated this,

day of January, 2011.
PALM LAW FIRM, LTD.

r/
Patricia A. Palnf, Bar No. 6009
Nevada Bar No. 6009
1212 Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, NV 89104
Attorney for Defendant
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Defendant Brian K. O’Keefe with murder with use of a
deadly weapon for the alleged November 5, 2008 killing of Victoria Whitmarsh. On
January 20, 2009, he entered a plea of not guilty and invoked his constitutional and
statutory rights to a speedy trial. On February 2, 2009, the State filed a motion to
admit evidence of other crimes, which O'Keefe opposed.

The Court ruled that the State could introduce evidence of threats to thel
alleged victim Whitmarsh through witness Cheryl Morris, a woman whom O'Keefe
had dated then rejected. Morris claimed that O’'Keefe stated a desire to kill
Whitmarsh and also demonstrated to Morris his proficiency at how to kill with
knives. The Court further ruled that the State could introduce O’'Keefe's prior
Judgment of Conviction for felony domestic battery involving Whitmarsh., Further,
if O’Keefe testified, then the State could prove his other prior felony convictions.
Pursuant to the Court’s ruling, the State was permitted to introduce only the details
of when O’Keefe was convicted, in which jurisdiction, and the names of the offenses,
and with the felony domestic battery, the fact that Whitmarsh had testified agajnst
him in that case. 3/16/09 TT 2-16, | -

This case was first tried before this Court beginning March 16, 2009. After
five days of trial, on March 20, 2009, the jury returned a verdict finding O'Keefé
guilty of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon. On May 5, 2009, this
Court sentenced O’Keefe to 10 to 25 years for second-degree murder and g
consecutive 96 to 240 months (8 to 20 years) on the deadly weapon enhancement.

O'Keefe timely appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court. After briefing, the
Court reversed O'Keefe’s conviction, agreeing with him that the district court “erred
by giving the State’s proposed instruction on second-degree murder because it sef]
forth an alternative theory of second-degree murder, the charging document did not
allege this alternate theory, and no evidence supported this theory.” The Court
explained, “[Tjhe State’s charging document did not allege that O’Keefe killed thel

victim while he was committing an unlawful act and the evidence presented at trial
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did not support this theory of second-degree murder.” O’Keefe v. State. NSC Docket
No. 53859, Order of Reversal and Remand (April 7, 2010). The Court furthen

stated, “The district court's error in giving this instruction was not harmless
because it is not clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational juror would have
found O’Keefe guilty of second-degree murder absent the error.” Id. at 2.

After remand to this Court, O'Keefe continued to assert his rights to a speedy]
trial, and the case was retried beginning August 28, 2010. During that triél, the
State introduced new bad act evidence and arguments never before noticed and/o
ruled upon. OKeefe moved for a mistrial during that case, based upon
prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument. That motion was denied.
8/31/10 TT 163-65, 168-69. The retrial ended with a hung jury. Again O’Keefe
invoked his speedy trial rights and the case was set to begm a third trial on
January 24, 2011.

On January 2, 2011, O'Keefe filed a Motion to Preclude the State from
Introducing at Trial Improper Evidence and Argument, including matters related to
Victoria Whitmarsh's prior testimony in Case 207835 (felony domestic battery
case), Cheryl Morris's allegations that O’Keefe had committed “other bad acts”
including killing people and yelling at Whitmarsh, expert witness disparagement
and improper impeachment, evidence relating to domestic violence ‘syndromes,
causes, etc, and evidence relating to O'Keefe's failure to pay child sﬁpport
convictions.

On January 3, 2011, the State faxed to defense counsel a Supplemental]
Notice of Expert Witnesses stating that it now intends to present at the retrial the
testimony of Andrea Sundberg, as “an expert in battered women’s syndrome, power
and control dynamics, and the cycle of abuse, generally,” in its case in chief. The
State’s notice had no reports attached to it, and the defense is unaware what the
expert’s opinion would be, if any, in this area. Moreover, the State had never before
noticed an expert or sought permission to present expert testimony or ewdence

relating to the dynamics and effects of domestic violence or abuse.
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On January 7, 2011, O'Keefe filed and Served a Motion to Dismigs on
Grounds of Double Jeopardy Bar and Speedy Trial Violation and, alternatively, to
Preclude State’s New Expert Witness, Evidence and Argument Relating to The
Dynamics or Effects of Domestic Violence and Abuse. The same date, the State
gerved on O'Keefe its pending Motion in Limine to Admit Evidence of Other Ba
Acts Pursuant to NRS 48.045 and Evidence of Domestic Violence Pursuant to NRé
48.061. Both of these motions were set for argument before this Honorable Court
on January 20, 2011.

On January 13, the Court heard partial argument O'Keefe filed a Motion tg
Preclude the State from Introducing at Trial Improper Evidence and Argument!
The Court denied O'Keefe's request to preclude the State from introducing
evidence/argument to ghow that Whitmarsh testified “against him” in a prior Felony
Domestic Battery Conviction in C207835, when in fact, she had recanted during her
testimony and denied abuse. The Court denied O'Keefe's requests to prevent
witness Cheryl Morris from testifying that (’Keefe had killed people duri
military service, that O'Keefe had demonstrated how he would kill a person with
knife, that O'Keefe had yelled at Whitmarsh, and the Court granted (O'Keefe'
request to preclude eviéeﬁce that Morris locked her bedroom door and that O'Keefe
had been kicked out of his trailer, The Court also denied O'Keefe’s request to
prevent certain questioning and argument related to his expert witnesses, and the
Court granted O'Keefe's request fo preclude the use of his prior convictions for
failure to pay child support. The Court continued argument on the final issue
raised by O'Keefe: That the State should be precluded from arguing or introducin

evidence related to domestic violence syndromes, effects or dynamics or the gener

cause of fighting against domestic violence. That argument is set to be heard at the
eame time as the other motions set for January 20, 2011.

The original calendar call of January 18, 2011, has been continued td
January 20, 2011, because whether O'Keefe's will or can go forward depends on the
outcome of the Court’s ruling on the pending motions.

)
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RELEVANT FACTS

Preceding the August 2010 retrial, O'Keefe sought to introduce expert
testimony and evidence regarding Whitmarsh’s diagnosed psychological conditions
and mental health history. See August 19, 2010 Motions Hearing Transcript 28-36;
8/23/11 TT 1-11; see also Motion By Defendant O'Keefe to Admit Evidence
Pertaining to the Alleged Victim's Menta! Health Condition and History, filed
7/21/10; and Court’s Exhibit B admitted during the March 2009 trial. In opposition
to the defense request for admission of Whitmarsh’s various diagnoses, which
included bipolar disorder, borderline personality traits, panic attacks with
agoraphobia, and anxiety disorder, the prosecutor argued, “I mean, now what we’re
going to do is we're going to have a —~ a shrink come in, I guess, and analyze someond
who’s dead after the fact.” The Cowrt responded, “Well, we’re not having it at this
point.” 8/19/10 Motions Hearing Transcript at 35. The defense argued, in part, that]
Whitmarsh’s mental health history and conduct shown in the medical records was
relevant to show alternative reasons why the knife might have been brought intog
the bedroom and why the neighbors might have heard noises when Whitmai:sh was
alone in the apartment, and to show a possible non-criminal cause of death and
balance the prejudice from the evidence of O'Keefe's prior conviction and Morris's
accusations being admitted to show intent/motive. The Court ruled that the parties
should attempt to determine to which evidence from the medical records they might]
stipulate. The parties disagreed on a stipulation, and the Court granted in part, the
defense’s request to present certain facts. However, the Court denied the defense’s
request to present evidence of Whitmarsh's diagnoses or expert testimony related to
these diagnoses, 8/23/10 TT 8-10; 8/24/10 TT 2-11. |

During the retrial voir dire, the Court also ruled that the State could not
discuss battered women’s syndrome. 8/23/10 TT 13-16.

To briefly summarize the basic evidence presented at trial, O’Keefe and|
Whitmarsh had a dating relationship which began in 2001. In 2006, O'Keefe was

convicted of felony domestic battery conviction involving Whitmarsh, and he went tg
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prison. 8/26/10 TT 27; 8/30/10 TT 169. He was released from prison in April, 2007,
and in January, 2008, he began dating Cheryl Morris, Later, in June, 2008, he alsg
resumed a relationship with Whitmarsh. 8/26/10 TT 27. By September, 2008,
O’Keefe had left Morris in favor of Whitmarsh, and he and Whitmarsh began living|
together, Id. at 35.

Morris testified during the first trial that O’Keefe made statements
indicating that he was proficient with knives and that he was capable of killing]
anyone with a knife. According to Morris, he demonstrated how he would kill
someone with a knife: “O’Keefe would hold me on one shoulder and have a pretend
sort of weapon in his hand, and he would stand there and hold me as ... arm’s
length and say he would come at me or could come at a person and shove it through)
the cage — rib cage area and then just pull up pretty much . . . slicing someone

open.” 3/17/09 TT 17. Morris demonstrated this slicing action on her sternum area.

Id. at 17-18. Prior to the second trial, the defense again sought to exclude thig

evidence. Motion filed July 21, 2010, The Court heard argument on the motion|
and ruled that the evidence was relevant and should be admitted. 8/19/10 TT 2;
Order filed September 9, 2010, p.1. '
During the first trial, all parties operated under the assumption that Q’Keefe
could introduce evidence of the loving and forward looking relationship of O'Keefe
and Whitmarsh during the period after he was released from prison. 3/16/09
Transcript at 12; see, e.g., 3/16/09 TT 259 (Jimmy Hathcox's testimony that during]
period of time Whitmarsh and O'Keefe lived at El Parque they appeared to be an|
open and loving couple); 3/19/09 TT 19-21 (testimony of Louis DeSalvio that
Whitmarsh and O’Keefe seemed very upbeat in the fall of 2008), During the retrial
in August, 2010, the State sought to limit the evidence that O'Keefe could introduce
as rebuttal to the evidence from Cheryl Morris regarding O’Keefe's alleged hatred of
Whitmarsh. 8/26/10 TT 11-21. The Court limited the defense to asking what the

witnesses saw during the relevant time period (versus opinion on the couple’s
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interaction), so as to not open the door to cross-examination on other prior bad acts.
Id. at 21; 8/25/10 TT 114.

During the retrial, however, Morris greatly expanded on the claims she
earlier made during her statement to the police, her preliminary hearing testiniony
and her first trial testimony. At the retrial, without seeking permission, the State
elicited several actual bad acts and bad character evidence through Morris'y
testimony: i.e., that O'Keefe had killed people before, that he had been kicked out of
his abode, and that he had yelled at Whitmarsh. Furthermore, for the first time,
Morris testified that O'Keefe had demonstrated yet another way of killing people,
never before mentioned: slicing someone across the throat.

Specifically, Morris testified that O'Keefe would become angry over being]
sent to prison based upon a trial involving Whitmarsh., 8/26/10 TT 29-30. He would
say he hated the bitch and wanted to kill her. He did this multiple times. - Id. at 30.
During the same conversations, he would tell her about his experience in the
military killing people. Id. He would talk about it and say it was either kill or be
killed and he would talk about the kind of weapon he would use. Id. He said the
military trained him to kill. Id. He was very equipped for hand to hand combat,
basically using a knife. He would describe killing someone by taking a knife and
shoving it upwards toward their sternum and pulling up. Qr_perhaps coming up
from behind and taking the knife from the left side of the neck to the right side. Id.
at 31, (The alleged victim was killed by a puncture type stab wound under her
armpit that went directionally from front to back and downward.) See 3/18/09 TT)
103, 118 (description of wound). |

Morrie also testified for the first time that O'Keefe got “kicked out” of thel
trailer he was living in. 8/26/10 TT 28. Morris further testified at the retrial that

(FKeefe was attracted to Whitmarsh because she was submissive. If he velled at

her, she’d do whatever he asked. Id. at 32.
Other evidence at the retrial showed that on November 5, 2008, beginning]

shortly after 9:00 p.m., downstairs neighbors began hearing noise coming from|

g
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O’Keefe and Whitmarsh's upstairs apmtﬁent. 8/26/10 TT 85. There had never
been noise up there before; the couple was very quiet. Id. at 85, 91. The only voice
heard sounded like a female. Id. at 98, Charles Toliver went upstairs and found|
O’Keefe and Whitmarsh in their bedroom; O'Keefe was holding Whitmarsh and|
talking to her, and she appeared to be unconscious. Id. at 135-38, 152. Charles ranl
out of the apartment and started hollering for help. Id. at 140. Jimmy Hathcox,
who lived next door to O'Keefe and Whitmarslh, had also heard a little ruckus. going
on, but the walls are paper thin and it did not seem out of the ordinary. Id. at 250-
51. Hathcox never heard yelling, and the noises he heard from the apartment could|
have been someone banging things around in a temper fit. Hathcox heard a bang
on the rail outside, looked out and saw O'Keefe entering his apartment. Id. at 253-
54, About 15 minutes after Hathcox saw O'Keefe enter the apartment, he heard
Toliver yelling for help. Id, at 253.
Police reSpon&ed but O'Keefe did not obey their commands that he leave
Whitmarsh's body. While lying next to Whitmarsh, he was twice tased then
arrested. 8/27/10 TT 84-85, 169. It was possible that Whitmarsh was bumped|
during the arrest process, and O'Keefe went on top of her body during the tazing. It
was apparent that O'Keefe was extremely intoxicated. Id. at 133. He was
interviewed, and the redacted interview, was played for the jury. 8/30 TT 180.
Law enforcement found no disarray in O'Keefe’s apartment, except for in the
bedroom where O'Keefe and Whitmarsh were found. There was a large knife on the
bed, and analysis of it showed both Whitmarsh's and O'Keefe's blood. 8/27/10 TT
220; 8/30/10 TT 151-55. | |
O’Keefe had cuts on his right thumb and finger. 8/27/10 TT 14. Defense
expert George Schiro testified that it was more likely that O'Keefe was cut before
Whitmarsh received her fatal cut. 8/27/10 TT 32. O'Keefe's cuts could have been
caused by grabbing the blade. Id. Schiro also testified that the possibility of an
accidental stabbing could not be ruled out. Id. at 44.
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Whitmarsh had a psychiatric history which included self-mutilation, angen
outbursts, and suicide attempts involving knives, 8/30/10 TT 212-15, |

The State's medical examiner, Dr, Benjamin, ruled the cause of death was
homicide, but neither she, nor the defense expert medical examiner, Dr. Grey, could
rule out accident or suicide based on the physical evidence. 8/25/10 TT 104, 106;
8/26/10 TT 170-71., Whitmarsh had both healing and acute bruising, but few of the
bruises were determined to be acute, and the bruising could have been consistent]
with bumping into things or being bumped into, and also would have béen likely
been exacerbated by Whitmarsh's advanced liver cirrhosis and use of alcohol. - Hen

blood alcohol level at the time of death was .24. 8/25/10 TT 78; 8/26/10 TT 161-223.

The new other bad act evidence which the State seeks to admit:

1. Event No. 030107-0129 (Obstructing misdemeanor conviction|
stemming from January 7, 2003 incident).

O'Keefe has been provided in discovery only a three page incident report by
Officer Pointon. That report references the existence of a “domesfic violence
report,” and a “voluntary statement” by Victoria Whitmarsh., Neither of those
documents has been provided to the defense. Nor have any other reports,
photographs or other evidence. (YKeefe pleaded guilty to obstructing an officer and|

not a domestic battery offense.

2. Event No. 030804-2025 (never charged, August 4, 2003 incident)

The defense has only been provided with a three page incident report by
Officer Ueland, which references a voluntary statement by Victoria Whitmarsh,
The incident report states the allegation full, “Victoria declares that Brian grabbed|
her ponytail and was going to pull her hair, but she said, “Don’t,” so he didn't.”
There is no reference to any carrying Victoria, or dropping her, or pouring water on|

her mentioned in the State’s motion. The defense had not been provided with the
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voluntary statement by Whitmarsh, any other reports, photographs or other

evidence. No charges were even filed in this case.

3. Event Number 031114-0539 (November 14, 2003 incident, 15t misd.
BDYV conviction)

The defense was given only a three page incident report by Officer Wong,
which report refers to voluntary statements by Victoria Whitmarsh and Michelle
Mott. Neither of those documents has been provided to the defense. Nor have any
other reports, photographs or other evidence. (’Keefe was charged with
m.isdem‘eanor battery, and pled guilty to a first offense.

4, Event Number 031126-0903 (November 26, 2003 incident.
dismissed

The defense has been provided only a two page incident report, which refers
to a voluntary statement of Whitmarsh, and another from Michael Connor. Neither
of these documents has been provided to the defense. Nor have any other reports,
photographs or other evidence. Moreover, this case was dismissed and did not

result in a conviction.

5. Event Number 040402-3158 (April 2, 2003 incident, BDV 3rd

conviction - felony case C207835)

The State has provided the defense with only a three page incident report.
That report refers to a voluntary statement by Victoria Whitmarsh: that document
has never been provided, This offense is the 3@ BDV conviction for felony for which
O’Keefe was sentenced to prison. The Court has already ruled that the fact of thig
felony conviction is admissible in the State’s case in chief, but only the fact of the
conviction, the jurisdiction, the date, and the fact that Whitmarsh testified in the
State’s case against O’Keefe.
i
i
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6. Event Number 040403-1089 (April 3, 2003 incident, misd. BDV|
conviction, 2nd)

The defense has been provided with only a three page incident report, which
refers to voluntary statements by Lynda Eggleston and Victoria Whitmarsh, neithen
of which has been provided to the defense. The incident report also refers to
domestic violence and connecting reports, which have not been provided. Neither
have any other reports, photographs or other evidence. This offense resulted in a
misdemeanor domestic battery conviction.

7. Event number 040529-2232 (May 29, 2004 incident, Burglary

conviction, acquittal on all sexual assault charges)

The defense has been provided with only a three page incident report. It is

obvious from this report that numerous other reports and records were created,
including a statement from witness Tobias Besse, SANE reports, police reports,
forensic reports, etc. The defense has never been provided with any of these
additional reports or other evidence. Moreover, despite the fact that this incident
resulted in a felony conviction for burglary, the jury obviously discredited
Whitmarsh’s testimony and the evidence as it related to the sexual assault counts,

since the jury acquitted on these counts.

ARGUMENT

A, The State has failed to meet its discovery obligation with respect to this

untimely noticed evidence, and should be precluded from introducing it
now.

As with the proposed expert testimony, raised by way of O’Keefe's Motion to
Dismiss, O'Keefe has never before received notice of the State’s intent to use thel
bad acts evidence in question in its case in chief beyond the felony conviction
evidence which the Court has limited. O'Keefe has not received statutory or Brady
discovery with respect to these incidents, although he has conducted repeat file
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reviews and even moved for discovery on August 2, 2010, O'Keefe also conducted
two file reviews prior to the August 2010 retrial. Despite the fact that Volumihous
evidence is obviously in the State’s possession, the State has never provided the
defense with any more than simple incident reports. Indeed, O'Keefe is unaware of
upon which evidence the State relies for its motion's statement of the prioy
incidents, since most of the State’s allegations have never been shown in any]
document provided to defense counsel. O’Keefe has proactively litigated every
aspect of this case, and the State has affirmatively indicated that it did not intend
to introduce the evidence which it now seeks to admit. Thus, O'Keefe had no cause
to waste defense resources to prepare for mini-trials on the prior allegations.

Pursuant to NRS 174,235, the defense is entitled to discovery to include the
statements of any witness the prosecuting attorney intends to call in the case in
chief of the State, results or reports of any examination or testing made inl
connection with a particular case, and books, papers, documents, and tangible
objects which the State intends to introduce in its case in chief. Moreover, pursuant
to constitutional due process under the State and Federal Constitutions, O’Keefe is
entitled to evidence, “if it provides grounds for the defense to attack reliability,
thoroughness, and good faith of the police investigation, to impeach credibility of
the state's witnesses, or to bolster the defense case against prosecutorial att.acks[,]
and this obligation is not limited to evidence that will be admissible at trial.
Mazzan v. Warden, 116 Nev. 48, 67, 993 P.2d 25, 37 (2000); U.S. Const., amend. V,

XIV; Nev. Const. art. 1, sec. 8. The State’s failure to provide adequate discovery in)
a timely manner should prevent it from introducing such evidence, which the

defendant has had no opportunity to adequately investigate or prepare to meet.

B. The evidence is neither relevant nor admissible pursuant to NRS
48.045, |
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The Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution, as well as the Nevada Constitution, article 1, section 8, ﬁrotect al
criminal defendant's right to a fair trial, at which he may confront and cross-

examine witnesses and present evidence in his defense. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S.

400 (1965) (recognizing that the right of confrontation requires that a criminal
defendant be given an opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses agai;iét him);

Chambers v. Missaissippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294 (1973) (stating that “the rights to

confront and cross-examine witnesses and to call witnesses in one’s own behalf have
long been recognized as essential to due proceas”).

NRS 48.015 provides that “relevant evidence” means evidence having any
tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the
determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the
evidence.” NRS 48.025(2) recognizes that “[e]vidence which is not relevant is nof]
admissible.” NRS 48.035 provides in part that:

1. Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value

is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of

confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury. :

2. Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value

is substantially ocutweighed by considerations of undue delay, waste of

time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. . . .

Additionally, “[a]bsent certain exceptions, evidence of a person’s character or
a trait of his character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that he acted in
conformity therewith on a particular occasion. This includes evidence of othern

crimes, wrongs or acts, which is not admissible to prove the character of a perscn in

order to show that he acted in conformity therewith.” Taylor v. State, 109 Nev. 849,

853, 858 P.2d 843, 846 (1993). Prior to admitting such other act evidence, the Statel
must first bring a “Petrocelli” motion and request a hearing to determine if “(1) the
incident is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and

convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially,

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Roever v. State, 114 Nev. 867, 872,
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963 P.2d 503, 505-06 (1998) (citing Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P.2d
1061, 1064-65 (1997); (Petrocelli v, State, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985)).

However, even if the other-act evidence is relevant to a permissible purpose and|
proven by clear and convincing evidence, a court should still exclude it if its
probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Id. at
872, 963 P.2d at 505-06 (citing Tinch, 113 Nev. at 1176, 946 P.2d at 1064-65.

The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that the use of character evidence to
convict a defendant is extremely disfavored in our criminal justice system. Such
evidence is likely to be prejudicial and irrelevant and forces the accused to defend
against vague and unsubstantiated charges. It may improperly influence the jury
and result in the accused’s conviction because the jury believes he is a bad person.
The use of such evidence to show a propensity to commit the crime charged is
clearly prohibited by the law of this state and is commonly regarded as sufﬁcient
ground for reversal on appeal. See Taylor, 109 Nev. at 854, 858 P.2d at 847,

The State has failed to demonstrate how it will prove any of the alleged priox
offenses by clear and convincing evidence. That is, the State does not indicate in itg
motion how any of the evidence in support of the priors might be admissible.
Because the defense does not have full discovery pertaining to these prior offenses,
despite multiple file reviews and a discovery motion, it is impossible to determine
how to defend against the State’s assertions.

The State already has permission to admit the fact of conviction for felony
domestic battery. Incidents numbered 1, 2 and 4 above did not result in domestic
violence convictions. Number 1, was a conviction for obstructing. Number 2 was|
not charged because of insufficient evidence. Number 4 was dismissed. As for
number 7 above, O'Keefe was acquitted of the sexual assault charges though they
are described at length in the State’s motion. It does not appear from the meager

evidence provided to the defense that any witness actually saw any abuse by

O'Keefe.
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Because there were not independent witnesses to any battery, each of the
proposed incidents rely on hearsay accusations of Ms. Whitmarsh as td_ what]
happened. To the extent that the State intends to rely on prior statements of
Whitmarsh, this would violate O'Keefe’s Sixth Amendment rights as set forth inl
Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 86, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004), Melendez-Diaz v.
Massachusetts, 567 U.S. __, 129 S, Ct. 2527 (2009), and Polk v. State, 126 Nev.

_, 233 P.3d 357 (2010).
Moreover, even though Whitmarsh may have actually testified, at least with)

respect to the felony BDV conviction already admissible, she recanted in that
testimony. Also, the State has not timely noticed its intent to admit any iJrior
testimony. If the State desired to admit any of Whitmarsh’'s prior testimony, it
would be required to make a timely motion, at least 15 days before trial. EDCR]
3.20, 3.28, and NRS 174.125. The State would be required to show good cause to

support the untimely motion. Hernandez v. State, 124 Nev. _ , 188 P.3d 1126
(2008). Here, the State appears to be sidestepping the requirements of the rules by,
filing a motion to admit bad acts. However, that document contains no reference to
prior testimony, and there has been no motion to admit prior testimony.
Considering that the State had since November, 2008, when ’'Keefe was first
arrested, to move to admit prior testimony of Whitmarsh, there is no gdod cause to
allow a late request. In addition, Whitmarsh was not subjected to adequéte Cross-
examination in the context of this case, as we now know her substantial mental
health history, which is detailed more fully in connection with O’'Keefe's Motion to
Dismiss. Given the host of psychiatric disorders which Whitmarsh suffered from,
and her conduct following the allegations which imprisoned him, O'Keefe should
have been able to cross-examine Whitmarsh on her mental health issues, including]
bipolar disorder II, depressed versus recurrent major depressive disorder, and
borderline personality traits, past auditory hallucinations, her history of impulse

control and anger problems, and her prior reports of abuse against her husband.

16

00244




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Therefore, the admission of her prior testimony would viclate his confrontation

rights.

Furthermore, this Court has already conducted the balancing determination
necessary under Petrocelli, and it determined that the prior felony domestic battery
conviction would be admissible to show motive/intent. The State grossly misstates
the strength of its case in arguing that a different balance should now apply.. Not
only has our Supreme Court stated there is not overwhelming evidence of a second
degree murder, the jury hung at the last trial, even with the improper introduction)
of other bad acts evidence and improper argument by the State.

In addition, the State has never alleged a theory of second degree murder]
based upon an unlawful act; however, the State by its motion seeks to show that
Whitmarsh's death was a result of a domestic battery, and this must be so because
of O'Keefe's propensity to batter. Allowing the State to proceed with such an
unnoticed theory would violate O’Keefe's due process rights, as préviously
determined by the Supreme Court had already happened in this case. “[T]he State’s
charging document did not allege that O'Keefe killed the victim while he was
committing an unlawful act and the evidence presented at trial did not support this
theory of second-degree murder.” O'Keefe v. State, NSC Docket No. 53859, Order of

Reversal and Remand (April 7, 2010). The Court further stated, “The district
court’s error in giving this instruction was not harmless because it is not clear

beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational juror would have found O'Keefe guilty of

second-degree murder absent the error,” Id. at 2, See also dennings v. State, 116}
Nev. 488, 998 P.2d 557 (2000).

In addition, introduction of such evidence at trial would cause unfain
prejudice and confuse the issues and mislead the jury. NRS 48.035(1) (Although|
relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantiallyi
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of

misleading the jury) OKeefe has never claimed that he killed Whitmarsh)
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purposely in self-defense. His defense theory has been that she either stabbed
herself, or, she must have been accidentally stabled during the struggle when he
sought to ward off her knife attack. Here, the evidence of prior batteries is nof]
sufficiently probative of an intent to kill. None of the prior incidents involved the
use of a knife or an attempt to kill. Thus, even under the cases upon which the
State relies, the evidence would not be admissible. See, e.g., People v. Johnson, 185
Cal. App. 4th 520 (2010) (incidents not involving use of weapons were not admitted|
in case where defendant was alleged to have shot his ex-girlfriend in the back). In
addition, as noted in the various other motions to this court, and most specifically,
the recent Motion to Dismiss, Whitmarsh suffered from a host of psychological
disorders which may have affected her conduct and reporting of conduct. She also
made similar allegations about her former husband. O’'Keefe was twice married|
and there have been no such allegations against him.

The evidence is overly prejudicial, as it tends to show that O’Keefe acted with)
a character trait of being an abuser. See Longoria v. State, 99 Nev. 754, 670 P.2d

939 (1983) (evidence of prior stabbing improperly admitted to show intent to kiil

another person a month later by stabbing); Roever, 114 Nev. 867, 963 P.2d 803
(improper to admit evidence of various threats and violent conduct, which served to
inflame jury). Moreover, this is not a strong case for the State. None of the experts
could rule out suicide or accident based on the physical evidence. There was ng
evidence that any sort of domestic dispute had occurred between these two people in|
the days and weeks before the incident. Indeed, the neighbors and friends have
testified to the contrary, ie., that they were a loving, forward looking couple, who
were quiet neighbors. It is apparent why the State needs this testimony: to bolster
its weak case. However, in defending against the evidence, which greatly increases
the likelihood of conviction based on the improper use of character evidence, the

trial would be sidelined by mini-trials on the alleged prior offenses.
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Finally, the State’s citation to the unpublished order in Holcomb v. State, ig

in direct violation of SCR 123, which provides in relevant part, “An unpublished|
opinion or order of the Nevada Supreme Court shall not be regarded as precedent
and shall not be cited as legal authority . ..."” Therefore, this Court should refuse to
consider the State’s prohibited argument based on Holcomb.

C. NRS 48.061 does not create an exception to the presumption against
prior act evidence to show propensity.

Contrary to the State’s assertion, there is no exception in Nevada to allow the
evidence in question despite the presumption against admitting such evidencd

under NRS 48.045. Specifically, the State relies on the 2001 amendments to NRS

48.061, which both allowed the State to introduce evidence of domestic violence and;

its effects, and at the same time made clear that the State could not use expert]

testimony to prove the basis of a charge against a criminal defendant. That statute

provides, in full:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, evidence of domestic
violence and expert testimony concerning the effect of domestic
violence, including, without Hmitation, the effect of physical, emotional
or mental abuse, on the beliefs, behavior and perception of the alleged
victim of the domestic violence that is offered by the prosecution or
defense is admissible in a criminal proceeding for any relevant
purpose, including, without limitation, when determining:

(a) Whether a defendant is excepted from criminal liability pursuant .
to subsection 7 of NRS 194,010, to show the state of mind of the - '
defendant. :

(b) Whether a defendant in accordance with NRS 200.200 has killed
another in self-defense, toward the establishment of the legal defense.

(2) Expert testitmony concerning the effect of domestic violence may not
be offered against a defendant pursuant to subsection 1 to prove the
occurrence of an act which forms the basis of a criminal charge against
the defendant.
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(3) As used in this section, "domestic violence" means the commission
of any act described in NRS 33.018.

(Emphasis added.)

Also, contrary to the State’s suggestion, the clear legislative intent in)
enacting the amendment to NRS 48.061, allowing the prosecution to introduce
evidence relating to domestic violence, was to remedy the problem of testifying but
recanting victim, versus create an exception to the normal rules of evidence
disfavoring bad act evidence. As the minutes reflect, a proponent of this change,
Gemma Waldron, Legislative Representative, Washoe County District Attorney’s
Office and Nevada District Attorney’s Association, |

explained to the committee that under current law, a defendant who
was charged with a violent crime could bring in expert testimony and
evidence to make the claim of self-defense by showing that the crime
committed by the defendant was a result of being abused over many
years, However, the state was not allowed under current law to bring
in experts to discuss the cycle of violence in order to explain the
testimony given by a victim who had been battered by the defendant
and testified in a manner that assisted the defense rather than the
state, by minimizing the actions of the defendant. Ms. Waldron stated
most jurors were not aware of the consequences of the cycle of violence
and could not understand how the state could bring a case against a
defendant despite testimony by the victim that minimized the behavior
of the defendant. Ms., Waldron indicated without any mechanism to
explain the victim’s testimony, it was difficult to convict the defendant.
A.B. 417 would allow the state to bring in an expert witness to explain
why a victim of viclence would minimize a batterer’s behavior.

Minutes of the Assembly Committee on the Judiciary, April 5, 2001. Prior to
passage of AB 417, the Senate amended the proposed bill to make clear that an
expert could not testify in order to prove the underlying offense against a defendant.
The Minutes of the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, May 16, 2001, reflect asg
follows: '

Ms. Waldron noted an attempt is not being made to change current
law, just add something to it. Answering a question, Ms. Waldron said
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they want to bring in expert testimony to explain the cycle of violence.

She stressed the expert would not be asked to give an opinion on the
ultimate issue of the case. She said that is why the language is in the
bill. Senator James inquired, “What other purpose would it be used
for?”” Ms. Waldron answered, “To explain why she is testifying the way
she is.”

Id. Thus, the history is clear that our legislature sought to make clear the evidence
of prior offenses would be admissible when the prosecution had to impeach 4
recanting victim. At the same time, the legislature, by adding subsection 2,
intended to assure that expert testimony would not be admissible to prove the
charge against a defendant.
Additionally, the State relies on out-of-state authorities, which have nd
persuasive effect in interpreting Nevada’s statutes. The other states in gquestion
enacted laws creating an exception in cases of domestic violence to the general
presumption against the admissibility of other bad act evidence to show propensity.
Such an exception was also proposed in Nevada in 2001, as Assembly Bill 436. The
relevant language of the bill stated, “Chapter 48 of NRS is hereby aménded by
adding thereto a new section to read as follows: 1. Except as otherwise provided in
subsection 2, evidence that a defendant who is charged with a crime Which
constitutes domestic violence previously has committed an act that constitutes
domestic violence is admissible in a criminal proceeding.” However, that bill met
opposition, and it died in committee and was not passed. See Minutes of the
Assembly Committee on Judiciary, April 2, 2001,
In sum, contrary to the State’s lengthy dissertation on other state’s
inapposite laws, in Nevada the general presumption against the admissibility of
this evidence to show propensity stands.
7 |
i
I
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D. To allow the State to improve its case after a hung jury, following

its own misconduct, is inconsistent with double jeopardy protection

As argued by way of the Defense Motion to Dismiss, to allow the State to

improve its case following two trials in which it committed misconduct, ig
inconsistent with Double Jeopardy protections.

The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and Nevada Constitutions,
mandate that no person shall "be subject . . . to be twice put in jeopardy" for the)
same offense. U.S. Const. amend. V; Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8, Jeopardy attaches
when a jury is sworn, and the guarantee against double jeopardy may entitle g
defendant who is put to trial to go free if the trial fails to end in a final judgment.
See Glover v. District Court, 125 Nev. ___, _, 220 P,3d 684, 692 (2009). The public
has an interest in seeing that verdicts in criminal cases are the result of “honest
deliberation by individuals who are of a mind free from bias and prejudice.” Glover,
125 Nev. at __, 220 P.3d at 692 (quoting Merritt v. District Court, 67 Nev. 604,
607, 222 P.2d 410, 411 (1950)).

The Double deopardy Clause protects, in part, “the ‘deeply ingrained’
principle that ‘the State with all its resources and power should not be allowed to
make repeated attempts to conviet an individual for an alleged offense, thereby
subjecting him to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him .to live in|
a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity, as well as enhancing the possibility;
that even though innocent he may be found guilty." Yeager v. United States, |
U.S. ___, 129 S, Ct. 2360, 2365-66 (2009) (quoting Green v. United States, 355 U.S.
184, 187-188, 78 S. Ct. 221 (1957)) (other citations omitted). See also United States
v. Jorn, 400 U.S. 470, 479, 91 8. Ct. 547, 554 (1971). This interest is “mplicated

whenever the State seeks a second trial after its first attempt to obtain a econviction|

results in a mistrial because the jury has failed to reach a verdict.” Yeager, 129 S.
Ct. at 2366.
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It is unacceptable for the prosecution to seek tactical advantage by using an

aborted proceeding as a trial run for the next. In Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S.
497, 98 S, Ct. 824 (1978), the Supreme Court stated;

Even if the first trial is not completed, a second prosecution may be
grossly unfair, It increases the financial and emotional burden on the
accused, prolongs the period in which he is stigmatized by an
unresolved accusation of wrongdoing, and may even enhance the risk
that an innocent defendant may be convicted. The danger of such
unfairness to the defendant exists whenever a trial is aborted before it
is completed. Consequently, as a general rule, the prosecutor is
entitled to one, and only one, opportunity to require an accused to
gtand trial.

Id. at 503-05, 98 S. Ct. at 829-30 (footnotes omitted). The Court further explained
that the risk of an innocent being convicted increases with each trial because “even
‘subtle changes in the State's testimony, initially favorable to the defendant, mayl
occur during the course of successive prosecutions.” Id. at 504 n.14, 98 S. Ct. at 829
n.14 (quoting Green, 355 U,S. 184, 187-88).

Normally, the double jeopardy bar does not prevent retrial following a hung

jury. See Washington, 434 U.S. 514, 98 S. Ct. 824. However, an exception to thig

rule is recognized where the prosecutorial misconduct results in a hung jury, and
the prosecutor intended to commit such misconduct for the purpose of a tacticall

advantage upon retrial. See Ohio v. Betts, 2007 Ohio 5533, Ohio App. Lexis 4873,

p.23 (2007). In Befts, the same rare factual scenario as the instant case was
present, ie., “the somewhat unusual backdrop of potential double jecpardy
implications following the denial of the motion for mistrial and the case is then

retried following a hung jury.” Ohio App. Lexis 4873, at 10. The court relied on the

decision in another procedurally similar case, United States v. Gollamudi, E.D.N.Y,
No. CR-91-518, 1993 U.S. Dist, LEXIS 1402 (Jan. 29, 1993), and concluded that]
prosecutorial misconduct will bar a subsequent retrial where the prosecutor acted

with the specific intent either to inspire a motion for a mistrial, 01"1;0 obtain &
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conviction where an acquittal was likely. Id. at 10-11. A hearing as to the
prosecutor’'s intent is necessary if there exists a genuine issue in the mind of the
trial court concerning the prosecutor's intent. Id. at 12,

Improper advocacy that places prejudicial and inadmissible evidence before
the jury can create an unacceptable risk of biased jury deliberations and require g
mistrial. Glover, 125 Nev. at __, 220 P.3d at 692. A defendant need not showj
prejudice in order to properly invoke the double jeopardy bar. Washineton, 434 U.S.
at 504 n.15, 98 S, Ct. at 829 n.15. The strictest scrutiny must be applied where
there is reason to believe that the prosecutor is using the superior resources of the
State to harass or achieve a tactical advantage over an accused. Id. at 507, 98 S, Cit.
at 831-32.

To be brief, the instances of prosecutorial misconduct are more thoroughly
discussed in the Defense Motion to Dismiss. However, it is apparent from the
prosecution’s conduct during the most recent trial, that the prosecution was willing
to risk a mistrial so that it could improve its strategy in this case. For'hlstanée, the
prosecutor also made reference to Whitmarsh’'s bruising in various stages of healing
and argued that this indicated that she “had been roughly handled in an ongoing
bashing.” 8/31/10 TT 155. The defense objected to this argument, the objection was
sustained, and the defense made a motion for mistrial based in part on this
improper argument; however this court denied the motion. Id. at 164, 169. This is
clearly a reference to inadmissible character evidence and is especially prejlidicia]
in light of the fact that the defense had been limited from introducing evidence from|
its witnesses to show that O'Keefe and Whitmarsh had a loving relationship in the
days and weeks before the incident at issue. As with the notice problems during the
original trial, the State gave no notice of its intent to rely on an ongoing domestic
abuse theory. There was likewise no evidence to support any claim of domestic
violence in the days and weeks before the incident, Indeed, the neighbors claimed

that there had never been any noise, and at the original trial, Hathcox testified that]
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they appeared to be a loving couple. Additionally, the evidence at trial clearly
showed an innocent explanation might exist for Whitmarsh’s bruising, i.e. her

physical condition combined with alcohol use and accidental bumping during the

rescue or arrest process.

Prior to the first trial, the State indicated that it would not introduce
evidence of domestic violence, except for the prior eonviction for felony battery, and
even that evidence was to be limited. 8/16/09 TT 2-3, 12. Despite the prior_rulings
of this Court, and the understandings of the parties, during the 2010 retrial, the
State repeatedly introduced the issue of domestic violence as a psychological
syndrome, a community problem and cause. For example, during voir dire, the
State inquired of jurors whether they felt domestic violence was a “community
problem.” The defense objected, and the Court ruled that the State could not talk
about domestic violence syndromes or define that term. 8/23/10 TT (partial
transcript), p. 16.

In closing argument, the prosecutor stated, “An anonymous domestic violence
survivor once made this observation. If you cant be thankful for what you have, be
thankful for what you have escaped.” 8/31/10 TT 32. In rebuttal closing. argument,
the prosecutor argued, ‘Tt was Ralph Waldo Emerson who said all violence, dll that
is dreary, all that repels is not power. It is the absence of power. In battering
Victoria in the hours leading up or the minutes leading up to her ultimate death, the
defendant didn’t show us what kind of power he has. He showed us how weak he is.
Men who beat women.” 8/31/10 TT 132, The prosecutor further argued, “‘Mary
Gianocos who is the director of Voices against violence once said. . . everything wd
know. . . .” A defense objection to this argument was sustained. The prosecutor
continued, “Bverything we know about domestic violence is that it is about powern
and controlling people.” 8/31/10 TT 161. The defense made a motion for mistrial
based on this improper argument, id. at TT 165, but that motion was denied. Id. at

169.
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Counsel should not intentionally refer to or argue on the basis of facts outside
the record, as doing so can involve the risk of serious prejudice, with a mistrial as a
possible remedy. Glover, 125 Nev. at ___, 220 P.3d at 696. Here, it was misconduct]
for the State to rely on psychological syndromes, effects or dynamics of abuse oy
domestic violence because there is no evidence which was admisgsible for the
purpose of showing that O’Keefe had the character traits of an abuser or that]
Whitmarsh had the character traits of a victim. Reliance on the dynamics of
abusive relationships to prove this case was improper. Additionally, it was
misconduct for a prosecutor to appeal to the conscience of the community or societal,
concerns because the jurors' only proper focus should be on whether the State hag

proved its charge. See Atkins v. State, 112 Nev. 1122, 1138-39, 923 P.2d 1119

(1996) (Rose, dJ., concurring), overruled on other grounds by Berjano v. State, 122

Nev. 1066, 1076, 146 P.3d 265 (2006),

The prosecutor's conduct, whether misconduct or inexcusable negligence,
preceding a mistrial must be subjected to the strictest scrutiny because "the Doublg
Jeopardy Clause . . . protect[s] a defendant against governmental actions ﬁltended
to provoke mistrial requests . . . [or] bad faith conduct . . . [that] threatens the
[hlarassment of an accused.” Glover, 125 Nev. at _ , 220 P.3d at 684 (quoting
Washington, 434 U.S. at 508). Such misconduct tends to frustrate the publig
interest in having a just judgment reached by an impartial tribunal and creates the
risk that the panel will be tainted. Washington, 434 U.S, at 512-13, 98 S. Ct. at
834, K

It is now abundantly clear from the newly methods of the prosecﬁ_'tion, that
the prosecutors introduced the above challenged evidence and argument with the
purpose of goading the defense into seeking a mistrial or tainting the jurors]
consideration of the legal evidence. The prosecution’s bad motive is demonstrated|
in part by the fact that it now seeks to remedy one of its problems in the prior trial,
i.e., that it had not noticed any of the new bad acts evidence pursuant to Petrqce]]i,
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nor an expert in domestic violence, though it wished to present evidence pertaining
to domestic viclence and repeatedly introduced such improper character evidence.
However, “[tlhe prohibition against double jeopardy unquestionably "forbids thel
prosecutor to use the first proceeding as a trial run of his case." Washington, 434t
U.S. at 508, 98 S. Ct. at 831-32 (citing Note, Twice in Jeopardy, 75 Yale L.J. 262,
287-288 (1965)).

Even if this Court rules that Double Jeopardy does not prevent the retrial,
the very basis for such a ruling lies in the fact that the retrial from a hung jury may|
be deemed a continuation of the initial jeopardy that attached when the last jury
was empaneled on August 23, 2010. Yeager, 129 S, Ct. at 2365-66 (“the inability to
reach a decision “is the kind of ‘manifest necessity’ that permits the declaration of 3|
mistrial and the continuation of the initial jeopardy that commenced when the jury
was first impaneled’). Thus, if O'Keefe is not entitled to bar the entire prosecution|
based on double jeopardy, he must be entitled to preclude the State from starting
anew with its witness and evidence notice periods. The retrial is merely 4
continuation of the former trial, and the ability of the State to seek to admit new
other bad acts evidence ended with the motion deadline prior to the last trial.

It would be unfair and inconsistent with the Due Process Clauses of thel
United States and Nevada Constitutions to allow the State the opportunity to
correct prior strategies and bolster its case with additional evidence or Wifnesses
when no good cause is shown for their failure to timely notice this evidence prior to
the aborted trial. The due process interest at issue here is analogoils' to the

situation presented in Bennett v. District Court, 121 Nev. ___, 121 P.3d 605 (2005).

There, the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that lower court erred in allowing the
State to allege new aggravators in support of a death sentence following a'change in
law which invalidated aggravators found by the jury, where the State had chosen to
forego the proposed new aggravators during the notice period proscribed by SCR
250. The Court explained that the required notice-period was designed to protect 4
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prohibiting new evidence upon retrial is where a court perceives a manifest

capital defendant's due process rights to fair and adequate notice of aggravating]
circumstances, safeguard against any abuse of the system, and :i_nsert. some
predictability and timeliness into the process. Id. at _ , 131 P.3d at 610. See also
Browning v. State, 124 Nev. ___, 188 P.3d 60, 74 (2008) (assuming without deciding]
that the State might be prevented from presenting new penalty hearing evidence af]

a second penalty trial, but concluding that minimal additional evidence was

actually introduced); cf. State v. Hennessy, 29 Nev. 320, 341, 90 P. 221 (1907)
(recognizing that where a judgment of conviction is reversed on appeal, without
addressing all assignments of error, it is proper to give the defense an opportunityl
to address them and the court an opportunity to correct them prior to a retrial).

The same due process type of considerations apply here. A retrial after g
mistrial for a hung jury, to be consistent with due process and not barred by double
jeopardy, must be considered a continuation of the previous trial. What it cannot be‘
is a chance for the State to start over with new witnesses and evidence not noticed
or tested during prior trials, This would encourage prosecutors, who haci not met
witness deadlines for whatever reason, to engage in misconduct to attenipt to cause
a mistrial. Here, the prosecutor certainly did attempt to introduce inadmissible
evidence at the last trial. Because that conduct likely tainted the jury'd
consideration of the evidence and caused the jury to hang versus acquit, the
prosecutors cannot be permitted to take advantage of the result to correct the

perceived weaknesses in their case. See also McMillian v. Weeks M'ari_ne_ Inec., 2008

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76973, pp. 5-6 (D.C. Del., Sept. 30, 2008) (granting award of a new

civil trial on damages, but recognizing that an exception to the general rule

injustice in limiting evidence at retrial); Yong ex rel. Yong v. The Nemours
Foundation, 432 F. Supp. 2d 439, 441 (D. Del. 2006) ("[A]s a general rule, a retrial

should not involve the addition of new issues, evidence, or witnesses."). As the
State has failed to comply with the notice and discovery requirements, Double
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Jeopardy concerns should at the very least prohibit it from introducing the new

evidence in question.

E. Allowing the State to introduce evidence, which it had never sought

to introduce before, and which would have been precluded by previous

rulings of this Court. would cause a delay in violation of O'Keefe’s
constitutional and statutory speedy trial rights.

(O’Keefe's has been prejudiced by the multiple trials in this case, having to

undergo the stress and anxiety attendant to multiple trials and a lengthy pretriall
detention since his arrest on November 6, 2008. His constitutional and statutory
rights to a speedy trial have been violated, and he is entitled to dismissal with|
prejudice. U.S. Const. amend. VI; NRS 178.556(1).

NRS 178.556(1) provides in relevant part, “If a defendant whose trial has not
been postponed upon the defendant's application is not brought to trial within 60
days after the arraignment on the indictment or information, the district court may
dismiss the indictment or information.” This statutory speedy trial right applies to
the resetting of a trial following a mistrial. Rodriguez v. State, 91 Nev, 782, 542

P.2d 1065 (1975). Dismigsal if the defendant is not brought to trial within 60 days

is mandatory if there is not good cause shown for the delay. Anderson v. State, 86

Nev. 829, 477 P.2d 595 (1970); Huebner v. State, 103 Nev. 29, 731 P.2d 1330 (1987).

The state has the burden of showing good cause for delay of the trial. Huebner, id)
An accused is not required to show that he was prejudiced by the failure to bring]
him to trial within 60 days after the finding of an indictment. State v. Craig, 87

Nev. 199, 484 P.2d 719 (1971). _

O’Keefe has at all times aséerted his right to a speedy trial, and even
assuming the Court's calendar constitutes good cause for the January 24, 2011 trial
setting, a delay of 145 days from the date the mistrial was declared on September 1,
2010, by its conduct affecting the last trial (and possibly now O'Keefe's ability to go
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forward with the current setting), the State has caused unexcused delay and fu:ther
prejudice to O'Keefe. |

When the State last presented this case, it was not prepared to present the
evidence it now seeks to admit, It had never sought permission pursuant to the
dictates of Petrocelli. It had not and has not provided the defense with all relevant
discovery related to the new bad act evidence. It has not noticed any intent td
present prior testimony, A “trial judge must recognize that lack of preparedness by
the Government to continue the trial directly implicates policies underpinning hoth
the double jeopardy provision and the speedy trial guarantee.” Jorn, 400 U.S. at
485, 91 S. Ct. at 557-58, |

Despite the multiple opportunities the State had in which it could have
sought to introduce this evidence, since the fall of 2008, and despite its prioy
agreement that it should be limited to the one prior felony conviction, now that the
State has twice failed to secure the conviction it seeks, it seeks to change course.
Allowing this late-noticed evidence would cause even further delay. O’Keefe would
need to further investigate each of the allegations upon which the- State now
intends to rely in order to mount a defense at trial — an investigation that cannot
proceed without adequate discovery. The defense would need to interview any
witnesses, seek to find impeachment evidence, seek to secure the testimony of good
character witnesses, and would have likely prepared its case differently., There i
no good cause to allow such further delay for the State to present evidence which it
could not have presented at the last trial, and whiclh is inadmissible as irrelevant
and overly prejudicial. To grant the State’s motion would cause further delay in
violation of ’Keefe’s speedy trial rights.
"
i
i
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CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Defendant Brian O’Keefe respectfully
requests that this Court deny in total the State’s Motion in Limine to Admit

Evidence of Other Bad Acts.

DATED this / g / day of January, 2011,
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THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
-V§-
BRIAN K. O’KEEFE

Defendants.

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
)
% Case No: 08-C-250630
) Dept. No: XVII
% Date: January 20, 2011
) Time: 8:15 am,
)
)

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS AND,
ALTERNATIVELY, TO PRECLUDE EXPERT AND
ARGUMENT REGARDING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, through

CHRISTOPHER J. LALLI,

Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby opposes the

Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and, alternatively, to Preclude Expert and Evidence

regarding Domestic Violence. This Opposition is made and based upon all the papers and

pleadings on file herein, the attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral

argument at the time of hearing, if deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

DATED this 18 day of January, 2011.

DAVID ROGER
Clark County District Attomey
Nevada Bar #002781

BY /s/ Christopher J. Lalli

CHRISTOPHER I. LALLI
Chief Deputy District Attormey
Nevada Bar #005398
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
On January 3, 2011, Brian K. O’Keefe (hereinafter “the Defendant”) filed a Motion to

Preclude the State from Introducing at Trial Improper Evidence and Argument. On January
7. 2011, the Defendant filed the instant motion, almost identical to the motion filed on
January 3, 2011, now requesting that the case be dismissed. Many of the issues raised by the
Defendant were rejected by the Court on January 13, 2011. The few, remaining issues will
be addressed herein.

ARGUMENT

A, Retrial is Not Double-Jeapardy Barred

The Defendant argues that the doctrine of double jeopardy bars a retrial of the instant
case. He makes unsupported claims against the prosecution, arguing, as examples, that the
State “committed intentional misconduct for the purpose of improving its case upon retrial”
(Def.’s Mot. at 8) and that “[i]t is apparent in this case that the prosecution introduced ...
evidence and argument with the purpose of goading the defense into seeking a mistrial or
tainting the jurors’ consideration of legal evidence.,” Def’s Mot. at 7. These are,
obviously, untrue and unsupported by the record.

In truth, a mistrial in this case resulted from a hung jury. The Nevada Supreme Court
has consistently held that retrial after a hung jury does not constitute double jeopardy.
Glover v, District Court, 125 Nev, -, —, 220 P.3d 684, 692 (2009); Peck v. State, 116 Nev.
840, 847-48 (2000), averruled on other grounds by Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. 1258 (20006);
Sheriff v. Robertson, 90 Nev. 365, 366 (1974); Adams v. State, 86 Nev. 358, 359 (1970);
Wheeler v. District Court, 82 Nev. 225, 229 (1996); State v. Eisentrager, 76 Nev. 437, 441
(1960).

B. The State’s Notice of Expert Witness Was Timely Filed

The State filed a Supplemental Notice of Expert Witnesses on January 3, 2011,
placing the Defendant on notice that Andrea Sandburg would be testifying regarding battered
women'’s syndrome, power and control dynamics and the cycle of abuse, generally. The trial

in this matter is presently scheduled for January 24, 2011, Therefore, the notice was filed
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precisely 21 days before trial as is required by NRS 174.234(2). Tt is timely.

The Defendant argues that the notice is untimely because it was not filed 21 days
prior to the original trial in this case. See Def.’s Mot. at 18. There certainly is no case that
stands for the proposition that the State cannot endorse different or additional experts in
advance of a tetrial. The Defendant, himself, has done this, For example, the Defendant
filed a Supplemental Notice of Defendant’s Expert Witnesses on July 29, 2010, (This Notice
is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.) That notice included Doctor Todd Gray as a potential
expert. Doctor Gray actually testified in the retrial of this matter. However, in the Notice of
Defendant’s Expert Witness filed on February 20, 2009, prior to the original trial, Doctor
Gray was not listed as an expert witness. (This Notice is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.)
Following the Defendant’s logic, Doctor Gray should have been precluded from testifying at
the second and any subsequent trial of this matter. Obviously, this is not the law.

The Defendant also argues that the State should be altogether precluded from calling
an expert in domestic violence based upon NRS 48.061. See Def.’s Mot. at 18-25. The
Defendant misconstrues this statutory provision. NRS 48.061 and the legislative intent
behind this statute are addressed in the State’s Motion in Limine to Admit Evidence of Other
Bad Acts Pursuant to NRS 48.045 and Evidence of Domestic Violence Pursuant to NRS
48.061 filed on January 6, 2011. The State should be permitted to call an expert witness on
this subject.

C. The Defendant’s Speedy Trial Rights Have Not Been Violated

The Defendant argues that his case should be dismissed because his speedy trial rights
have been violated. See Def.’s Mot. at 25-26. However, there has been no such violation.
After a jury was unable to reach a verdict in the previous trial, the Court was inclined to reset
the trial the very next day. See Transcript of Proceedings of September 2, 2010, at 5,
However, counsel for the Defendant instead requested that the matter be passed for a time
before the trial be reset, The State joined in this request. /d. Thereafier, the trial was set for
January 24, 2011, due to the Court’s schedule and the schiedules of the parties.

The Court has always sought to accommodate the Defendant’s speedy trial request.
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In fact, the Court set this case on a day knowing it had other matters with priority settings,
hoping that the calendar would clear up to accommodate the Defendant’s trial. As things
tumed out, the Court is available to hear this trial on the date set.

The mere fact that a trial is scheduled beyond 60 days from arraignment does not
necessarily result in a violation of a defendant’s right to speedy trial. The Nevada Supreme
Court has multiple times held that the setting of a trial outside of the 60-day window does
not result in a speedy trial violation if the trial date is due to the congestion of the court’s
trial calendar or the calendar of the parties. See, e.g., Manley v. State, 115 Nev, 114, 126
(1999) (delays caused, in part, by legitimate conflicts with the State’s and the court’s
schedules); Bailey v. State, 94 Nev. 323, 324 (1978) (224-day delay was not inordinate due
to the congestion of the trial calendar). Moreover, the constitutional deprivation of right to
speedy trial requires proof of prejudice attributable to delay. Anderson v. State, R6 Ney. 829,
833 (1970). The Defendant cannot demonstrate how he has been prejudiced by any minimal
delay in this case.

CONCLUSION

Based upon all of the foregoing, the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss on Grounds of
Double Jeopardy Bar and Speedy Trial Violation and, Alternatively, to Preclude State’s New
Expert Witness, Evidence and Argument Relating to the Dynamics or Effects of Domestic
Violence and Abuse should be denied.

DATED this 18 day of January, 2011.

DAVID ROGER

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #002781

BY s/ Christopher J. Lalli

CHRISTOPHER I. LALLI
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #005398
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I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing, was made this 18th day of

January, 2011, by facsimile transmission to:

PATRICIA PALM, ESQ.
FAX: 386-9114

/s/Deana Daniels
Secretary for the District Attorney's
Office
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PALM LAW FIRM, LTD.

PATRICIA PALM VR

STATE BAR NO. 6009 2P
1212 CASINO CENTER BLVD.

LAS VEGAS, NV 89104 b ., .
PHONE: 702-386-9113 CLepy ¢

FAX: 702-386-9114 YT e

EMALL: patricia.palmlaw@gmail.com

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C No.: C250630
STATE OF NEVADA, ase No

. Dept. No.: XVil
Plaintiff,
* DBCZEDE3D o
vS. i noew
Hofleo ol Exparl Witnessas
BRIAN K. O'KEEFE, , Br2690 ) ‘
TUAU

SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF DEFENDANT'S EXPERT WITNESSES
{NRS 174.234(2)]
DATE:
TIME;

TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, PLAINTIFF, and
TO: DAVID ROGER, DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attormey for Plaintiff,

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant, Brian|
K. O'Keefe, by and through his attorney, PATRICIA PALM of PALM LAW FIRM, LTD.,
intends to call the following experts in his case in chief, in addition to those experts who

have been previously noticed and whose reports have previously been provided:

1. GEORGE SCHIRO, 5004 W. Admiral Doyle Dr., New Iberia, LA 70560, an expert

in forensic science. Should this witness testify, he will testify in the area of crime
scene analysis, crime scene investigation, processing of crime scenes, collection|

and preservation of evidence, latent print comparison, footwear examination,

RECEWVED
JUL 29 2010 .
CLERK OF THE COURT

35

002487




10

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

28

. TODD CAMERON GREY, M.D., Medical Examiner's Office, State of Utah, 48 N.

. LOUIS F. MORTILLARQ, PHD, 501 S. Rancho Drive, Ste. F-37, Las Vegas, NV

. TAWNI CHRISTENSEN, M.D., 540 Summer Mesa Dr., Las Vegas, NV 89144, an|

DNA evaluations, and defensive and accidgnta! wounds, and will give his
opinions related thereta.

(The scope of expected testimony listed above and the report previously given
have been supplemented; an updated CV and supplemental report are

attached.).

Medical Drive, Salt Lake City, UT 84113, an expert in general pathology and
cause and manner of death. Should he testify he will testify in the area of
general pathology, cause and manner of death, and specific issues related to thig
case, including but not limited to the autopsy report, the extent/nature of wounds
and injuries in this case and the physical condition of the deceased's body. Dr.
Grey will also testify regarding aspects of the case that may assist the jury in
reaching a verdict, including but not limited to physical evidence and
interpretation of the autopsy report, protocol, and photographs, including crime

scene photographs. (CV is attached.)

89106, an expert in clinical psychology. Should he testify, he will testify in the
area of the mental health history and condition and diagnoses of the alleged
victim as documented in her medical records, including but not limited to hen
history of suicide attempts by overdose and cutting, major recurrent depression,
anxiety disorder as comorbidity, panic attacks, polysubstance abuse, self
mutilation, anger outbursts and anger control problems, bipalar disorder, and|
borderline personality traits, and explain how the victim's mental health

conditions might have affected her at the time of the incident. (CV is attached).

expert in the area of emergency medicine and medical science. Should shel

testify, she will testify in the area of the effects of alcohol and
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Effexor/Venlafaxine, the levels of these detected in the autopsy toxicology report
in this case, and the alleged victim's medical condition and target dosage of
Effexor as documented in her medical records.

(CV and report previously provided).

Dated this 28" day of July, 2010.

PALM LAW FIRM, LTD.

Patricia A. Palm, Bar No. 6009
1212 Casino Center Bivd.
Las Vegas, NV 89104

(702) 386-9113

Attorney for Defendant O'Keefe

, RECEIPT OF COPY
RECEIPT of a copy of the Supplemental Noiice of Defendant's Expert Witnesses
is hereby acknowledged.

DATED: {é/\//;/ 49 2010,

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

Lorpnpton 7D
200 Lewis Ave., 3 Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89155
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HOME PAGE

GEORGE SCHIRO, MS, F-ABC
CONSULTING FORENSIC SCIENTIST

FORENSIC SCIENCE RESOURCES®
P.O. Box 188
CADE, LA 70519 USA
CELL: (337) 322-2724
E-MAIL: Gjschiro@cs.com

EDUCATION

Master of Science, Industrial Chemistry - Forensic Science

Including five hours of credit in Forensic DNA Analysis of Biological Materials and accompanying lab
course, three hours of credit in Quality Assurance and Bioinformatics, three hours of credit in
Biochemistry, two hours of credit in Forensic Analysis of DNA Data, and three hours of credit in:
Experimental Statistics

University of Central Florida, Orlando, FL.

Bachelor of Science, Microbiology
Including three hours of credit in Genetics
Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, La.

PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATION

Certificate of Professional Competency in Criminalistics, Fellow of the American Board of
Criminalistics, Specialty Area: Molecular Biology

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING ATTENDED

March 2010 “2010 Forensic Symposium — Advanced Death Investigation” - Instructors: Dr.
Karen Sullivan, Dennis McGowan, George Schiro, Rae Wooten, Dr. Richard
Weems, and Dr. Mark Guilbeau, North Georgia College & State University,
Dahlonega, GA :

February 2010 “ISO 17025 and Audit Preparation” - Instructor: David Epstein, Forensic
Quality Services, New Tberia, LA

August 2009 . “Actual Innocence: Establishing Innocence or Guilt, Forensic Science Friend or
Foe to the Criminal Justice System” — Instructors: various, The Center for
American and International Law, Plano, TX

June 2009 “Digital Photography for Law Enforcement” — Instructors: Donnie Barker and Joe
Russo, Institute of Police Technology and Management, Lafayette, LA

http://www.forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeCV.him . 7/29/2010
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March 2008

February 2008

QOctober 2007
February 2007

February 2006

December 2004

June 2003

May 2003
April 2003

January 2002

March 2001

February 2000

November 1999
March 1998
November 1997

Qctober 1997

http://www.forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeCV htm

Page 2 of 9

“Forensic Symposium 2008 — The Investigation of Sex Crimes and Deviant.
Behavior” — Instructors: Roy Hazelwood, George Schiro, Dr. Brent Paterline, Jeff
D. Branyon, Tim Relph, and Dr. Daniel J. Sheridan, North Georgia College &
State University, Dahlonega, GA

“Conference on Crimes Against Women” - Instructors: various, Dailas, TX

“Integrity, Character, and Ethics in Forensic Science” — Instructor; Dan B.
Gunnell, Louisiana Association of Forensic Scientists (LAFS) Fall 2007 Meeting,
Baton Rouge, LA

“Anatomy of a Wrongful Conviction: A Multidisciplinary Examination of the
Ray Krone Case” — Co-chairmen: George Schiro and Dr, Thomas Streed,
American Academy of Forensic Sciences Meeting, San Antonio, TX

“Solving the South Louisiana Seria! Killer Case — New Approaches Blended
With Older Trusted Techniques” Co-chairmen: George Schiro and Ray
Wickenheiser, American Academy of Forensic Sciences (AAFS) Meeting,
Seattle, WA

“National Forensic Science Technology Center (NFSTC) Auditor Workshop” -

Instructors: Mark Nelson, John Wegel, Richard A. Guerreri, and Heather Subert
“CODIS v5.6 Software Training” — Instructor: Carla Heron, Baton Rouge, LA

"DNA Auditor Training" - Instructors: Richard A. Guerreri and Anja Einseln,
Austin, TX

“Statistical Analysis of Forensic DNA Evidence” - Instructor: Dr. George
Carmody, Harvey, LA

“Association of Forensic DNA Analysts and Administrators (AFDAA)
Workshops” - Instructors: S. Cribari, Dr. T. Wang, and R. Wickenheiser, Austin,
TX

“Basic Forensic DNA Analysis” - Instructor; Dr. Pat Wojtkiewicz, Baton Rouge,
LA

DNA Workshop, AAFS Meeting, Reno, NV

“Advanced AmpF| STR™ & ABI Prism™ 310 Genetic Analyzer Training” -
Instructor: Catherine Caballero, PE Biosystems, Baton Rouge, LA

“DNA Typing with STRs - Silver Stain Detection Workshop™ - Instructors; Dr,
Brent Spoth and Kimberly Huston, Promega Corp., Madison, Wi

“Laboratory Auditing” - Instructors: Dr. William Tilstone, Richard Lester, and
Tony Longhetti, NFSTC Workshop, Baton Rouge, LA

“Forensic Microscopy” - Instructor: Gary Laughlin, McCrone Research Institute,

7/29/2010
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September 1997
August 1997

February 1997

November 1996

August 1996

June 1996°

February 1996

July 1995

June 1993

May 1993
Ma.rch 1993
September 1990
July 1589

June 1989

September 1988

June 1988

June 1988

http://www.forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeC V.htm
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La. State Police Training Academy, Baton Rouge, LA

“Presenting DNA Statistics in Court” - [nstructors: Dr. Bruce Weir and Dr.
George Carmody, Promega Symposium, Scottsdale, AZ

“Forensic DNA Analysis” - Instructors; Pat Wojtkiewicz and Michelle Gaines,
North La. Cnime Lab, Shreveport, LA

DNA Workshop, AAFS Meeting, New York, NY

“Forensic DNA Testing” - Instructors: Dr. Jim Kararn and Dr. Sudhir Sinha,
Tulane University Medical Center, New Orleans, LA

“Bloodstain Pattern Analysis and Crime Scene Documentation” - Instructors:
Paulette Sutton, Steven Symes, and Lisa Elrod North La. Crime Lab, Shreveport,
LA

“Introduction to Forensic Fiber Microscopy™ - Instructor: Skip Palenik, Acadiana
Crime Lab, New Ibenia, LA

DNA Workshop, AAFS Meeting, Nashville, TN

“Personality Profiling and Crime Scene Assessment” - Instructors: Roy
Hazelwood and Robert Ressler, Loyola University, New Orleans, LA

“Basic Forensic Serology,” FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

DNA Workshop - Instructor: Anne Montgomery, GenTest Laboratories,
Southern Association of Forensic Scientists (SAFS) Spring Meeting, Savannah,
GA

Attended the Second International Symposium on the Forensic Aspects of DNA
Analysis, FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

“Introduction to Human Immunoglobulin Allotyping” - Instructor:
Dr. Moses Schanfield, AGTC, La.State Police Crime Lab, Baton Rouge, LA

Bone Grouping Techniques Workshop - Instructor; Dr. Robert Gaensslen and
Dr. Henry Lee, University of New Haven, New Haven, CT

Attended the International Symposium on the Forensic Aspects of DNA Analysis,
FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

DNA Workshop, SAFS Fall Meeting, Clearwater, FL

“Non-Isotopic Detection of DNA Polymorphisms™ - Instructor: Dale Dykes,
AGTC, North La. Crime Lab, Shreveport, LA

“Microscopy of Hairs™ - Insiructor; Skip Palenik, North La. Crime Lab,
Shreveport, LA

7/29/2010

002492




-

' George Schiro Curriculum "."itzteo O Page 4 of §

April 1988 “Analysis of Footwear and Tire Evidence™ - Instructors; Max Courtney and Ed
Hueske, North La, Crime Lab, Shreveport, LA

September 1987 Introduction to Forensic Genetics Workshop - Instructor: Dr. Moses Schanfield,
SAFS Fall Meeting, Atlanta, GA

March 1987 Isoelectric Focusing Workshop, SAFS/ SWAFS/ SAT Combined Spring Meeting,
Baton Rouge, LA

June 1986 Attended the International Symposium on Forensic Immunology, FBI Academy,
Quantico, VA

February 1986 “Collection and Preservation of Physical Evidence™ - Instructor; Dale Moreau,

' FBI School, Metairie, LA

August 1985 “Atomic Absorption in Determining Gunshot Residues," FBI Academy,
Quantico, VA '

April 1985 “Arson Accelerant Detection Course” - Instructors: Rick Tontarski, Mary Lou
Fultz, and Rick Stroebel, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms (BATF) Lab,
Rockville, MD

July 1984 *Questioned Documents for the Investigator” - Instructor: Dale Moreau, FBI

School, Baton Rouge, LA

PROFLESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

2002 - present Acadiana Criminalistics Laboratory — New Iberta, LA
An ASCLD-LAB accredited laboratory

- Employed as a Forensic Chemist - DNA Technical Leader. Duties include incorporating the
DNA Advisory Board (DAB) standards, accountability for the technical operations of the lab's
biology section, conducting DNA analysis using the 13 STR core loci and Y STR in casework,
DNA research, forensic science training, and crime scene investigation. Qualified as an expert
over 145 times in 29 Louisiana parish courts, Pope County Arkansas, San Bernardine County
California, Lee County Florida, Washington County Mississippi, St. Louis County Missouri,
Clark County Nevada, Bronx County New York, Cabell County West Virginia, federal court,
and two Louisiana city courts. Has qualified as an expert in the following areas: latent fingerprint
development, serology; crime scene investigation; forensic science; trajectory reconstruction;
shoeprint dentification; crime scene reconstruction; bloodstain pattern analysis; DNA analysis;
fracture match analysis; and hair comparison. Has also consulted on cases in 23 states, for the
United States Army and Air Force, and in the United Kingdom, Worked over 2900 cases.
Independently contracted DNA technical auditor with NFSTC and Forensic Quality Services -
International, Contracted DNA Technical Leader to the Southwest La. Crime Lab in Lake
Charles, LA from 2005-2008. Is a member of the Lafayette Parish Sexual Assault Response
Team (SART). Is also a member of the La, Foundation A gainst Sexual Assault (LAFASA)

Training Team,

http://www.forensicscienceresources. com/GeorgeCV.him 7/29/2010
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1988 - 2001 Louisiana State Police Crime Lab - Baton Rouge, LA
An ASCLD-LAB accrediled laboratory

Employed as a Forensic Scientist 2. Duties included incorporating the DNA Advisory Board
(DAB) standards and conducting DNA analysis using the 13 STR core loci in casework: Duties
have also included setiing up and developing methods for the analysis of blood and body fluids
using biological, chemical, microscopic, immunological, biochemical, electrophoretic, and
isoelectric focusing techniques; applying these methods to criminal investigations; and testifying
to the results in court. Additional duties included crime scene investigation/reconstruction; latent
print development; fracture match comparison; projectile frajectory determination; shoeprint
comparison, hair examination; blood spatter interpretation; and training personnel in various
aspects of forensic science.

1984 —- 1988 Jefferson Parish Sheriff’s Office Crime Lab — Metairie, LA

Employed as Criminalist (). From 11/85 to 4/88 duties included collection and analysis of
blood, body fluids, hairs, and fibers using microscopic, immunological, biochemicel, and
chemical techniques. Also testified to the results of these analyses in court. Trained under Senior

- Forensic Biologist Joseph Warren. From 6/84 to 10/85 duties included marijuana analysis, arson
analysis, gunshot residue detection, hit and run paint analysis, and development of latent
fingerprints. Trained under Lab Director Ron Singer.

PROFESSIONAL PAPERS

“A Cold Hit...Relatively Speaking” presented at the International Association of Forensic Sciences 18th
Triennial Meeting in New Orleans, LA, July 25, 2008. Also presented as “We Are Family...the Key to
Solving a Series of Rapes” at the 2008 Southern Association of Forensic Scientists Meeting in
Shreveport, LA.

“Criminalistics Errors, Omissions, Problems, and Ethical Issues” presented as part of the “Anatomy of a
Wrongful Conviction: A Multidisciplinary Examination of the Ray Krone Case™ workshop at the 2007
AAFS Meeting in San Antonio, TX; as part of the LAFS Fall 2007 Meeting in Baton Rouge, LA; and as
part of “Actual Innocence: Establishing Innocence or Guilt, Forensic Science Friend or Foe to the
Criminal Justice System™ at The Center for American and International Law in Plano, TX.

“Using the Quality Assurance Standards for Forensic DNA Testing Laboratories to Distinguish the
Unqualified Forensic DNA Experts From the Qualified Forensic DNA Experts” presented at the 2007
AAFS Meeting in San Antonio, TX and at the AFDAA 2007 Winter Meeting in Austin, TX.

“Investigative Uses of DNA Dalabases” presented as part of the “Solving the South Louisiana Serial
Killer Case — New Approaches Blended With Older Trusted Techniques” workshop at the 2006 AAFS
Meeting in Seattle, WA.

“Trace DNA Analysis; Casework Experience” presented as a poster at the 2004 AAFS Meeting in
Dallas, TX and as a talk at the July 2003 AFDAA Meeting in Austin, TX, Also presented as “Interesting
Casework Using AmpFISTR® Profiler Plus® and COfiler® Kits™ at Applied Biosystems’ “Future
Trends in Forensic DNA Technology,” Seplember, 2003 in New Orleans, LA,

“Extraction and Quantification of Human Deoxyribonucleic Acid, and the Amplification of Human

http://www.forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeCV htm 7/29/2010
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Short Tandem Repeats and a Sex Identification Marker from Fly Larvae Found on Decomposing
Tissue™ a thesis to fulfill one of the Master of Science requirements. Successfully defended on July 13,
2001 at the University of Central Florida, Orlando, Florida. Presented at the 2004 AAFS Meeting in -
Dallas, TX, the Spring 2002 La. Association of Forensic Scientists (LAFS) Meeting, and the January
2003 AFDAA Meeting in Austin, TX. ’ :

“Administrative Policies Dealing with Crime Scene Operations” published in the Spring 1999 issue of
Southern Lawman Magazine.

“Shooting Reconstruction - When the Bullet Hits the Bone™ presented at the 10th Anniversary
Convention of the La, Private Investipators Association (LPIA ) National Association of Legal
Investigators (NALI) Region I'V Seminar, September 13, 1997, New Orleans, LA, Licensed as
continuing education for Texas Private Investigators by the Texas Board of Private Investigators and
Private Security Agencies. Published in the Fail 1998 issue of Southern Lawman Magazine.

“Using Videotape to Document Physical Evidence™ presented at the Seventh Annua] Convention of the
LPIA/NALI Region IV Seminar, August 16, 1996, New Orleans, LA. Licensed as continuing education
for Texas Private Investigators by the Texas Board of Privete Investigators and Private Security
Agencies. Published in April 1997 issue of The L[4 Journal. An edited version was published in the
Winter 1998 issue of Southern Lawman Magazine.

“Collection and Preservation of Blood Evidence from Crime Scenes” distributed as part of a blood
collection workshop held at the Jefferson Parish Coroner’s Eighth Annual Death Investigation
Conference, November 17, 1995, Harahan, LA. Presented as continuing Iegal education by the La_Bar
Association. Electronically published on the World Wide Web at the Crime Scene Investigation Web .
Page (http://police2 ucr.eduw/csi. htm). Published in the September/October 1997 issue of the Journal of

Forensic Identification. Referenced in the 71 edition of Technigques of Crime Scene Investigation by
Barry A.J. Fisher.

“Collection and Preservation of Evidence” presented at La. Foundation Against Sexual Assault/ La.
District Attorneys Association sponsored conference, “Meeting the Challenge; Investigation and
Prosecution of Sex Crimes,” March 3, 1994, Lafayette, LA. Presented as continuing legal education by
the La. Bar Association. Published in the Forensic Medicine Sourcebook. Electronically published on
the World Wide Web at the Crime Scene Investigation Web Page (http://police2.ucr.edw/csi.htm), Also
published in Narnogram, the official publication of LAFS. A modified version of the paper was
presented at the Sixth Annual Convention of the LPIA, August 19, 1995, New Orleans, LA; the NALI
Region IV Continuing Education Seminar, March 9, 1996, Biloxi, MS; and the Texas Association of
Licensed Investipators (TALI) Winter Seminar, February 15, 1997, Addison, TX. Published in the
July/August 1996 issue and the September/October 1996 issue of The Texas Investigator. Electronically
published on the World Wide Web at TALI’s Web Page (hitp://pimall.com/tali/evidence htm!),
Published in the May 2001 issue of The /nformant, the official publication of the Professional Private
Investigators Association ol Colorado. An updated version was presented at La. Foundation Apgainst
Sexual Assault/La. District Attorneys Association sponsored conference, “Collaborating to STOP
Violence Against Women Conference,” March 12, 2003, Lafayette, LA.

“The Effects of Fecal Contamination on Phosphoglucomutase Subtyping” presented at the 1989 AAFS
Meeting held in Las Vegas, Nevada and at the Fall, 1987 SAFS Meeting held in Atlanta, Georgia.

“A Report on Gamma Marker (Gm) Antigen Typing” presented at thé Fali, 1986 SAFS Meeting held in
Aubumn, Alabama and at the Summer, 1986 LAFS Meeting.

http://www.forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeCV.htm 7/29/2010




George Schiro Curriculum Vilab O Papge 7 of 9

“An Improved Method of Glyoxylase | Analysis” co-presented with Joseph Warren at the Summer,
1986 LAFS Meeting.

ARTICLES PUBLISHED

“Forensic Science and Crime Scene Investigation: Past, Present, and Future” published in the Winter
2000 issue of American Lawman Magazine,

“New Crime Scenes — Same Old Problems” published in the Winter 1999 issue of Southern Lawman
Mugazine.

“Shoeprint Evidence: Trampled Underfoot” published in the Fall 1999 issue of Southern Lawman
Magazine.

“LASCI: A Model Organization” published in the Summer 1999 issue of Southern Lawman Magazine.

“Applications of Forensic Science Analysis to Private Investigation” published in the July 1999 issue of
The LPIA Journal,

TRAINING CONDUCTED

Have conducted training at the following seminars and have trained the following organizations and
agencies in crime scene investigation, forensic science, and/or the collection and preservation of
evidence: Fourth and Seventh International Conferences of Legal Medicine heid in Panama City,
Panama; U.S. State Department’s Anti-Terrorism Assistance Program Police Executive Seminar;

Intellenet 27" Annual Conference; AAFS; American Chemical Society; AFDAA; Forensic Science
Education Conference; SAFS; Southern Institute of Forensic Science; University of Nevada Las Vegas
Biotechnology Center;, Professional Private Investigators Association of Colorado; Indiana Coroner’s
Training Board; DNA Security, Inc. Open House; South Carolina Corgners Association; Forensic
Symposia 2008 and 2010, North Georgia College & State University, Dahlonega, GA; Palm Bay Police
Dept., Palm Bay, Florida; CGEN 5200, Expert Testimony in Forensic Science, University of North
Texas Health Science Center, Ft. Worth, TX; Mississippi Society for Medical Technology; Forensic
Investigation Research & Investigation; La. State Coroners’ Association; Jefferson Parish Coroner’s
Office Eighth Annual Death Investigation Conference; Southern University Law Center, La. State
University Chemistry Department Seminar, Chemistry 105, Southeastem Louisiana University,
University of Louisiana at Lafayette Biology Club; Louisiana Homicide Investigators Association,
Louisiana Division of the International Association for Identification; U.S. Department of Justice La.
Middle District Law Enforcement Coordinating Committee Crime Scene [nvestigation Workshop; La.
State University’s Law Enforcement Training Program Scientific Crime Investigator’s Institute; La.
State University’s Continuwing Law Enforcement Education School; La. State Police Training
Academy’s Advanced Forensic Investigation School; La. District Atlorneys Association, La. Southeast
Chiefs of Police Association; Acadiana Law Enforcement Training Academy; Caddo Parish Sheriff’s
Office; Mystery Writers of America - Florida Chapter; NALI Continuing Education Seminars; TALI,
Lafayette Parish Sheriff’s Office; Iberia Parish Sheriff's Office; Jefferson Parish Sheriff’s Office
Training Academy; Kenner Police Dept.; St. Charles Parish SheniT"s Office; Terrgbonne Panish
Sheriff's Office; East Feliciana Parish Sheriff’s Office; Tennessee Association of Investigators; East

hitp://www. forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeCV.htm 7/29/2010
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Baton Rouge Parish Sheriff’s Office; West Baton Rouge Parish Sheriff's Office; Vermilion Parish
Shenff's Qffice; Washington Parish Rape Crisis Center Volunteers; Mississippi Professional
Investigators Association; East Baton Rouge Stop Rape Crisis Center Volunteer Physicians; Stuller
Place Sexual Assault Response Center Volunteers, Evangeline and St. Landry Parish Rape Crisis
Volunteers; Tri-Parish Rape Crisis Volunteer Escorts, LPIA; La. Foundation Against Sexual Assault;
Louisiana Society for Medical Technology; Baton Rouge Society for Medical Technology; Baton Rouge
Police Dept. Sex Crimes Unit, Crime Scene Unit, and Traffic Homicide Unit; Viclence Against Women
Conference; Family Focus Regional Conference; Our Lady of the Lake Hospital Emergency Room
Personnel; Sexual Assault: Effective Law Enforcement Response Seminar; La, State Police Training
Academy; La. Association of Scientific Crime Investigators (LASCI); LAFS; and the Basic Police
Academy (La. Probation and Parole, La. Dept. of Public Safety, La. Motor Vehicle Police, and La. Dept
of Wildlife and Fisheries).

PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

International Society for Forensic Genetics

International Association of Bloodstain Pattern Analysts (Full Member)

AAFS (Fellow)

American Board of Criminalistics (Molecular Biology Feliow)

American Soctety for Testing and Materials Committee E-30 on Forensic Sciences

AFDAA (Chairperson 2004-2005, Fellow)

Association for Crime Scene Reconstruction

SAFS

LAFS ( Editor of Nanogram, the official publication of LAFS - July 1994 to May 1998, President -
1990, Vice President - 1989) ‘

LASCI

OTHER ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Analyzed evidence and issued a report in the 1991 La. State Police investigation of the assassination of
U. 8. Senator Huey P. Long,

Contributing author to the Forensic Medicine Sourcebook, edited by Annemarie S, Muth,
One of several technical advisors to the non-fiction books Blvod and DNA Evidence, Crime-Solving

Science Lxperiments by Kenneth G. Rainis, O.J- Unmasked, The Trial,_The Truth, and the Media by
M.L Rantala and Pocket Partner by Dennis Evers, Mary Miller, and Thomas Glover.

One of several technical advisors to the fictional books Crusader s Cross by James Lee Burke,
Company Mun by Joseph Finder, Savage Art by Danielle Girard, and Bones in the Backyard by Florence
Clowes and Lois J. Blackburn.

Featured on the “Without a Trace” and "Through the Camera's Eye" episodes of The New Detectives
television show that first aired on the Discovery Channel. May 27, 1997 and June 11, 2002.

Featured on the “No Safe Place™ episode of Forensic Files that first aired on Court TV, Ianuary 3, 2007.

http://www.forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeCV. htm 7/29/2010
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Featured on the “Hung Up” episode of Extreme Forensics that first aired on the Investigation Discovery
Channe), October 13, 2008.

Featured on the “Knock, Knock, You're Dead” episode of /Forensic Factor that first aired on the
Discovery Channe! Canada, April 16, 2009,

Recipient of the second 'Young Forensic Scientist Award given by Scientific Sleuthing Review.
Formerly a columnist for Southern Lawman Magazine.

Authored and managed two federa! grants that awarded the La. State Police Crime Lab $147,000 and
$237,000 to set up and develop a DNA laboratory.

A member of the La. State Police Crime Lab’s ASCLD-LAB accreditation preparation committee.

Featured in the books The Bone Lady. Life as u Forensic Anthropologist by Mary Manhein, Rope Burns
by Robert Scott, Smilin Acres: The Angry Victim by Chester Pritchett, An /nvisible Man by Stephanie A,
Stanley, Soft Targets. A Woman 's Guide to Survival by Detective Michael L. Vamado, Kirstin Blaise
Lobato s Unreasonable Conviction by Hans Sherrer, Zombie CSU._The Forensics of the Living Dead by
Jonathan Maberry, and Science {liair Winners: Crime Scene Science by Karen Romano Young and
David Goldin,

* Featured on an episode of Split Scréen that first aired on the Independent Fiim Channel, May 31, 1999,

Featured as a character on the “Kirstin Lobato Case” episode of Guilty or Innocent? that first aired on
the Discovery Channel, April 1, 2005.

hitp://www.forensicscienceresources.com/GeorgeCV. htm _ 7/25/2010
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July 27, 2010

This is a supplemental report to the FSR 3-09 report issued 3/15/09 by George Schiro.

Case No.: FSR 3-09

Client: Palm Law Firm, Ltd., 1212 Casino Center Blvd,, Las Vegas, NV 89104

Client Case No.: C250630, Brian O'Keefe '

Dates Case Accepted; 1/26/09 and 7/14/10

Case Documentation Received and Examined By: George Schiro

Dates of Analysis: 1/31/09 to 3/15/09 and 7/18/10 to 7/27/10 :

Type of Examination Requested: Review case documentation, particularly the parts related to
collection and preservation of evidence and any information that might aid in scene analysis and

recanstruction,

Specimens Examined: Case documentation, photographs, and a DVD

Analytical Procedures: Reviewed and analyzed case documentation, photographs, and DVD.

Results:
1. There is no documnentation indicating that blood and urine specimens for toxicological

«  analysis were collected from Mr, O"Keefe in the hours immediately after the death of

Ms. Whitmarsh. , ,
2, The documentation indicates that the penile swabs collected from Mr, O’Keefe were

collected improperly.
3. The documentation indicates that Mr, O’Keefe had wounds to his right thumb and right

index finger.
4. Although a full crime scene reconstruction is not possible based on the case .

documentation, certain aspects of the scene following Ms. Whitmarsh's injury ca.n be
interpreted. e
5. The possibility of an accidental stabbing cannot be ruled out.

CONCLUSIONS:

1. Toxicology | L
Blood and urine specimens should have been collected from Mr. O"Keefe in the hours

immediately after the death of Ms, Whitmarsh. In potential homicide cases in which a-
suspect is arrested shortly after the killing, it is a useful practice to obtain blood and vrine
specimens from the suspect to be screened for the presence of drugs and alcohol.’ These .
blood and urine specimens could have been subjected to toxicological analysis and would
have provided a quantitative estimate of the amount of alcohol and drugs in Mr, O’Keefe's

! Fisher, Barry AJ., Techniques of Crime Scene Investigation, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2004, p. 3i5. o
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system. The presence or absence of drugs or alcohol in a person’s body and the issue of
whether the . S

. subject was under the influence of a drug is important in the legal defense of diminished
capacity cases.” In addition to alcohol quantification, Mr, O"Keefe’s blood and urine could
have also been tested for the presence of any hallucinogens or other mind altering - .,
substances. One of the specific objectives of the epplied science of forensic toxicology as
stated by the Society of Forensic Toxicologists, Inc. is interpreting, when experience allows,
the results of an analysis in terms of the effect of the substance(s) found on the behavior and
state of health of an individual.’ Without toxicology analysis and results, factors which may
have affected Mr, O'Keefe’s state of mind and behavior at the time of Ms. Whitmarsh’s

death will never be known,

2. Improper Evidence Collection . :

The penile swabs collected from Mr. O°Keefe were collected improperly. This improper
collection technique could have directly impacted the DNA results of the penile swabs
through cross contamination of samples. Cross contamination is defined as the unwanted
transfer of material between two or more sources of physical evidence.’ When the swabs
were collected, Mr. O'Keefe was handed the swabs by a Crime Scene Analyst (CSA) who
was wearing gloves. Mr, O’Keefe wes not wearing any gloves, his right hand was bleeding,
and he also had blood, most likely belonging to Ms. Whitmarsh, on his hands. Mr. O’Keefe
then swabbed his own penis using both hands, The swabs were then collected by the CSA.
The proper technique would have been for the CSA to collect the swabs while wearing
gloves. This would have prevented the possible transfer of blood and Ms, Whitmarsh’s DNA
from Mr. O’Keefe’s hands to the penile swabs,

An alternate method of collection would have been for Mr. O’Keefe to clean his hands-
and wounds after they had been documented and any potential evidence had been collected
from his hands. His wounds should have then been bandaged. He could have then been
provided with gloves and at this point he could havé swabbed himself under supervision,
Contamination control is essential to maintaining the integrity of evidence.’ The policy of
contamination control requires all personnel to follow procedures to ensure evidence:
integrity.® Contamination control procedures require that personal protective equipment,
such as gloves, are used to prevent contamination of personnel.’ _ .

The LVMPD Forensic Laboratory Report of Examination Biology/DNA Detail states that
Mr. O'Keefe’s penile swabs were negative for semen, but positive for blood, Because of the -
improper collection technique, it is unknown if this blood was present on his penis prior to
the swabbing or if the blood on the penile swabs was introduced during the swabbing, The
LVMPD Forensic Laboratory Report of Examination Biology/DNA Detail also states thata -

3 Ibid., pp.323-324, ‘

3 http:/fwww.soﬁ-tox.org/ContenUIntroducdonfﬁgureI.htm :

* Crime Scene Investigation: A Guide for Law Enforcement, Techrical Working Group on Crime Scene
Investigation, U.S Dept. of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justi ce, Rockville, MD,'p. 42,
3 Ibid, p, 24, . ; SR

¢ Ibid

T Ibid
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mixture of DNA was obtained from the penile swabs and Mr, O’Keefe and Ms, Whltma.rsh
cannot be excluded as contributors to this mixture. Because of the improper collection
technique, it is unknown if Ms. Whitmarsh’s DNA was present on his penis prior.to 1J:1_e
swabbing or if Ms. Whitmarsh’s DNA was introduced 1o the penile swabs during the .
swabbing. Evidence contamination is misleading to an investigation and it results in'an
inability on the part of the crime laboratory to evaluate the true meaning of forensrc results.®

3. Mr. ’Keefe’s wounds ‘

Based on the photographs examined, Mr, O'Keefe appeared to have two injuries on his
right hand, It appears as though he has a cut on the top joint of his right thumb and a cut
between the first and second joints of the right index finger. The exact mechanism by which
he received these injuries is unknown; however, given the presence of his blood on the light
switch in the bedroom, his blood on one side of the knife blade and on the handle of the
knife, and his blood on the pants found in the bathroom, then it is most likely that he
received these injuries around the same time that Ms, Whitmarsh received her 'Lnjmy He
could have received his injuries just prior to her injury, at thc same time as her injury, or
shortly after her injury.

One possibility is that these injuries were obtained after her injury, Other than bemg self-
inflicted or accidental, there appears to be no other mechanism as to how he wouId have .
received these injuries if they occurred after she received her injury.

Another possibility is that he received his injuries at the same time Ms. Whitmarsh
received her injury. This scenario is less likely than the other two scenarios given the
location of Mr. O’Keefe’s injuries, the angle of Ms, Whitmarsh’s wound, the lack of blood
that would have been on the kmife prior to her injury, and the fact that, according to the
autopsy report, no bones were struck. Injuries received by an assailant while stabbing
someone can be caused by a sudden cessation of motion due to unexpecte-dly hitting’ a bone
or other hard surface causing the hand to slide down on the blade and be cut.” Injury to the
assailant’s hand can also occur if the hand or handle of the knife becomes bloody @nd the
hand slides down the knife blade.'® Finally, the assailant could inadvertently stab himself
while stabbing the victim.!' If Mr, O’Keefe received his injuries at the same time that Ms.
Whitmarsh received her injury, then it would require that the knife have an unusual position
in his hand. Based on this scenario, then the injuries to both parties could have been‘the
result of an accident,

Another possibility is that Mr. O’Keefe received his injuries prior to Ms. Whmnarsh
receiving her injury. Defense wounds are wounds of the extremities incurred when an
individual attempts to ward-off a pointed or sharp-edged weapon. " Defense wounds are

¥ Moreau, Dale M., “Concepts of Physical Evidence in Sexual Assault Investigations,” in Practical Aspects of Rape

Investigation: A Mﬂlud!saq:-.linary Approach, Robert R, Hazelwood and Ann Wolbert Burgws eds., CRC Press
Boca Raton, FL, 1993, p, 73.

? James, Stuart H. K.lsh, Paul E., and Sutton, T. Pauletie, Principles of Bloodstain Pattern Anabms CRC Taylor &

Francis, Boca Rmon, FL, 2005, p 344,
" Ibid,
! Ibid,

' DiMaio, Vincent J. and Dominick, Ferensic Pathology, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2001, p. 215
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commonly found on the palms of the hands, due to attempts to grasp or ward-off the knife."
Mr. O’Keefe could have received his injuries as a result of trying to grasp or ward-off the
knife prior to when Ms. Whitmarsh received her injury. He could have received these injuries
while defending himself from a knife attack. This scenario is more likely than the scerario in
which he received his injuries at the same time that Ms, Whitmarsh received her injury.

4. Other notes of interest

The photographs do not indicate that Mr. O’Keefe was dripping blood around the erime
scene outside of the immediate area of the bed despite the fact that he had actively bleeding
cuts on his hand. He may have used something to slow down or temporarily stop the
bleeding, S

The following events cannot be sequenced. They all happened at some point, but not
necessarily in the order listed, ' S
The pillowcase was removed, possibly held together or bunched up, and then came in
contact with Ms, Whitmarsh’s blood. o
Ms. Whitmarsh received her injury, Mr. O°Keefe’s biood next came in contact with one
side of the knife blade, and then the pillowcase was placed or landed on the knife. '
Ms. Whitmarsh’s pants were removed afier they were saturated with blood and then
placed in bathroom. : ' '
Shoeprints were deposited after stepping in blood.

5. The possibility of an accidental stabbing —— .
The possibility of an accidental stabbing cannot be ruled out. One scenario that supports
an accidental stabbing is outlined in the third paragraph of “3. Mr. O'Keefe’s wounds.”
Other evidence supporting an accidental stabbing is the lack of defense wounds on Ms.
Whitmarsh’s extremities and the presence of a single stab wound, S

These results and conclusions are subject to alteration if any new or previously undisclosed _
information is provided. S

George Schiro, MS, F-ABC
Forensic-Scientist

B 1bid
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Todd Cameron Grey, M.D,
Address: : s
Work: Medical Examiner=g Office Home: 652 N, Little Tree Circle -
State of Utah Salt Lake City, Ut, 84108

48 N, Medica) Drive

Salt Lake City, Ut. 84113
(801)-584-8410

Fax: (801)-584-8435

Pre-medical Edueation:
% Yale University - B.A. 1976 Anthropology

Medical Education:
e cauaton;
$ Dartmouth Medica) School - M.D, June, 1980

Hospital Training:

3 Intern Anatomic Pathology - U.C.S.D. 1980-1981
8 Resident Anatomig Pathology - U.C.S.D. 198 1-1982

Past Emgloxment:

$ Staff Anatomic Pathologist
Rehoboth McKinley Christian Hospital 1982-1985
$ Designated Pathologist
Office of the Medica] Investigator
MecKinley County, New Mexico 1983-1985
$ Associate Medical Examiner
Dade County M.E.=3 Office 1985-1986
$ Clinical Assistant Professor
University of Miami Schoo] of Medicine 1985.1986
X Assistant Medical Examiner and Deputy Director
Office of the Medical Examiner, State of Utah 1986-1988
XClinical Assistant Professor
Dept. of Pathology, University of Utah Schoo] of Medicine 1986.1992

Current Emplo ment:
5 Chief Medica] Examiner
Office of the Medical Examiner - State of Utah

$ Adjunct Associate Professor of Pathology
University of Utah School of Medicine

Certification:

Updated July 9, 2010
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$ National Board of Medical Examiners, Diplomate, August 1, 1981 #238440.""
% Board Certified, Anatomic and Forensic Pathology, June 20,1986 T

Licensure:
$ State of Utah No. 86-17491-1205
$ Previously licensed in Californig and New Mexico

Honors and Awards:
$B.A. cum laude with Honors in the major
$ M.D. Dean=s Honor Roll
S A O.A. Honor Society

Professiona) Society Memberships;
5 National Association of Medica] Examiners
% American Academy of Forensic Sciences
$ Utah Society of Pathologists

Committees and Consultantships:

$ Sudden Infant Death Syndrome Advisory Committee
Utah Department of Heath, 1986 to 2005

$ Vital Statistics Task Force-Death Certificate Revision Committee
Utah Department of Health, August-December 1987

$ Department Improvement Committee
Utah Department of Health, April-August 1988

$ Architect Selection Board for Medical Examiner Facility L
Division of Facility and Construction Management, State of Utah, April-May 1988

$ Information Technology Task Force -
Assigned to review Dept. of Health data processing systems and make

recommendations  for improvement, July to December 1992

§ Child Fatality Review Committee o o
Multi-Agency Board to review deaths of children in Utah, Novernber 1991 to present

$ Infant and Fetal Death Technical Review Committee o
Utah Department of Health, Division of F. amily Health Services, August 1992 to '
September 1995 :

. 3 Residency Committee .
Department of Pathology, University of Utah School of Medicine, June 1990 to present $
Tasked to rewrite various statues concemning the collection and use of data by the state

health department, August-September 1995 S
% Suicide Prevention Task Force S
Legislatively mandated committes tasked with providing recommendations on ways to
reduce the number of suicides that occur in Utah, July - November 1999 '
$ Intermountain Tissue Center Scientific Advisory Board .
Provides advice and expertise on issues related to tissue harvesting. October 2000 to
2006

Updated July 9, 2010
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$ Electronic Death Registration Advisory Committee B
Provide advice and expertise for the development of a web based electronic death

Tegistration system November 2004 to August 2006 _
$ National Violent Death Registration System Advisory Committee R
Provide advice and expertise in the process of data collection and analysis of violent

deaths in Utah July 2005 to present

Presentations:
$ Grey, T.C. AKearns Mid-Ajr Collision-The Role of the Medical Examiner in Aircraft

Disasters@ Aircraft Disaster Seminar, Jackson Hole, WY., October 1987

$ Grey, T.C. APreserving the Scene@ and AMechanisms of Injury@
Eighth Annual Life Flight Conference, SLC, UT., March 1989

$Penny, J.A., Grey, T.C,, and Sweeney, E.S. ACause of Death: Venomous Snake Bite,
Manner of Death: Homicide@ Presented by Grey, T.C. at the 40™ Annual Meeting of
American Academy of Forensic Sciences, Philadelphia, Pa., F ebruary 1988

$ Grey, T.C. and Schnittker, 8.I. AA Fow] Deed at the Aviary@ .
National Association of Medical Examiners 1989 Annual Meeting, Sanibe]
Island, FL., October 1989

% Grey, T.C. AEquivocal Deaths: >What=s the Manner With You?=@ o
5% Annual National Conference on Serial Murders, Unidentified Bodies and
Missing Persons, Nashville, Tn., March 1993

S Grey, T.C. AMechanisms of Injury and Their Medicolegal Significance@ _ .
1993 Clinical Care Conference: Transport and Care of the Critically Injured,
Snowbird, Ut,, May 1993 AR

X Grey, T.C. AHighway Accident Deaths: The Role of the Medical Exaniner and 3
Plea to Change Utah Law@ -
Northwest Association of Forensic Sciences-Fal] Meeting, SLC, Ut,, October
1996

XGrey, T.C., ASudden Infant Death Syndrome@ . "~
Family Practice Grand Rounds, Salt Lake Repional Medical Center, SLC, Ut,

June 1957 ,
Pediatric Grand Rounds, Primary Children=s Medical Center, SLC, Ot, -

September 1957
S Grey, T.C. AThe Pediatric Autopsy: Role of the Medica] Examiner@ .
Pane] Discussion-Pediatric Grand Rounds, Primary Children=s Medical Center,

Undated July 9, 2010
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SLC, UT., October 1997

$ Grey, T.C. AForensic Issues for First Responders@, AGunshot Woundse, ASharp Force
Injuries@ and ABlunt Force Injuries@ o

26" Annual Intermountain EM.§ Conference, SLC, UT., November 14 - 15,2002

% Grey, T.C. ACSI Utah - The Investigation and Interpretation of Equivocal Deaths@
Intermountain Critical Care Conference. Salt Lake City, UT. October 28, 2005

$ Grey, T.C. AForensic Pathology® Idaho Council on Domestic Violence and Victim
Assistance, Boise ID, June 7, 2006 s

Publications:

5 Sweeney, E.S. and Grey, T.C. ALetter to the Editor-SIDS@ New England Journal of
Medicine Vol. 315, No. 26, Dec. 25, 1986, .

§ Grey, T.C. and Sweeney, E.S, APhysicians and the Death Penalty (letter)@. -
West. J. Med. 1987, July 147:207,

3 Sweeney, E.S. and Grey, T.C. ACause of Death-Proper Completion of the'Dea.t“h '
Certificate (letter)@ JAMA Vol, 258, No. 22, Dec. 11, 1987 L

$ Grey, T., Mittleman, R., and Wetli, C.: AAortoesophageal Fistuiae and Sudden Deﬁth:
A Report of Two Cases and Literature Review@® Am. J. of Forensic Medicine and
Pathology Vol. 9, No. 1, March 1988 pp 19-22. S

S Andrews, I M., Sweeney, E.S, and Grey, T.C. AHelp, I=m Freezing to Death@ ASCP
Forensic Pathology Check Sample, F.P. 90-5 (Accepted April 8, 1988), .

# Grey, T.C. and Sweeney, E.S. APatient Controlled Analgesia (letter)e JAMA Vil 259,
No. 15, April 15, 1988. o

$ Andrews, J M., Sweeney, E.S., Grey, T.C. and Wetzel, T. AThe BjohmrdPoténtial of

Cyanide Poisoning During Postmortem Examination@ J, of Forensic Scierices Vol. 34,
No. 5, September 1989 pp 1280-1284, o

» Grey, T.C. ADefibrillator Injury Suggesting Bite Mark@ Am. J. of Forensic Medicine
and Pathology Vol. 10, No. 2, June 1989 pp 144-145, T

5 Grey, T.C. ABook Review: Salamander: The story of the Mormon Forgenr_jMurders, _
(Stiltoe and Roberts)@ J. of Forensic Seiences Vol. 34, No. 4, July 1989 pp 1044, -

$ Grey, T.C. AThe Incredible Bouncing Bullet: Projectile Exit Through thaEn[rﬁu_cc
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Wound@ J. of Forensic Sciences Vol. 28, No. 5, September 1993, pp 1222.

$ Grey, T.C. AShaken Baby Syndrome: Medical Controversies and Thélr ﬁole m’
Establishing AReasonable Doubt8@ ChJId abuse Prevention Council Newsletter, May

1998.

$ CDC (Grey, T.C. - contributor) AFatal Car Trunk Entrapment Involving Children
United States, 1997-1998" MMWR Vol. 47, No. 47, 1998 pp 1019-22 - ‘

$ Grey, T.C. AUnintentional and Intentional Injuries@ in Understanding Pathoghyswlogy
{Second Edition), McCance, K. L. and Huether, S. E., Mosby, St. Louis; 2000,

§ CDC (Grey, T.C. - contributor) AHypothermia Related Deaths - Utah, 2000 and United
States, 1979 -1998" MMWR Vel. 51, No. 4, 2001 pp 76-78 :

$ Bennett, P.J., McMahon, W.M., Watabe J., Achilles J., Bacon M., Coon H.,
Grey T, Keller T., Tate D. Tcac:ucl Workman J. and Gray D. ATryptopharl
Hydroxy!ase Polymorphrsms in Suicide Victimsg, Psychiatr. Genet, 2000
Mar;10(1):13-7.

$ Boyer, R. S., Rodin, E. A. & Grey, T.C. AThe Skull and Cervical Spiné -
Radlographs of Tutankahem: A Critical Appraisale Am. J. of Neuroradlol 24:
1142-1147, June/July 2003 . :

$ Caravati, EM,, Grey, T.C., Nangle, B., Rolfs, R.T. & Peterson-Porucznik, C. A.
Alncrease in Poisoning Deaths Caused by NOII-]HIClt Drugs C Utah, ]99182003"
Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report. January 21, 2005/ Vol. 54 / No. 2

$ Callor, W. B., Petersen, E., Gray, D. , Grey, T. C., Lameroux, T & Bennet P.
APreliminary Findings of Noncomphance with Psychotropic Medication and
Prevalence of Methamphetamine Intoxication Associated with Sunc:Ide@ Cns:s

2005; Vol 26 (2): 78 - 84.

Seminars and other training activities:

$ ADetermination of the Cause and Manner of Death@ Presented July 1988 at Utah
Peace Officers Association Annual Conference, Wendover, Nevada. '

$ Alnjuries due to Gunfire, Sharp and Bluni Forces@ Eight hour prescﬁtation to
Wyoming Coroner=s Basic Certification Course. Wyoming Law Enforcement -

Academy, Douglas, Wyoming, February 26, 1991, March 23, 1993 and June 17,
1996 S
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$ ADeath Investigation@ Eight hour course for law enforcement prof‘esswnals on
investigative techniques and pathologic findings.
Cedar City, Utah, April 5, 1591,
St. George, Utah, April 10, 1992,
Vemnal, Utah, June 5, 1992.

S APathological Techniques for Discovering Non-Accidental Causes of Death in
Children@. Prosecution Council Training Seminar on Child Sexual Abuse and

Child Fatalities, Snowbird, Utah, June 18, 1991.

$ AShaken Baby Syndrome-The Role of the Medical Examiner@. Child Abuée
Prevention Council of Ogden, Weber State University, Ogden, Utah, August 6,
1992

§ AMechanism, Cause and Manner of Death: The Proper Completion of the Death
Certificate@ Pediatric Grand Rounds, University of Utah Medical Cemer Sa!t
Lake City, Ulah, February 22, 1993,

5 AS.LD.S. and The Office of the Medical Examiner@ Utah Department of Health
Symposium on 8.LD.S. for Public Health Nurses, Salt Lake City, Utah, March 30,
1993, _

g APatterns of Injury: Investigative Challenges@ Federal Bureau of Imrestzganbn-
College of American Pathologists Course AMedicolegal Investigation of Death &
Injury in Child Abuse and S.1.D.S.@ Salt Lake City, Utah. August 14, 1995

8 AFire Related Deaths@ Salt Lake City Fire Department, September 12, 1995,
Also presented to Idaho Chapter, International Arson Investigators, November 7,

1996,

$ AForensic Medicine: The Vital Link in Orgar/Tissue Donation@ Intennountmn
Orpan Recovery Systems Educational Symposium, Salt Lake City, Utah_, Mﬂy 6
1997, ‘

= AWhat Your Pathologist Can and Can=t Do For You@@
Utah Prosecution Council Prosecutor Training Course. Layton, UT, Septembcr

18,2003

5 AProsecutors and the Office of the Medical Examiner@ Utah Prosecunon Councﬂ
Homicide Conference. St. George, UT. November , 2008 ' :

Updated July 9, 2010




Curriculum Vitae - Todd C. Grey, M.D. 0 Page 7
QOther Activities:
$ Initial design development and participation in oversight of des1gn and

construction of a new 18,000 sq. ft. facility for the Office of the Mcdlcal .
Examiner, State of Utah, 1989-1991. Lo

Development, purchase and implementation of Macintosh? based computer
system for the Office of the Medical Examiner, State of Utah, 1989-1991,

Completion of Series I and 11 of Certified Public Manager=s Course. University
of Utah and Utah Department of Human Resource Management. November
1995, :

Development, purchase and implementation of MS Windows?7 based cormputer
system for the Office of the Medical Examiner, State of Utah, .1996- 1997

Development of web based Medical Examiner database and case management
program, State of Utah, 2009 :

Updated July 9, 2010
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L@yIS F. MORTILLARO, PH.Ig)
501 South Ranche Drive, Suite F-37 '
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106
(702) 388-9403 FAX (702) 388-9643
E-Mail:mortpsych50] @AOL.COM

LICENSURE:

- Psychologist, State of Nevada, 1987, license number PY0159
* Marriage & Family Therapist, State of Nevada, 1985, license number 310

ARFEAS OF SPECIALIZATION:

* Clinical - Counseling Psychology

* Clinical Neuropsychology

 Clinical Health and Rehabilitation Psychology
* Family Psychology

PROFESSIONAI, CREDENTIALS & CERTIFICATIONS: e

1984: National Certified Counselor, Nationa) Board for Certified Counselors,
certificate number 447 .
1988: Diplomate, American Academy of Pain Management, certificate number 144
1996: Diplomate, American Board of Forensic Examiners, certificate number 2118
1996: Diplomate, American Board of Forensic Medicine, certificate number 1393
1996: Fellow and Diplomate, American Board of Medical Psychotherapists,
certificate number 2096 ‘
1996: Disability Analyst and Fellow, American Board of Disability Analysts,
certificate number 3536 '
1957: Diplomate of the American Board of Psychological Specislties
- Forensic Neuropsychology, certificate number 6112
. FamilyMaﬁtal)lJ')omestic Relations Psychology, certificate number 6112

PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIALS:

- California Life Credential in Pupil Personnel Services with Specializations in : o
Psychometry, Counseling, Social Work and Attendance, 1971, certificate number 104682

- California Life Credential in Adult Education Subjects (Basic Education, Biology, Chemistry,
General Sciences, French and Social Sciences), 1969, certificate number 293258

EDUCATIONAL HISTORY:

Post Graduate Certificate of Specialization in Clinical Neuropsychology
The Fielding Institute, Senta Barbara, California
Dates Attended: February, 1996 - January, 1998
Major: Clinical Neuropsychology .
Course Work: 40 semester units

] 2000 hour practicum

200 hours of clinical case supervision

Date Certificate Conferred: January 24, 1998

Ph.D., United States Internatione] University, San Diego, California
Major: Professional Psychology :

Minor: Clinical Psychodiagnostics

Dates Attended: 1976 - 1978

Date Degree Conferred: June 11, [97§
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M.P.A., University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California
Major: Public Adminjstration

Minor: Criminal Justice Adminjstration

Dates Attended: 1974 - 1975

Date Degree Conferred: Janvary 29, 1975

M.8.Ed., University of Southem California, Los Angeles, California
Major: Counseling Psychology

Minor; School Psychology

Dates Attended: 1967 - 1971

Date Degree Conferred: August 30, 1968

B.S. Loyola University of Los Angeles, California
Major: Biology
Minor: Chemistry/Philosophy

Dates Afttended: 1962 - 1966
Date Degree Conferred: june 3, 1966

INTERNSHIPS:
Predectoral Internship (2500 hours)
1976 -1978

* Clark County Juvenile Court
Las Vepas, Nevada

Supervisors: Patrick Maloney, Ph.D.
Verdun Trione, Ed.D.

Supervised forty hour per week practice of conducting psychological evaluations and performing
psychotberapy for juvenile delinquents, status offenders, and abandoned, neglected, and abnsed
children and their family members in a juvenile court setting. Also, provided - case
consultation/conferencing and training for a staff of institutional youth counselors and probation and
parole officers, as well a5 provided expert court testimony as requested. '

* CareUnit Program
Lake Mead Hospital
North Las Vegas, Nevada

Supervised six hour per week practice of conducting psychological evaluations, as well -ag
performing individual, group and family psychotherapy and consultation/conferencing services in
an inpatient hospital setting for substance abusers. : :

Postdoctoral Internship (2500 hours)
1978 - 1980

- Jean Hanna Clark Rehabilitation Center
Las Vegas, Nevada

Supervisor: Verdun Trione, Ed.D.

Supervised forty hour per week practice of conducting psychological, neuropsychological,
presurgical and vocational evaluations; provided biofeedback therapy and individua]f_group. .

Curriculum Vitae
Louis F. Mortillaro, Ph.D3,
. Page?
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psychotherapy to help clients cope with pain and psychosocial issues rejated to physical djsabﬂity;
performed case consultation/conferencing within a multidisciplinary evaluation and treatment team
setting in a rehabilitation center for industrially injured workers : -

Schaol Psychology Internship {708 hours)

1971

+ Pasadena Unified School Distrct
Pasadena, California

Supervisor:  Allen Webb, Ph.D.
O'Neal Varner, M.A. (350 supervised hours)

Conducted psychoeducational evaluations for school-aged students to identify levels of fearru’ng
disability, emotional disturbance, and attention deficits, Communicated test results and developed

remedial recommendations through use of a written report and verbal presentation during
participation in case conferences with teachers, parents, and school adnrinistrators.

1972

» Clark County Juvenile Court
Las Vegas, Nevada

Supervisor: Allen Webb, Ph.D. (350 supervised hours)

Conducted psychological evaluations for school-aged students involved with the Clark County
Juvenile Court as an adjudicated delinquent, child in need of supervision, or a child abandoned,

neglected, or abused by their parents. Written test results were submitted to the Juvenile Court

Judge, hearing master, probation and parale officers, parents, and the Clark County School District
foruse in developing prescriptive remedial educational and behavioral changing treatment programs.

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

1989 - Presem
Private Psychology Practice

As part of a diversified outpatient and hospital practice, the following psychological services are
provided not only for self-referred clients, but also upon referral from physicians, chiropractors,
insurance claims adjustors, nurse case managers, psychological colleagues, attorneys, the courts,
private industry, and the public sector.

Clinical Assessments: Forensic Assessments:

- Neuropsychological - Competency

* Psychological - Death Penalty Mitigation
* Presurgica) - Dangerousness

* Vocational * Fitness For Duty

' Bubstance Use » Child Custody

* Pain Management - Public Safety Officer Post Job Offer Screening -

Curriculum Vitae
Louis F. Mortillaro, Ph.D.
Page 3
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Clinical Treatment: Clinical Consultation/Conferencing With: . -

+ Individual Psychotherapy » Physicians

* Group Counseling - Psychological cnI]eagues

- Family Counseling - Lawyers, judges, appeals and heanng officers -
» Marital Counseling * Claims adjusters and/or nurse case managers -
* Biofeedback Therzpy * Physical and occupational therapists

* Psycha Education * Clients and client family members

- Vocational rehabilitation counselors

Psychological services provided are for clients referred from the following practice areas and present
with a nuimber of medical and psychosocial problems: _

- Hospital practice
Health South Rehabilitation Hospitals
* Head trauma
* Post-surgical rehabilitation
* Spinal cord injuries
- Cerebrovascular accidents

Medical/Surgical Hospitals' (UMC, Valley, Himana, Mountain View, Desent Springs, and
Summerlin)
* Post-surgical recovery
+ Trawma recovery
' Fountain Ridge Alcoholism Center
* Substance abuse/dependence detoxification process
- Full range of psychological disorders

Montevista Psychiatric Hospital
Adult Inpatient
Adult Qutpatient

- Forensic Practice
; _ » Clark County Public Defender
- Capital Murder
+ Competency to stand trial and assist counse)
- Sexual dangerousness
* Clark County Special Public Defender
+ Capital Murder
* - Death penalty mitigation
* Clark County District Attorney
* Sexua} abuse
* Domestic violence
* Capital murder
- Defense and Plaintif’s Attorneys
+ Traumatic brain injuries
- Motor vehicle accidents
* Slip and falls
» Toxic exposure
* Comnpetency lo manage one's own affairs
- Clark County Family Court
- Child custody
- Parental fitness
+ Parent-child reunification
* Special Master/Coparenting Coordinator

Curriculum Vitae
Louis F. Mortillaro, Ph.D.
Page 4
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€ L
Private Industry

Fitness For Duty Evaluations
Work place violence potential

Public Agencies B
Fitness For Duty evaluations for the Mesquite, Nevada, State of Nevada Department of

Public Safety, Henderson, Nevada, State of Nevada Department of Risk Managemerit and
City of Las Vegas Personne) Department :

1995 - 2002
Psychology Dlrector

NovaCare Pain Emd Rehabilitation Center

Provide clinjcal health and rehabilitation psychological services for NovaCare's CARF accredited
Pain and Rehabilitation Center's Chronic Pain Management Program including conducting

. psychological and neuropsychological evaluations; providing individual and group pain and stress
management counseling, biofeedback therapy and psychoeducational lechires; and performing
psychalogical consultation/conferencing with physicians, claims examiners, nurse case manggers,
rehabilitation counselors, attomneys, hearing officers and appeals officers. Clinic was closed in

December 2003.

1995 - present
Post Job Offer Psychological Evaluator

On an as-needed basis, provided pre-employment conditional job offer screening and evaluation

services for public safety personnel (police officers, corrections officers and police officer cadets),
meeting the standards of the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990 and Civil Rights Act of 1991.

Served the following police departments:
1995 - 1998 - Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department
2005 - present - Mesquite Police Department
2006 - present - City of Henderson Police Department

1990 - 1995
Co-Owner/Psychology Direcior

Injury Management Associates of Nevada, dba Nevada Pain and Rehabilitation Center, Lﬂs Vegas,
Nevada (sold to NovaCare Outpatient Rehabilitation Division - May, 1995) P

The Nevada Pain and Rehabilitation Center was Southern Nevada's first privately owned
multidisciplinary CARF accredited rehsbilitation center providing evaluation and ireatment
programs for chronjc pain management, injury management, pain counseling, work hardening/work
simulation, and singular service medical, psychological, physical and occupational - therapy
treatments primarily for industrially injured workers. o

Clinical services provided included, for industrially injured workers, conducting psychological,
presurgical and neuropsychological evaluations; providing individual and group pain and stress
management counseling, biofeedback therapy and patient education lectures; performing
psychological consultation/conferencing with physicians, claims examiners, nurse case managers,
rehabilitation counselors, judges, attorneys, hearing officers and appeals officers. '

Cuomriculum Vitae
Louis F. Mortillaro, PhD.
- Page 5
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Administrative duties included, in association with partner, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, assisted in planning, organizing and directing the medical, paramedical and
support staff of fifty employees; preparing and administrating he corporate budget; approval of
purchase of capital items and supplies; recruiting, hiring and training of staff, specifically
psychologists, test examiner, and biofeedback therapist; setting work standards and: evaluating
employee performance; establishing policies and procedures; participating the senior management
team and executive committee meetings; maintaining public contact with referring sources; and
coordinating the public relations and marketing efforts.

1985 - 1994

Owner/Consuoltant
Children's Qasis Schools, Inc.
. Las Vegas, Nevada

Co-owner with spouse of two preschool and day care centers located in Spring Valley and The
Lakes, Las Vegas. The Spring Valley School had a continuous enrollment of 100 children and The
Lakes School served an average of 220 children, As owner, facilitated the recrvitment and
supervision of directers for the two schools, prepared and administered the corporate budpet, and
helped organize and irnplement the school cumiculuin. - The' Spring Valley Schoo! was sold in -
December, 1990 and The Lakes School was sold in April, 1394, o

1978 - 1989

Chief Psychologist
Jean Hanna Clark Rehabilitation Center
Las Vegas, Nevada

Pérfonned, the duties of Chief Psychologist in a multidisciplinary rehabilitation center owﬁcd and
operated by the State Industrial Insurance System (SI1S). S

Clinical duties included providing injured  workers psychological, presurgical  and
neuropsychological evaluations; individual and ETOUp pain and stress management counseling,
biofeedback therapy and psychoeducational lectures; and performing psychological consultation with
physicians, claims examiners, nurse case managers, rehabilitation counselors, judges, attomeys,
hearing officers and appenls officers. R

Administrative duties include: planning, organizing and directing services; recruiting, hiring and
training & staff of four psychologists, one test examiner, one biofeedback therapist, and four
secretaries; Setting work standards and evaluating employee performance: establishing polices and
procedures; serving on the senior management team and executive committee; maintaining public
contact with referring sources; and contributing to public relations and marketing efforts. :

1971 - 1978

Chiel Psychologist
Clark County Juvenile Court
Las Vegas, Nevada

Performed the duties of Chief Psychologist for Clark County Nevada's Juvenile C'-oilrt with juvenile
delinquents, children in need of supervision, and abandoned, neglected, and abused children.

Curriculum Vilae
Louis F. Mortillaro, Ph.D.
Page 6
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Clinical services included conducting psychological evaluations used in court placement disposition;
provided individual, grouwp and family counseling; performed psychological
consultation/conferencing with the probation, parole, institutional and judicial departments; collected
and analyzed data for research and evaluation designs of federally funded court programs; and
provided continuing education seminars for staff and educational instruction for youthful offenders

and their parents,

Administrative duties included planning, organizing and directing services; preparing and
administering the department budget; ordering supplies and equipment; facilitating the planning and
writing of Federal Grant proposals; coordinating work activities and maintaining extensive contact
with other court services and community agencies; recruiting, hiring and training of psychological
services staff; setting work standards and evaluating employee performance; im lementing employee
counseling, disciplinary or termination procedures where appropriate; colrected, analyzed and
utilized data in administrative and department accountability studies; serving on the Director's Senior

Management Team.

1969 - 1971

Adult Education Instructor o o o ‘
Work Incentive Program {partnership program between the Department of Employment and the
Department of Family Services) :

Los Angeles City Schools, Los Angeles, California

Teacher of basic education subjects, such as math; reading, English grammar and spelling to welfare
recipientsin a federglly ﬁmdqd program located in South Central Los Angeles (Watts area). Upon

successful completion of this educational remediation program, recipients were referred for
vocational rehabilitation training leading to re-entering the job market. oo

1968 - 1969

Employment Counselor
Department of Employment
East Los Angeles, California

Provided employment counseling and vocational testing with adults and .tcenage‘r's for job
development and placement services in the predominantly Hispanic community in east Los Angeles,
California. Administered and interpreted the General Aptitude Test Battery (GATB). - :

1967 - 1968

High Schoo! Teacher/Coach
Black-Foxe School, Los Angeles, Californija

Teacher of biology and general science subjects for students in grades 9-12. Also served as a varsiljr
track coach and counselor/faculty advisor to junior and senior classes. ' a »

SUPPLEMENTARY EMPLOYMENT HISTORY:

Medin Consulting;
2002 - Present

Associate Producer - Ask Rita Television Show
Martin Bergman and Rita Rudner, Producers

Cumriculum Vitae
Louis F. Mortillaro, Ph.D.
Page 7
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Part-Time College Teaching:
1976 - 1984

Park College School for Community Education:
Parkville, Missouri

* Adjunct professor of Psychology in the off campus program located at Nellis Air Force Base,

Nevada,

- Taught at least one undergraduate psychology class per semester from the Tollowing curriculum
offerings: Theories of Personality, Counseling Theory, Tests & Measurements, Special Topics
in Social Psychology and Independent Study.

+ Served as the Resident Academic Director providing curriculum accountability, teacher
evaluations, and teacher recruitment services in association with the resident program

adminisirator,
1978 - 1989

Nova University
Las'Vegas, Nevada

* Instructor in the off-campus gpraduate education curriculum taught in Las Vegas, Nevada.. -

* Taught classes in Stress Management, Human Sexuality, Parenta) Counseling, Exceptional
Children, Edueational Theory Into Practice and Administration and Supervision.

- Performed mentor and advisor services for students completing their master's project.

1973 - 1976

Clark County Community College
Las Vegas, Nevada

* Part-time Instructor of undergraduate courses. _
* Taught courses in criminal justice administration, general psychology, and the psychology

of adjustment.

1978 - 1979

New College/Stoner Chiropractic Faundation
Las Vegns, Nevada

* Instructor
* Taught courses in behavioral science applications for chiropractic doctors enrolled in a
continuing education program co-sponsored by the Stoner Chirepractic Foundation & New

Coliege.
1977

College of Great Falls, Montana
Great Falls, Montana

- Instructor Co
- Taught a winter quarter class (intense format) titled “Using Community Resources (Including
- Diversion)” for the State of Montana probation officers, youth institution supervisors, and

- aftercare workers.

Curriculum Vitae
Louis F. Menrtjllaro, Ph.D.
Page 8
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@ ®
1972 - 1986

University of Nevada, Las Vegas
Las Vegas, Nevada

* Part-time Instructor . _.
" Taught undergraduate course in Stress Management and graduate courses in Family -
Dynamics, Counseling in Agencies, and Special Probiems in Family Dysfunction. a

1986 - 1990

Golden Gate University
San Francisco, California
* Part-time Instructor '
» Tanght graduate level courses in research design and statistics in the MBA/MPA
program located off campus at Forl Irwin, California; Edwards Air Force Base, Califomia;
Neliis Air Force Base, Nevada; and George Air Force Base, Victorville, California.

Training dnd Consultation ‘Services:
Provided educational seminars and orgénizational consulting for the following clients; -

* lllinois Probation Council, 1976 - 1978 . .

* National Council of Juvenile & Family Court Judges, 1976 - 1978
* Tropicana Hotel, 1986 - 1988 -

*EG&G, 1981 - 1986

* Sands Hotel, 1988 .

* Mardi Gras Best Western Hotel, 1981 - 1989

* Clark County School District, 1974 - 1978

- Home of the Good Shepherd, 1976

* Furnace Creek Inn (Death Valley), 1989 - 1996

* Nevada Industrinl Commission, 1979 - 1987

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS/ACTIVITIES:

* Member - American Psychological Association
Division memberships:
Counseling Psychology
Clinical Neuropsychology
Psychologists in Independent Practice
Family Psychology '

* Nevada State Psychology Association:
1991 - 1992: Treasurer and Executive Committee Member,
2001 - 2002: President elect and Executive Comunittee member,
2002 - 2003: President and Executive Committee member,
2003 - 2004: Past President and Executive Commitiee member.

* The American Pain Society

* Intemational Association for the Study of Pain

- Society for Behavioral Medicine

* Intemational Neuropsychology Society

- National Academy of Neuropsychology

- Coalition of Clinical Practitioners in Neuropsychology (Charter Member)

Cumriculum Vitae
Louis F, Mortillaro, Ph.D.
Page 9
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- Reitan Society (Charter Member)

- Assaciation for Applied Physiology and Biofeedback

" The American Association for Marriage & Family Therapy (Clinical Member)

* Phi Delta Kappa - University of Southern California Chapter

* Phi Kappa Phi - University of Southern California Chapter

» The American Acedemy of Pain Management

* Program Committee Member (term: 1997 - 2000) - Division of Counseling Psychology
of the American Psychological Association

PUBLICATIONS:

Martillaro, Louis F,

Trione, Verdun and
Mortillaro, Louis F,

Mortillaro, Louis F,
and Carmany, James P,

Moriillaro, Louis F.
Mortillaro, Louis F,

Moirtillaro, Louis F.

Mortillarp, Louis F.

Mortillaro, Louis F,
and Stoner, Fred L.

Fisher, Ronald, Mortillaro, Louis. F.,
and Johnson, Donald

Mortillaro, LouisF.

Curmiculum Vitae .
Louis F. Mortillaro, Ph.D.
Page 10

. Ppo278-285.

Mastering Math: Manual For Testing and Reinforcement

Exercises, Santa Ane, California: Methods Research
Associates, Inc, 1971. L

"Measuring Professional Performance of Counselors by

Objectives" in Trione,  Field Events and Theory for

Counselors, Xerox College Publishing, Lexington, 1975,

"Service Accountability Model for the Juvenile Justice
System," Juvenile Justice, May 1975, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp.
35-39. _

"The Behavioral Accountability Progrém," ~ . Iuvenile
Justice, August, 1975, Val. 26, No, 3, pp. 24-30. - =

"Behaviaral Negotiation Process,” The Group Leader's
Workshop, No. XXIIT, November 1977, pp. 5-6.

“The Use of Psychological Services in a Juvenilé Court
Setting,” Juvenile Justice, May 1978, Vol. 29, No. 2, pp.
7-12. B -

"An Analysis of California Psychological Inventory
Factors in Predicting and Differentiating betweer Juvenile

- Delinquents and Status Offenders," Unpublished Ddctoral

Dissertation, San Diego, California, June 1978.

"Personal Evaluation of Doctors of Chiropractic Enrolled
in a Continuing Education Program," - The Digest of
Chiropractic Economics, November/December, 1978,
Yolume 21, Number 3, pp. 24-25. A S

"A Discussion on the Behavioral Medicine Apfﬁ-oa‘ch 1o
the Treatment of Chronic Back Pain,"” Neyada Personnel

and Guidance Journal, November 1979, Vol. 1, pp. 15-23,

"A Coordinated Personnel System for Hiring Chiropractic
Assistants and Chiropractic Technicians,” The ACA
Joumal of Chiropractic, June 1980, Vo). 17, No. 6, pp.
30-32. - '
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- MEMBERSHIP ON COMMUNITY BOARDS (Pastand ent):

Youth Charities of Southermn Nevada

Big Brothers/Big Sisters of Southern Nevada (past President)
Boys & Girls Club of Southermn Nevada

HELP, Inc.

Nevada Association for the Handicapped

Mispsh House

Nevada Network Against Domestic Violence

Fraternal Order of the Desert Big Horn Sheep -

Nevada Boys & Girls Club of Henderson, Nevada

STATE BOARD OF PSYCHOLOGICAL EXAMINERS APPOINTMENT:

Nevada State Board of Psychological Examtiners
First Term: December 14, 1992 to June 30, 1995
Second Term: July 1, 1995 to June 30, 2000
President of Board: July 1, 1998 to June 30, 2000

MEDIA APPEARANCES:” =

Interviews for local television newscasts
Interviews on local radio shows

HONORS AND AWARDS:

Congressional Recognition - Hon. Jon C. Porter (U.S. Congressman) - Recognition as one Df the
original founders of Big Brothers & Big Sisters of Nevada (11/05/05) S
Psychologist of the Year, Nevada State Psychological Associetion (2003) .

Qutstanding Service Award - State of Nevada Board of Psychological Examiners (1992- 2000)
Qutstanding Service Award - Board of Directors, Boys & Girls Club of Henderson, Nevada 2004
Ouf.standmg Service Award - Board of DlI‘EC(OI'S Boys & Girls Club of Southem Nevnda (1952)
Outst?ndmg Service Award - Board of Dlrectors Big Brothers/Big Sistérs of Southern Ne,vada
(1978/1983) :

Track Coach of the Year - Prep League in Los Angeles, California (1968)

Qutstanding Student Legislator - Loyola University of Los Angeles, California {1965)

PRESENTATIONS:
1971 - Present Presentation of numerous in-service training sessions for governmental -
agencies/private businesses on a variety of psycholdgical issues
1976 Youth in Trouble Conference: The Adolescent With Leamning Disabilities, Las Vegas
Nevada November 4-6, 1976
Presentation: “The Agencles Speak” '
1977 Third Annual Western Regional Conference: “Humanistic Approaches in Behavwr
Modification” Las Vegas, Nevada March 10-12, 1977
- Chairperson: Homework in Counseling & Psychotherapy The Use of Systematic Planned
Assignments to Promote Transfer and Enhance Efficiency -
1978 APGA Convention - Washington, D.C., March 20-24, 1978 “The Behawora]Accuuntabxhty
‘ Program”
1979 APGA Convention - Las Vegas, Nevada April 2-5, 1979 '
“The Behavioral Assessment Model: Counselor and Client Accoumﬁbzhry Before the Fact”
“An Analysis of California Psychologicel Inventory Factors in Differentiating and Predlctmg
. Between Status Offenders and Juvenile Delinquents” , :

Cwiriculum Vitae
Louis F. Mortiilaro, Ph.D.
Page 11
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1999 CCBA Family Law Seminar .
New Approach; Child Custody Evaluations and Alternative Solutions

February 5, 1999

1980 Nevada State Psychological Association Annual Conference Facilitator: Ethical Issues in

Clinica) Practice, May 21, 1999
2003 17" Annual Low Back Pain Conference, Las Vegas, Nevada
June 27-29, 2003
Program Title; Psychologzca] Testing: Short & Long Version
2006 State Bar of Nevada 17 Annual Family Law Conference
Program Title: Child Custody: A Local Perspective
Served as a presenter/panel discussant
March 17, 2006, Ely, Nevada
2006 Nevada Rehabilitation Center's Continuation Education Class
Las Vegas, Nevada, April 20, 2006
Program Title: Psychologlcal Injuries Due ta Auto Accidents
2007 U.S. District Court - District of Nevada 2007 District Conference’
Program Title: Anger Management to Reduce Stress & Avoid Ethical Problems
Served as guest speaker May 3, 2007, Las Vegas, Nevada
2007 The National Divorce Skills Institute - 2007

- Program: The Role of The Child Custody Evaluation, Common Diagnostic Tools Used and

How Their Function is Carried Out
Served as guest speaker, September 10, 2007, Las Vegas, Nevada,

Curriculum Vitae
Louis F. Mortillaro, Ph.D,
Page 12
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SPECIAL PUBLIC
DEFENDER

CLARK COUNTY
NEVADA

RECEIVED
b o T 282008

N O

oo -1 v

AN

® ORIGINAL

NOTC FILED
DAVID M. SCHIECK |
SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER fes 20 3 4o Pl 09
State Bar No. 0824
EANDALL H. PHI(E blic Defend

ssistant Special Public Defender é/ J
Nevada Bar No. 1940 //cl.—,‘.._//
Patricia A. Palm CLERK OF THE COURT

Deputy Special Public Defender
State Bar No. 6009

330 South Third Street, 8th Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89155

702; 455-6265

702) 455-6273 fax
rpike@co.clark.nv.us
palmpa@co.clark.nv.us
Attorneys for O'KEEFE

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO. C 250630

STATE OF NEVADA,
DEPT. NO. XVil

Plaintiff,
VS,
BRIAN O'KEEFE #1447732,

Defendant,

NOTICE OF DEFENDANT’S EXPERT WITNESS
[NRS 174.089(2)]

DATE:
TIME:

TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, Piaintiff, and

TO: DAVID ROGER, District Attorney, Attorney for Plaintiff

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant, BRIAN
O’KEEFE, by and through his attorneys, DAVID M. SCHIECK, Special Public Defender,
RANDALL H. PIKE, Assistant Special Public Defender, and PATRICIA A. PALM, Deputy

Special Public Defender, intends to call an expert witness in her case in chief as follows:
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SPECIAL FUDLIC
DEFENDER

CLARK counTy
NEVADA

= "h- L B W b

1. GEORGE SCHIRO, 5004 W. Admiral Doyle Dr., New Iberia, LA 70560, an expert
in forensic science. Should this witness testify, he will testify in the area of crime scene
analysis, crime scene investigation, processing of crime scenes, collection and preservation
of evidence, latent print comparison, footwear examination, and DNA evaluations and will give
opinions related thereto.

2. DR. JOHN HIATT, 8180 Placid St., Las Vegas, NV 89123, a Consulting
Toxicologist in effects of Alcohol, effects of Spironolactone, Traxopone, Venlafaxine, and
combinations of the above in an individual.

3. BARRY BATES, 2022 Pinion Spring Dr., Henderson, NV 89074, a
biomechanical engineer.

A copy of the expert witnesses’ curriculum vitae is attached hereto.

DATED this 20" day of February, 2009,

SPECIAL PUBLIC DEFENDER
DAVID M. SCHIECK

RANDALL H. PIKE

PATRICIA A, PALM

330 South Third Street, Ste 800
Las Vegas, NV 89155-2316
(702) 455-6265

Attorneys for O'Keefe

RECEIPT OF COPY
RECEIPT of a copy of the Notice of Expert Witnesses is hereby acknowledged.
DATED: # 80  200s.
DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S OFFICE

00 Lewis Ave., 3rd Floor
Vegas NV B9155
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é GEORGE SCHIRQO, MS, F-ABC
CONSULTING FORENSIC SCIENTIST
FORENSIC SCIENCE RESOURCES™
P.O. Box 188
CADE, LA 70519 USA
CELL: (337) 322-2724
E-MAIL: Gjschiro@cs.com

EDUCATION

Master of Science, Industrial Chemistry - Forensic Science

Including five hours of credit in Forensic DNA Analysis of Biological Materials and
accompanying lab course, three hours of credit in Quality Assurance and Bioinformatics, three
hours of credit in Biochemistry, two hours of credit in Forensic Analysis of DNA Data, and three
hours of credit in Experimental Statistics

University of Central Florida, Orlando, FL.

Bachelor of Science, Microbielogy
Including three hours of credit in Genetics
o Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, La.

PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATION

Molecular Biology Fellow of the American Board of Criminalistics

PROFESSIONAL TRAINING ATTENDED

October 2007 “Integrity, Character, and Ethics in Forensic Science” — Instructor: Dan B.
Gunnell, Louisiana Association of Forensic Scientists (LLAFS) Fall 2007
Mecting, Baton Rouge, LA

February 2007 “Anatomy of 2 Wrongful Conviction: A Multidisciplinary Examination of
the Ray Krone Case™ — Co-chairmen: George Schiro and Thomas Stread,
American Academy of Forensic Sciences Meeting, San Antonio, TX

February 2006 “Solving the South Louisiana Serial Killer Case — New Approaches
Blended With Older Trusted Techniques® Co-chairmen: George Schiro
and Ray Wickenheiser, American Academy of Forensic Sciences (AAFS)
Meeting, Seattle, WA
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“National Forensic Science Technology Center (NFSTC) Auditor
Workshop” — Instructors: Mark Nelson, John Wegel, Richard A. Guerreri,

and Heather Subert '

“CODIS v5.6 Software Training” — Instructor: Carla Heron, Baton Rouge,
LA

"DNA Auditor Training” - Instructors; Richard A. Guerreri and Anja
Einseln, Austin, TX

“Statistical Analysis of Forensic DNA Evidence” - Instructor: Dr. George
Carmody, Harvey, LA

“Association of Forensic DNA Analysts and Administrators (AFDAA)
Workshops” - Instructors: 8, Cribari, Dr, T. Wang, and R. Wickenheiser,
Austin, TX

“Basic Forensic DNA Analysis” - Instructor: Dr, Pat Wojtkiewicz, Baton
Rouge, LA

DNA Workshop
AAFS Meeting, Reno, NV

“Advanced AmpFESTR™ & ABI Prism™ 310 Genetic Analyzer
Training” - Instructor: Catherine Caballero, PE Biosystems, Baton Rouge,
LA

“DNA Typing with STRs - Silver Stain Detection Workshop” -
Instructors: Dr. Brent Spoth and Kimberly Huston, Promega Corp.,
Madison, WI

“Laboratory Auditing” - Instructors; Dr. William Tilstone, Richard Lester,
and Tony Longhetti, NFSTC Workshop, Baton Rouge, LA

“Torensic Microscopy™ - Instructor; Gary Laughlin, McCrone Research
Institute, La. State Police Training Academy, Baton Rouge, LA

“Presenting DNA Statistics in Court” - Instructors: Dr, Bruce Weir and Dr,
George Carmody, Promega Symposium, Scottsdale, AZ

“TForensic DNA Analysis” - Instructors: Pat Wojtkiewicz and Michelle
Gaines, North La, Crime Lab, Shrcveport, LA

DNA Workshop
AAFS Meeting, New York, NY
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“Forensic DNA Testing” - Instructors: Dr. Yim Karam and Dr. Sudhir
Sinha, Tulane University Medical Center, New Orleans, LA

“Bloodstain Pattern Analysis and Crime Scene Documentation”
Instructors: Paulctte Sutton, Steven Symes, and Lisa Elrod
North La. Crime Lab, Shreveport, LA

“Introduction to Forensic Fiber Microscopy” - Instructor: Skip Palenik
Acadiana Crime Lab, New Iberin, LA

DNA Workshop
AAFS Meeting, Nashville, TN

“Personality Profiling and Crime Scene Assessment” - Instructors: Roy
Hazelwood and Robert Ressler, Loyola University, New Orleans, LA

“Basic Forensic Serology”
FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

DNA Workshop - Instructor: Anne Montgomery, GenTest Laboratories
Southern Association of Forensic Scientists (SAFS) Spring Meeting,
Savannah, GA

Attended the Second International Symposium on the Forensic Aspeets of
DNA Analysis, FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

“Introduction to Human Immunoglobulin Allotyping” - Instructor: Dr.
Moses Schanfield, AGTC, La. State Police Crime Lab, Baton Rouge, LA

Bone Grouping Techniques Workshop - Instructor: Dr. Roberl Gaenssien
and Dr. Henry Lee, University of New Haven, New Haven, CT

Attended the International Symposium on the Forensic Aspects of DNA
Analysis, FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

DNA Workshop
SAFS Fall Meeting, Clearwater, FL

“Non-Isotopic Detection of DNA Polymorphisms” - Instructor: Dale
Dykes, AGTC, North La. Crime Lab, Shreveport, LA

“Microscopy of Hairs” - Instructor: Skip Palenik
North La. Crime Lab, Shreveport, LA

Page 3 of @

Updated November 19, 2007

002527



April 1988 “Analysis of Footwear and Tire Evidence” - Instructors: Max Courtney
o and Ed Hueske, North La. Crime Lab, Shreveport, LA
September 1987 Introduction to Forensic Genetics Workshop - Instructor: Dr. Moses

Schanfield, SAFS Fall Meeting, Atlanta, GA

March 1987 Isoelectric Focusing Workshop
SAFS/SWAFS/SAT Combined Spring Meeting, Baton Rouge, LA

June 19386 Attended the International Symposium on Forensic Immunology
' FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

February 1986 “*Collection and Preservation of Physical Evidence” - Instructor: Dale
Moreau, FBI School, Metairie, LA

August 1985 “Atomic Absorption in Determining Gunshot Residues”
FBI Academy, Quantico, VA

April 1985 “Arson Accelerant Detection Course” - Instructors: Rick Tontarski, Mary
Lou Fultz, and Rick Stroebel, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms
(BATF) Lab, Rockville, MD

° July 1984 “Questioned Documents for the Investigator’ - Instructor: Dale Moreau
FBI School, Baton Rouge, LA
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
2002 - present Acadiana Criminalistics Laboratory — New Iberia, LA

An ASCLD-LAB accredited laboratory

Employed as a Forensic Chemist - DNA Technical Leader. Duties include incorporating
the DNA Advisory Board (DAB) standards, accountability for the technical operations of
the lab's biology section, conducting DNA analysis using the 13 STR core loci in
casework, DNA research, forensic science training, and crime scene investigation.
Qualificd as an expert over 130 times in 28 Louisjana parish eburts, one Florida county
courl, one Mississippi county court, one Missouri county cour!, one Nevada county court,
federal court, and two Louisiana city courts. Has qualified as an expert in the following
areas; latent fingerprint devclopment; scrology; crime scene investigation; forensic
science; trajectory reconstruction; shoeprint tdentification; crime scenc reconstruction;
bloodstain pattcrn analysis, DNA analysis; fracture match analysis; and hair comparison.
Has also consulted on cases in 17 states and the United Kingdom. Worked over 2600
cases. Independently contracted DNA technical auditor with NFSTC and Forensic Quality
Services. Contracted DNA Technical Leader to the Southwest La. Crime Lab in Lake
Charles, LA. Is also a member of the La. Foundation Against Sexual Assault (LAFASA)
Training Team.
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1988 - 2001 Louisiana State Police Crime Lab - Baton Rouge, LA
o An ASCLD-LAB accredited laboratory

Employed as a Forensic Scientist 2. Duties included incorporating the DNA Advisory
Board (DAB) standards and conducting DNA analysis using the 13 STR core loci in
casework. Duties have also included setting up and developing mcthods for the analysis
of blood and body fluids using biological, chemical, mijcroscopic, immunelogical,
biochemical, electrophoretic, and isoelectric focusing techniques: applying these methods
to criminal investigations; and testifying to the results in court. Additional duties included
crime scene investigation/reconstruction; latent print development; fracture match
comparison; projectile trajectory determination; shoeprint comparison; hair examination:
blood spatter interpretation; and training personne! in various aspects of forensic science.

1984 — 1988 Jefferson Parish Sheriff’s Office Crime Lab — Metairie, LA

Employed as Criminalist (1). From 11/85 to 4/88 duties included collection and analysis
of blood, body fluids, hairs, and fibers using microscopic, immunological, biochemical,
and chemical techniques. Also testificd to the resuits of these analyses in court. Trained
under Senior Forensic Biologist Joseph Warren, From 6/84 1o 10/85 duties included
marijuana analysis, arson analysis, gunshot residue detection, hit and run paint analysis,
and development of latent fingerprints. Trained under Lab Director Ron Singer.

o PROFESSIONAL PAPERS

“Criminalistics Errors, Omissions, Problems, and Ethical Issues” presented as part of the
“Anatomy of a Wrongful Conviction: A Multidisciplinary Examination of the Ray Krone Case™
workshop at the 2007 AAFS Meeting in San Antonio, TX and as part of the LAFS Fall 2007
Mceting in Baton Rouge, LA,

“Using the Quality Assurance Standards for Forensic DNA Testing Laboratorics to Distinguish
the Unqualificd Forcnsic DNA Experts From the Qualified Forensic DNA Experts” presented at
the 2007 AAFS Meeting in San Antonio, TX and at the AFDAA 2007 Winter Meeting in Austin,
TX. -

“Investigative Uses of DNA Databases” presentcd as part of the “Solving the South Louisiana
Serial Killer Case — New Approaches Blended With Older Trusted Techniques™ workshop at the
2006 AAFS Meeting in Seattle, WA,

“Trace DNA Analysis: Casework Experience” presented as a poster at the 2004 AAFS Meeting
in Dallas, TX and as a talk at the July 2003 AFDAA Meeting in Austin, TX. Also presented as
“Interesting Casework Using AmpFISTR® Profiler Plus® and COfiler® Kits” at Applied
Biosysterns' “Future Trends in Forensic DNA Technology,” September, 2003 in New Orlcans,
LA.
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“Extraction and Quantification of Human Deoxyribonucleic Acid, and the Amplification of
Human Short Tandem Repeats and a Sex Identification Marker from Fly Larvae Found on
Decomposing Tissue™ a thesis to fulfill one of the Master of Science requirements. Suceessfully
defended on July 13, 2001 at the University of Central Florida, Orlando, Florida. Presented at the
2004 AAFS Meeting in Dallas, TX, the Spring 2002 La. Association of Forensic Scientists
(LAFS) Meeting, and the January 2003 AFDAA Meeting in Austin, TX.

“Administralive Policies Dealing with Crime Scene Operations” published in the Spring 1999
issue of Sourhern Lawman Magazine,

“Shooting Reconstruction - When the Bullet Hits the Bone™ presented at the 10th Anniversary
Convention of the La. Private Investigators Association (LPIA)/National Association of Legal
Investigators (NALI) Region IV Seminar, September 13, 1997, New Orleans, LA. Licensed as
continuing education for Texas Private Investigators by the Texas Board of Private Investigators
and Private Security Agencies. Published in the Fall 1998 issue of Southern Lawman Magazine,

“Using Videotape to Document Physical Evidence” presented at the Seventh Annual Convention
of the LPIA/NALI Region [V Seminar, August 16, 1996, New Orleans, LA, Licensed as
continuing education for Texas Private Investigators by the Texas Board of Private Investigators
and Private Sccurity Agencies. Published in April 1997 issue of The LPI4 Journal, An edited
version was published in the Winter 1998 issue of Southern Lawman Magazine.

“Collection and Preservation of Blood Evidence from Crime Scenes” distributed as part of a
blood collection workshop held at the Jefferson Parish Coroner’s Eighth Annual Death
[nvestigation Conferenee, November 17, 1995, Harahan, LA. Presented as continuing legal
education by the La. Bar Association. Electronically published on the World Wide Web at the
Crime Scene Investigation Web Page (http:/police2,ucr.cdu/csi.htm). Published in the
September/October 1997 issue of the Journal of Forensic Identification. Referenced in the 7
edition of Techniques of Crime Scene Investigation by Barry A.J. Fisher.

“Collection and Preservation of Evidence” presented at La, Foundation Against Sexual
Assault/La. District Attorneys Association sponsored conference, “Meeting the Challenge:
Investigation and Prosecution of Sex Crimes,” March 3, 1994, Lafayette, LA, Presented as
continuing [egal education by the La, Bar Association. Published in the Forensic Medicine
Sourcebook. Electronically published on the World Wide Web at the Crime Scene Investigation
Web Page (hitp://police2.ucr.edw/csi.htm). Also published in Nanogram, the official publication
of LAFS. A modified version of the paper was presented at the Sixth Annual Convention of the
LPIA, August 19, 1995, New Orleans, LA; the NALI Region 1V Continuing Education Seminar,
March 9, 1996, Biloxi, MS; and the Texas Association of Licensed Investigators (TALI) Winter
Seminar, February 15, 1997, Addison, TX. Published in the July/August 1996 issue and the
September/October 1996 issue of The Texas Investigator. Elcctronically published on the World
Wide Web at TALI's Web Page (http://pimall.com/tali/evidence html). Published in the May
2001 issue of The fnformant, the official publication of the Professional Private Investigators
Association of Colorado. An updated version was presented at La. Foundation Against Sexual
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Assault/La. District Attorneys Association sponsored conference, “Coliaborating to STOP
0 Violence Apainst Women Conference,” March 12, 2003, Lafayette, LA.

“The Eftects of Fecal Contamination on Phosphoglucomutase Subtyping” presented at the 1989
AAFS Meeting held in Las Vegas, Nevada and at the Fall, 1987 SAFS Meeting held in Atlanta,

Georgia.

“A Report on Gamma Marker (Gm) Antigen Typing” presented at the Fall, 1986 SAFS Meeting
held in Auburn, Alabama and at the Summer, 1986 LAFS Meeting.

“An Improved Method of Glyoxylase I Analysis” co-presented with Joscph Warren at the
Summer, |36 LAFS Meeting.

ARTICLES PUBLISHED

“Forensic Science and Crime Scene Investigation: Past, Present, and Future” published in the
Winter 2000 issue of dmerican Lawman Magazine.

“New Crime Scenes — Samc Old Problems™ published in the Winter 1999 issue of Sourhern
Lawman Magazine.

“Shoeprint Evidence: Trampled Underfoot” published in the Fall 1999 issue of Southern
o Lawman Magazine,

“LASCI: A Model Organization” published in the Summer 1999 issue of Southern Lawman
Muagazine.

“Applications of Forcnsic Scicnee Analysis to Private Investigation” published in the July 1999
issue of The LPIA Journdl,

TRAINING CONDUCTED

Have conducted training at the following seminars and have trained the following organizations
and agencics in crime scene investigation, forensic science, and/or the collection and preservation
of evidence: Fourth and Seventh International Conferences of Legal Medicine held in Panama
City, Panama; U.S. State Department’s Anti-Terrorism Assistance Program Police Executive
Seminar; AAFS; American Chemical Society; AFDAA; Forensic Science Education Conference;
SAFS; Southern Institute of Forensic Science; University of Nevada Las Vegas Biotechnology
Center; Professional Private Investigators Association of Colorado; Indiana Coroner’s Training
Board; DNA Security, Inc. Open House; Palm Bay Police Dept., Palm Bay, Florida; CGEN 5200,
Expert Testimony in Forensic Science, University of North Texas Health Science Center, Ft.
Worth, TX; Tennessee Association of Investigators; Mississippi Society for Medical
Technology; La. State Coroners’ Association; Jefferson Parish Coroner’s Office Eighth Annual
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Death Investigation Conference; Southern University Law Center; La. State University
Chemistry Department Seminar; Chemistry 105, Southeastcrn Louisiana University; University
of Louisiana at Lafayette Biology Club; Louisiana Division of the International Association for
Identification; U,S. Department of Justice La. Middle District Law Enforcement Coordinating
Committee Crime Scene Invcstigation Workshop; La. State University’s Law Enforcement
Training Program Scientific Crime Investigator’s Institute; La, State Unjversity's Continuing
Law Enforcement Education School; La. State Police Training Academy’s Advanced Forensic
Investigation School; La. District Atlorneys Association; La. Southeast Chiefs of Police
Association; Acadiana Law Enforcement Training Academy; Caddo Parish Sheriff's Office;
Mystery Writers of America - Florida Chapter; NALI Continuing Education Seminars; TALI;
Lafayette Parish Sheriff’s Officc; Iberia Parish Sheriff's Office; Jefferson Parish Sheriff's Officc
Training Academy; Kenner Police Dept,; St. Charles Parish Sheriff’s Office; Terrebonne Parish
Sheniff’s Office; Fast Feliciana Parish Sheriff’s Office; East Baton Rouge Parish Sheriff’s Office;
Vermilion Parish Sheriff's Officc; West Baton Rouge Parish Sheriff's Office; Washington Parish
Rape Crisis Center Volunteers; Mississippi Professional Investigators Association; Fast Baton
Rouge Stop Rape Crisis Center Volunteer Physicians; Stuller Place Sexual Assault Response
Center Volunteers; Evangeline and St. Landry Parish Rape Crisis Volunteers; Tri-Parish Rape
Crisis Volunteer Escorts; LPIA; La. Foundation Against Sexual Assault; Louisiana Society for
Medical Technology; Baton Rouge Society for Mcdical Technology; Baton Rouge Police Dept.
Sex Crimes Unit, Crime Scene Unit, and Traffic Homicide Unit; Violence Against Women
Conference; Family Focus Regional Conference; Our Lady of the Lake Hospital Emergency
Room Personnel; St. Martinville Chamber of Commercc; New Iberia Optimist Club; Sexual
Assault: Effective Law Enforcement Response Seminar; La. State Police Training Academy; La.
Association of Scientific Crime Investigators (LASCI); LAFS; and the Basic Police Academy
(La. Probation and Parole, La, Dept. of Public Safety, La. Motor Vehicle Police, and La. Dept of
Wildlife and Fisheries).

PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

International Society for Forensic Genetics

International Association of Bloodstain Pattern Analysts (Full Member)

American Board of Criminalistics (Molecular Biology Feliow)

AAFS (Fellow)

American Society for Testing and Materials Committee E-30 on Forensic Scicnces
AFDAA (Chairperson 2004-2005)

Association for Crime Scene Reconstruction

SAFS

LAFS ( Editor of Manogram, the official publication of LAFS - July 1994 10 May 1998, President
- 1990, Vice President - 1989)

LASCI

OTHER ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Analyzed evidence and issued a report in the 1991 La. State Policc investigation of the
September &, 1935 assassination o U. S. Senator Huey P. Long,
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Contributing author to the Forensic Medicine Sourcebook, edited by Annemarie S, Muth.

One of several technical advisors to the non-fiction books Bleod and DNA Evidence, Crime-
Solving Science Experiments by Kenneth G. Rainis, Q.J, Unmasked The Trial, The Truth, and
the Media by M.L.Rantala and Pocket Partner by Dennis Evers, Mary Miller, and Thomas
Glover.

One of several technical advisors to the fictional books Crusader’s Cross by James Lee Burke,
Company Man by Joseph Finder, Savage Art by Danielle Girard, and Bones in the Backyard by
Florence Clowes and Lois J. Blackburn.

Featured on the *Without a Trace” and "Through the Camera's Eye" episodes of The New
Detectives television show that first aired on the Discovery Channel, May 27, 1997 and June 11,
2002.

Featured on the “No Safe Place™ episode of Forensic Files that first aired on Court TV, January
3,2007.

Recipient of the second Young Forensic Scientist Award given by Scientific Sleuthing Review.
Formerly a columnist for Southern Lawman Magazine.

° Authored and managed two federal grants that awarded the La. State Police Crime Lab $147,000
and $237,000 to set up and develop a DNA laboratory.

A member of the La. State Police Crime Lab’s ASCLD-LAB accreditation preparation
committec.

Featured in the books The Bone Lady: Life as a Forensic Anthropologist by Mary Manhcin, Rope
Burns by Robert Scott, Smilin Acres: The Angry Victim by Chester Pritchett, An fnvisible Man by
Stephanie A. Stanley, and Soft Targets, A Woman's Guide to Survival by Detective Michael L.
Vamado.

Featured on an episode of Split Screen that first aired on the Independent Film Channel, May 31,
1999

Featured as a character on the “Kirstin Lobato Case” episode of Guilty or Innocent? that first
aired on the Discovery Channel, April 1, 2005.
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CURRICULUM VITAE

JOHN E. HIATT, PH.DD.
<

EDUCATION

Occidental College, Los Angeles, California 1959-1963
A. B. Degree with honors in chemistry,

Yale University Graduate School, New Haven , Connecticut 1963-1968
Ph.D. in organic chemistry.

POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING

Departinent of Chemistry, Stanford University

Stanford, California 54304 1968-1970 ‘
Position: Postdoctoral Research Fellow in

Organic Chemistry

Clinical Laboratory, University of California
Medical Center, San Francisco, California 94122 1971~1973
Position: Postdoctoral trainee in Clinical Chemistry

EMPLOYMENT

Quest Diagnostics, formerly known as Associated 1976 - Present

Patholagists Laboratories and American Medical

Laboratories, 4230 So. Burnham Ave., Suite 250, -
Las Vegas, NV 89118,

Position: Forensic Chemist: Respensible for Analytical

Protocols, Data Review, Client Consultation and

Expert Testimony. Solution of technical problems in

all areas of the laboratory.

¥alley Clinical Laberatories, 74-040 El Paseo, 1973-1976
Palm Desert, CA 92260.

Position: Clinical Chernist and Assistant Laboratoty

Director ~ Responsible for methods, instrumentation

and quality control.

OTHER

Qualified as an expert witness in the District Courts of
Clark, Douglas, Elko, Lyon, Nye and Washoe Counties
of the State of Nevada on the subject of analyses of drugs
and alcohol in Biological fluids and interpretation of seme.
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QUEST DIAGNOSTICS INCORPORATED

FORENSIC LABORATORY

STATEMENT OF GUALIFICATIONS

Name:John E. Hiatt, Ph.D.

Date: 04/17/08

Titie: Forensic Chamist

B ICE!MN THE FOLLOWING DISCIPLINES - -~ ... =« .
Centrolied Substan Blood Alcohol XXX

Toolmarks Breath Al¢ohol

Trace Evidence Argon Analysis

4

Toxicatogy XXX Firearms

Latent Prints Crime Scene Investigation .
Semlogy Clandestine Laboratory Respanse

- Team
Document Examination KXX DNA Anatysis .
i HIEDUYCATION -
Degree
Institution Dates Attended Major Completed

Oetldental Colldge, Los Angales, CA. 1983 Chemistry AB

Yale University Graduate School, 1968 Organie Chemislry Ph.D.

Connacti_c_ut : _

., {ADBITIONAL TRAINING .

o SEMINARS
Course / Seminar
Lacation Dates

Postdoctoral Ressarch Fellow in Organic | Department of Chemistry, Stanford | 1968-1870

Chemistry. University

Posldoctoral trainee in Clinical Chemistry | Clinical Laboratory, University of 1874-1873

Califomia Medical Centar

B OURTROOM FXORRIERCE
Number of
Caurt Discipling Titnes

Mstrict Count, Douglas, Elko, Lyon, Nye,
Washoe countias, Nevada.

Expert Wilness to testify regarding the analysis | Sevaral
and intempretation of aicohal and controlled
substances in biological samplas

Las Vegas Municipal Court, Nevada,

Erpert withess concerning analysls of alcohol Severel
and drugs of abuse,

T EMPLOYNENT HISTORY.
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Empleyer Job Title Date
Quesl Diagnostics Incorporated, Las Vegas, Technigal Director OB/76 to 04/02
Forenslc Chr'ni_%t 04/02 to Present
Valley Clinical Laboratorias, Palm Deser, CA Clintcal Chemist and Assistant Laboratory 0273 to DRI7E
Director

. r.. PROFESSIONALAFEICIATIONG

Organization Date

PUBLICATIONS / PRESENTATIONS

OTHER QUALIFICATIONS
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PROFESSIONAL VITA
BARRY T. BATES

PRESIDENT PROFESSOR EMERITUS
Human Performance & Wellness, Inc. University of Oregon

3265 Chambers Street, Suite 200 Eugene, Oregon 97403-1240
Eugene, Oregeon 97405-6004 c-mail; hpw{@mail.com
(541) 683-1935; (702) 450-4838 www hpwbiomechanics.com
EDUCATION

Princeton University; Princeion, NJ; 1960; B.S.E.

East Stroudsburg State College; East Stroudsburg, PA; 1970; M.Ed.

Indiana University; Bloomington, IN; 1973; Ph.D.
*Undergraduate Major Arca: Engineering
*Graduate Major Area; Human Performance; Biomechanics/Kinesiology
*Graduate Minor Area: Motor Leaming, Computer Science, Statistics and Design

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

2000- Adjunct Professor: University of Nevada-Las Vegas; Las Vegas, NV
1997- Professor Emeritus: University of Oregon; Eugene, OR
1996- President: Human Performance & Wellness, Inc.; Eugence, OR

19851996 Professor: University of Oregon, Director: Biomechanics Laboratory; Eugene, OR
1991-1996 Head: Dept. of Exercisc and Movement Science; University of Oregon; Eugene, OR

1984- President: BioDynamics Foundation; Eugene, OR

198490 Vice President: Bio-Dynamics Corporation; Eugene, OR

1982-84 Founder, President; Bio-Dynamics Corporation; Senior Scientist; Eugene, OR
1979-85 Associate Professor; University ol Oregon; Director: Biomechanics Lab; Evgene, OR
1974-79% Assistant Professor: University of Oregon; Dirccter: Biomechanics Lab; Eugene, OR
1973-74 Assistand Professor; University of Massachusetts; Amherst, MA

1970-73 Graduate Student: Indiana University; Bloomington, IN

1968-70 Director of Athletics: Blair Academy; Blairstown, NJ

1964-70 Teacher of Mathematics: Blair Academy, Head Coach, Football; Blairstown, NJ
1963-64 Teacher of Mathematics: Randor High School, Assistant Coach; Wayne, PA

1960-63 Officer; U.S. Navy

PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

American Academy of Kinesiology and Physicaf Education

American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Reereation and Dance
American Bonrd of Forensic Examiners

American College of Sports Medicine

American Society for Testing and Materials

American Sozicty of Biomechanics

Human Factors and Ergonomics Society

International Society of Biomechanics

International Society for Biomechanics in Sports

Society of Automotive Engineers

B.T. Bates, B.S.E,, Ph,D.
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SELECTED HONORS AND PROFESSIONAL RECOGNITION

Visiting Professor, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich, Switzerland, September, 1979,

Member, American College of Sports Medigine Committee on International Relations Delegation 1o the Soviet
Unien, Moscow, U.8,8.R,, October, 1979.

Invited Lecturer, Division ol Sports Medicine, American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons, "Biomcchanies of
Running: New Concepts”, San Francisco, CA, 1979,

Invited Lecturer, American Orthopedic Foot Society, Inc., Twelfth Annual Meeting, Biomechanics of the Foot
and Shoe Selection”, New Orleans, LA, 1982,

Keynote Address, International Symposium of Biomechanics Aspects of Sports Protective Equipment,
“Testing and Evaluation of Running Shoes", Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 1983,

Recipient, Runner's World "Spontsmedicine All-Star Team”, One of 25 international sports medicine experts
named by peers for "contributions 1o the physical and emotional health ol elite athlctes and
recreatienal runners, and to rapidly advancing sports medicine and knowledge™, 1984,

Invited Participant, NASA Glove Workshop, Sponsor: NASA Tech. Applications Team, Houston, TX, 1985.

Elecied Member, American Academy of Kinesiology and Physical Education, 1986,

Visiting Professor, Beijing Institute of Physical Education, Beijing, People’s Republic of China, July, 1988.

Lifetime Member, President's Associates, University of Oregon, 1992,

Keynote Speaker, International Society of Biomechanics in Sports, “[ndividual Accommodation Stratepies to
Running and Landing Impact Forces", Amherst, MA, 1993,

Inviled Lecturer, Biomechanics Academy Symposium, "Lower Extremity Function: Injury and Performance
Factors", Portland, OR, 1995,

Invited Speaker, Intemnational Cenference an Women, *Lower Extremity Function During Running and
Landing™ and “Landing Models: Evaluation of Elitc Volieyball Players”, Alexandria, Epypt, 1995.

Invited Speaker, American College of Sports Medicine, “Biomechanics of Running”, Cincinnati, OH, 1996.

Invited Speaker, American College of Sports Medicine, “The Value of the Individual in the Rescarch
Paradigm: Single Subject Methodology®, Cincinnati, OH, 1996,

Invited Speaker, Eighth National Measurement and Evaluation Symposium, “Experimental and Statistical
Design Issues in Heman Movement Research™, Corvallis, OR, 1996.

Selected as member of ASICS Iniemational Sport Science and Sperts Medicine Forum, 1996,

Cerified, Fellow ol the American Board of Forensic Examiners, 1997,

Recipient, Rurht B. Glassow Award, Contributions in Applied Biomechanics, Biomechanics Academy, 1995,

Keynote Speaker, Australasian Podiairy Conlerence, Methven, New Zealand, 1999,

Invited Pariicipant, Qregon State Bar Convention, “Using Expert Witnesses to Win®, Seaside, OR, 1599,

Scholar Lecturer, Texas Tech Univ, “The Hows and #hyy of Lower Extremity [njury”, Lubbock, TX, 2001.

Scholar Lecturer, University of Nevada Las Vegas, “Individual Accommodation 1o Running Injury”, Las
Vegas, NV, 2002.

Hall of Fame Inductee, Muhlenberg High School, Reading, PA, 2002,

RESEARCH, PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS

Actively involved.in rescarch in the aress of human performance (biomechanics and human factors} for 25
years, resulting in more than 120 academie publications and 200 presemations.

Dcveloped the Biomechanics Laboratory and co-developed the Biomechanics/Sports Medicine Laboratory,
Organized an interdisciplinary research team and was primary administrator for Iaboratory grants in excess of
one million dotars. For a comprehensive Jisting, please see http://darkwing. uarepon.edu/~bibates/vita.htin

B.T. Bates, B.S.E., Fh.D.
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THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

V5.,

BRIAN KERRY O'KEEFE,

Defendant.

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; TUESDAY, JANUARY 18, 2011

[Proceeding commenced at 8:38 a.m.]

THE COURT: Brian O’Keefe. Mr. O'Keefe is present in custody.
Ms. Palm. Mr. Lalli.

MS. PALM: Morning.

THE COURT: Morning. Time set for Calendar Call.

MR. LALLI: We're ready, Your Honor.

MS. PALM: Your Honor, we don’'t know whether we can be ready
or not because cur readiness depends on the ocutcome of the motions
that are set for Thursday.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, are you announcing ready assuming --

MS. PAIM: No. I'm saying that depending on how the Court
rules on Thursday, we may be seeking a Writ to the Nevada Supreme
Court, so I can't announce ready at this time because I don’t know
if we’re going to be able to go forward or not.

THE COURT: I don‘t know if you can get a stay in time to
stop the trial for Monday if you didn‘t -- 1f you attempted to get
a Writ. I know there’s a motion for new trial, motion to dismiss,
violation of double jeopardy. I think a motion for --

MR. LALLI: Bad acts.

THE COURT: -- kbad acts. I have -- I mean, I just glanced at
them because they’re on for Thursday that’'s why --

MR. LALLI: I can‘t see the Supreme Court interposing a stay

for any of those -- any ruling that the Court might offer so I
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don’'t see that as a reason as not setting this to go.

THE COURT: Well, if -- if I rule against you on the motions,
like I said I have not reviewed them more than a cursory glance, if
I rule -- if I deny the motions are you saying you would be -- you
would not be ready to go to trial?

MS. PALM: That's correct. We’ll be seeking a stay and we
will be petitioning --

THE COURT: But besides the stay --

MS. PAIM: -- for a Writ.
THE COURT: -- besides the stay, would you be ready? No,
‘cause I‘m not going -- more than likely I will not grant the stay.

Okay.

MS. PALM: Your Honor, I'm telling you that I don’'t know if I
can be ready because what witnesses we'’re going to need, what
investigation we might need to do depends on the outcome of your
other rulings.

THE COURT: My question is if I rule against you, okay, so I
deny your motions --

MS. PAIM: Yes.

THE COURT: -- are you ready to go to trial on Monday? I
understand you're going to file a Writ. Okay, and that’s your
right and I respect that. Okay.

MS. PALM: Okay.

THE COURT: But are you ready to go?

MS. PALM: If you ruled against us on all the motions, we
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would not be ready because we would need to do further
investigation that we at this point have had no reason to do. So
that’s why I'm saying I can’t announce ready.

THE COURT: Right. Well, then --

MS. PALM: If you rule in our favor, we will be.

THE COURT: I understand. Well, that’s going to affect one
of your -- part of your motions saying for delay of getting him to
trial. You’'re telling me that if I rule against you, you will not
be ready to go and this trial will have go be bumped.

MS. PALM: Well, Your Honor, the delay would have been caused
by the State, so it affects it in a way that it is even further
reason to bring our motion to dismiss for speedy trial violation.

THE COURT: Well, I don‘t grant motions for judicial economy.
Well, I'm just going to trail this calendar c¢all and if in another
case 1s -- 1f I have to set another case and that's going to
prevent this case from going next week.

MR. LALLI: Well, Your Honor, because there is a speedy trial
invocation in this case -- well, I guess it would be the defense
who's moving -- would be moving to continue, so that -- that would
kind of settle that issue.

THE COURT: Is that correct, Ms. Palm? So if I deny the
motions, you are moving to continue the trial?

MS. PALM: If you deny the motion, we will be -- if you deny
all of our motions, we will be requesting a stay.

THE COURT: I'm not -- I got that, but --
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M5. PAIM: Right.

THE COURT: -- you have to go up to the Supreme Court and
they have to grant the stay within ‘cause your motions are on
Thursday. You have to get something out Thursday afternoon.
Assuming they rule on Friday which I can’t envision that, but on
Thursday if I deny your motions just so I know you'll be moving to
stay?

MS. PAILM: Yes.

THE COURT: I mean, moving to continue?

MS. PALM: Well --

THE COURT: I understand you want the Writ. I understand you
want the motion to be granted. I'm not saying they won’'t be. If I
deny the motions, Thursday you're going to move to continue the
trial?

MS. PALM: I weuld say that it’s a State caused continuance,
but yes I would be telling the Court I would not be ready to go and
we would have to reset it.

THE COURT: I understand. You're chooging your words
carefully and I understand where you’re coming from. I just want
to make sure.

All right, we’ll just pass this calendar call to
Thursday and just go from there.
MS. PALM: Thank you.
THE COURT: All right.

MR. LALLT: Thank you.
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THE COURT: Thank you.
THE CLERK: January 20, 8:15.

[Proceeding concluded at 8:43 a.m.]

 * ok 0k *

ATTEST: I hereby certify that I have truly and correctly
transcribed the audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case

to the best of my ability. ;;EEE;;%;;%%%%:::>

.
ichelle Ramsey
Court Recorder/Transcriber
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; THURSDAY, JANUARY 20, 2011

[Proceeding commenced at 9:47 a.m.]

THE COURT: All right. Which -- Mr. Lalli, you said you’'re
handling -- we have the trial issue of double jeopardy, the State’s
notice of expert witness and speedy trial. Now you said Ms.
Mercer’s going to handle one of those or two of those issues?

MR. LATLLI: Well, the -- our bad acts motion and the
expertise she is going to handle.

THE COURT: Okay. BSo we can handle the other matters --

MR. LALLI: Yes.

THE COQURT: -- while we're waiting for her?

MR. LALLI: Yes.

MS. PALM: And, Your Honor, I want to be forthright with the
Court before we get started because I realize it may affect your
decisions in some of this, but at this point just the way this case
has progressed, Mr. Keefe -- 0’'Keefe continues -- we’'re asking for
a continuance for the purpose of preparing a Writ.

And the reason for that is the whole double jeopardy
issue, you know, if that goes against us, but also some of the
other issues that came up in trial last time with jury instructions
and then the most recent ruling by this Court on January 13",

I think that Mr. O’'Keefe’s been tried twice. He
doesn’'t feel like he’s had a fair trial either time. And versus

risking going through another one where he might come back for a
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fourth, he would like me to pursue a Writ to the Supreme Court and
get some of these things settled by the Court.

We still would like a rulings on the other things and I
realize that that might affect some of our arguments with respect
to the late timing of discovery and all that before this Court, but
I wanted the Court to know that we are asking for that a short a
continuance for purposes of doing a Writ.

THE COURT: Okay. You had requested that last Court
appearance and I had denied that request.

MS. PALM: I didn‘t actually request it.

MR. LALLI: I think the request was for a stay technically so
that she could file a Writ --

THE COURT: Right.

MR. LALLI: -- Your Honor.

With respect to the continuance, I can just --

THE COURT: ©No. I'm not geoing to grant a continuance for the
sole purpose of filing a Writ with the Supreme Court.

MR, LALLI: Right. That would be our pesition as well. I
understand that if -- if the Court is inclined to grant some of the
bad act or all of the bad acts we’'re requesting, I think that is a
different situation with respect to the discovery issue that
apparently has evolved, so I think that's --

M5. PALM: And --

MR. LALLI: -~ that’'s a different -- different situation.
MS. PALM: -- and I would just like to make a little bit
3
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better record on that. T wasn’t technically asking for a stay the
other day. I wasn’'t sure, you know, how it was going to go, but
the reason that I was not able to do a Writ earlier was because we
didn’t even have the transcripts in this case until late November.

And just because of my trial schedule and calendar, it
took me, you Know, December to get through reading the transcripts
and then I didn‘t really see a very strong basis that we should
proceed with the Writ with the Supreme Court versus get ready for
trial and I can’'t do both. 2And then I didn’'t know until the 37
that they were going to be asking for their new expert. And I
didn’t know until the 7" that they were going to be asking for
these other bad acts. And I didn’t know until the 13*" that they
were going to be able to introduce some of the bad act evidence
that they introduced last time. So, I just did not have time to
prepare a Writ earlier and that’s why I'm asking for a continuance.

THE COURT: All right. And I had the motions here and I have

to tell you the -- the issues I have reviewed -- researched on this
matter dealt with the retrial, double jeopardy, expert and speedy
trial right violation. And for whatever confusion on my part, I
did not for whatever reason review the motions to admit evidence of
other bad acts. I can review that and we can further argue that at
perhaps 1:30 this afternoon.

All right. So let’s deal with the -- we’ll start --
first issue, Ms. Palm, was retrial as it violates double jeopardy.

MS. PALM: Court’s indulgence.

002548




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Okay. I think, Your Honor, the last trial the State
introduced not only other bad acts that hadn’t been noticed before,
but it also repeatedly tried to introduce this evidence of domestic
violence and the cause of domestic violence and made an argument
about domestic violence; and the Court had ruled that they should
not do that and they did it any way, but they were limited on their
felony that was admissible for motive and intent, but they kept
trying to rely in propensity by their argument and it was improper
argument and it became clear after the fact when they’ve now -- now
they’re seeking to remedy what they couldn’t do before.

Last time they couldn’t have called an expert. They
didn’'t notice one. They couldn’t have introduced bad acts. They
didn’'t notice it. So, by their -- by their now recent trying to do
all this stuff, it’s very evident that they were risking a mistrial
and a hung jury. They didn’t have -- they weren’t prepared to do
what they were supposed to do.

The case laws very clear on that they don’t get to have
a -- a free ride trial risking a mistrial. They go to me into
asking for a mistrial; that was denied, but there is case law on it
that when I move for a mistrial and it’s denied and there’s still a
hung jury, when they did that conduct, it’s still a basis to
preclude a new trial for double jeopardy.

And we’'re not doing expert -- we’'re not talking about
their expert notice now. Just the double jeopardy aspect of it?

THE COURT: No. One at a time --
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MS. PALM: Okay.

THE COURT: -- that was your --

MS. PAIM: Okay.

THE CQURT: -- first item. And I just want to hear your
argument, then I’1l hear the States, then I’11 make the ruling on
that item.

MS. PALM: Okay. Well, so my argument is that the Supreme

Court has been very c¢lear on the State has not allowed to put on a

trial as a practice run. They’'re not allowed to use a -- a trial

to improve their case.

And with every single case, every single time this case
is tried, the evidence comes out a little stronger, but gives Mr.
O'Keefe and that’s what happens when you have multiple trials. The

testimony has subtle changes in it. I save the case law for that
if they’re talking about that; that’s what happens each time it
gets a little stronger.

Now, here they want to make it way stronger, but it was
evident that they were -- they were purposely causing misconduct in
that trial. We move for a mistrial and they should not be able to

try this case again and remedy the defects in the last trial.

THE COURT: Thank you. Who’s handling that for the State?
MR. LATLI: I am, Your Hconor.
The -- a mistrial resulted in the previous trial

because of a hung jury. Not because of any misconduct. There was

no misconduct on the part of the State and I think -- you know,
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it’s when there are perscnal attacks, you know, levied against you
there’s always that -- that inclination to kind of jump down in =--
into that realm and go tit for tat. I'm just not going to do it.

There was no misconduct. The record will bare that
out. Hopefully the Court’s memory and recollection will bare that
out.

What keeps being cited by the defense are the use of
guotations that I recited in my closing argument and in my opening
statement. All of which are proper and I cited -- I cited
treatises that stand for the proposition. It‘s good -- good and
appropriate to do that. It is being an effective advocate. I
cited to a Supreme Court case from another jurisdiction that said
that's argument from the Court’s own experience. I know the Court;
it has been a practitioner in this jurisdiction for many years.

When you look at the great trial lawyers of Clark
County, when you look at people like Nell Harmon or Bill Coot
[phonetic] or David Schwartz or Dan Seaton; they were masters in
this art. And certainly as -~ as much as was hurled at them in the
Supreme Court, the Supreme Court has never said you cannot be an
effective advocate in the courtroom which is what I did.

The other issue with respect to double jeopardy is that
some how to -- to adopt what the defense is saying some how we the

State tried a case that we knew would result in a hung jury so that

we could have this third opportunity to -- to try Mr. O'Keefe which
doesn’'t even pass the straight face test. I mean, nothing could be
7
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further than the truth.

And so what you’re left with is there was a hung jury
here. Can a person be retried or does double jeopardy bar a
retrial under the circumstances? I've cited a plethora of Nevada
Supreme Court cases that obviously stand for the proposition that a
person can be retried after a hung jury.

THE COURT: I don‘t -- I don't agree, Ms. Palm, that there
was any misconduct in this case. And if there was misconduct, I
rarely don’t see that it was intentional with the go-in mind to
create a mistrial, so the State can have a do over and perhaps
strengthen their case.

And so, I'm not granting the motion based upon double
jeopardy argument. I don’'t find intentional misconduct on behalf
of the State. And there isn’t any persuasive case law that says if
there’s a hung jury and I believe it was ten/two for guilt that
that precludes the State from retrying a particular Defendant, so
on that issue I'm going to deny the Defendant’'s motion.

The issue of the State filing the notice of the expert
timely for the third trial did not file a notice of expert for the
first or second trial. I think that was your second issue, Ms.
Palm. Go ahead.

MS. PALM: It was, Your Honor. Thank you.

Because of the same double jeopardy concerns, the State

should not be allowed now to correct what they didn’t do right the

last time what they clearly wanted to do by their arguments. The
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double jeopardy, the reason that a hung jury would not prevent a
retrial in this case is because it's considered a continuation of
the trial from the last jury that was impaneled. 1It’'s a
continuation from that, so their notice period ended twenty-one
days before the last retrial.

Now, I know that they’ve said we have changed, you
know, what we’re doing notice wise, but that was after a reversal
and it came back for different charges and there’s case law and I
cited in my brief that the Defendant can change courses to remedy
things that weren’'t remedied with an order of reversal.

We raised several issues in the first appeal. The
Supreme Court chose not to address those because it was sending it
back; that’s our opportunity to address them with this Court which
we did. I have litigated everything and that was appropriate.
It’'s appropriate for us to attempt to change the things that we
thought were erroneous the first time.

Now, if the State had changed course, I'm not saying
that they could have, but if they did their opportunity to change
course ended with twenty-one days before the last trial. The
retrials a continuation of that. And so we didn't have a timely
notice on the expert.

THE COURT: It was timely for the third trial. It's not
timely if we start the clock at the second trial.
MS. PALM: That's correct.

And also their expert is prohibited by NRS 48.061
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subsection 2 of that statute says expert testimony concerning the
effect of domestic violence may not be offered against the
Defendant pursuant to subsection 1 to prove the occurrence of an
act which forms the basis of the criminal charge against the
Defendant. And we addressed this also in our bad acts motion, but
the legislative intent which is more comprehensively addressed from
the subsequent motion is clear that this sort of evidence was not
to be used against a criminal Defendant.

So, the expert in this case is inappropriate; that the
intent of that subsection that adding language to that subsection
to allow the State to bring in experts on the issue of domestic
violence was for when they had this situation of a recanting victim
and that’s guoted at length in my other -- in my other opposition.
That’'s not the situation here. They want to use it as evidence of
guilty. They want to use it as propensity. There’'s no reason to
have an expert in here otherwise. And it’s inappropriate under the
statute. It's not allowed.

And aside from that, the last time we were not allowed
to have an expert testify about Ms. Whitmarsh’s diagnosis. &nd I
gquoted in my -- in my brief the little discussion on that and it
was Mr. Lalli saying so now that after the fact we’re supposed to
come in here and, you know, examine this dead woman and the Court
said not at this time you’'re not. So we were precluded from doing
a similar thing. What they want to do now after a hung jury which,

you know, that's just completely unfair they’'re allowed to do that,

10
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if they’re allowed to bring in expert now.

Plus, this expert never diagnosed Ms. Whitmarsh. She
never talked to Ms. Whitmarsh and Ms. Whitmarsh had a whole host of
psychiatric disorders which, you know, we submitted the exhibit to
the motion which was under sgeal; that just confused the heck ocut of
what would have been going on with this woman when it comes to
domestic batteries or violence syndrome or battered woman syndrome.

She had all kinds of problems. She was bipolar. She
had panic disorder. Major depressive episodes. Multiple suicide
attempts. Impulse control. Anger problems. She also reported
long term abuse by her own husband, eighteen years of abuse. So to
have this woman come in here and say now this is what was going on
in this case or talk about the gsyndrome at all is extremely
prejudicial to Mr. O‘Keefe. Entirely inappropriate under the
statute and so we would ask to preclude their expert. Also their
late notice expert.

THE COURT: Mr. Lalli®?

MR. LALLI: Your Honor, counsel said a couple of times
mention the words changing course. BAnd I just wanted to be very
clear, we’'re not changing course. Our theories of guilt haven't
changed. The theories of what was happening in this relationship
haven't changed. It’s all the same.

I think I would not be a good lawyer and I would not be
fulfilling my obligations to this community if when I got a case

every time I worked on that case, I didn’'t do something to make it

11
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better. I think that is my responsibility and my obligation as an
attorney. And I think it is ludicrous to suggest that if the case
is going to be retried, everybody’s hands are tied and we're just
stuck by what happened before. I mean, we could call amount of
lawyers into a courtroom and simply read a prior transcript and
give it back to the jury if that were the case.

And T illustrated one example. There are many others
of how the defense is not lived by this theory with respect to
their experts. The Court may recall on the second trial they
relitigated a number of issues. The bad act issues. The Defendant
statement was substantially redacted from the first trial, and good
for them.

I mean, Ms. Palm’s doing her very best to be a good and
effective advocate as she should. While we're certainly going to
do the same thing on the State’s end.

With respect to this -- some how we’re bound to notice
an expert from the very beginning or we’'re forever damned if you
will throughout the life of the case. There’s just absolutely no
legal support for that premise. There’s no -- there’s no support
for whatscever. If we choose to call an expert witness; that is
our right subject to the Court telling us that we can’t.

The statute is very clear and Ms. Mercer's really an
expert in this area, but the statute on domestic vioclence, we have
a statute on it. And we’'re not allowed. I would agree with Ms.

Palm, we're not allowed to bring in an expert in and to talk about

12
002556




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

propensity that that man is a wife beater and a woman beater and so
he beat this woman toco.

If the Court will recall the defense theory here is
that, and I don’'t want te -- I don’t want to speak for what their
theory is going to be in the case, but I think a reascnable
observer would take their position to be that things were just fime
in their relationship. Sure, they had their issues in the past,
but those had kind of resolved themselves and sure enough Victoria
Whitmarsh was back with him because she loved him. And that’s just
not the case. That is just not the case.

And we're entitled subject to the Court limiting us.
Subject to the Court reeling us in. If the Court believes we’re
getting too far field, then I'm going te submit to the Court we're
not going too far field, but we have the right to explain why is
that shé might have stuck around with this guy or come back to him.

And specifically with regard to the statute 48.061,
we’'ve cited the Court with the legislative history of that. And if
you read it and even if you look at the history cited by Ms. Palm,
and I apologize, Your Honor, it’s just occurring to me, you didn’t
read our -- you haven't read our motion -- cur bad act motion and
that’s the motion that kind of deals with this in Ms. Palm’s
opposition to it.

But both of us cite to you legislative history on that
-- on that and perhaps maybe -- 1f the Court get’s beyond the

procedural issue and then wants to kind of jump into the substance
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of it, maybe addressing that a later time is appropriate, but I can
tell the Court why it was that this section was enacted. B2And it’s
borne out in both of the legislative history cited by the defense
and by the State.

The Nevada District Attorney’'s Association went to the
Legislature and said hey, Defendants are able to come in and
they’re able to call experts as to why they do the things that they
do. We don’'t have the similar opportunity to do that with respect
to our victims and why they do the things that they do. Why it is
that they recant when they testify; and it’'s certainly is Ms.
Palm’s position that Victoria Whitmarsh had recanted in her
allegations against the Defendant in the past. She cited
transcripts and argued up and down that, in fact, was the case.

We're certainly able to -- well, so the Nevada District
Attorney’s Association went to the Legislature and specifically
asked them to change this statute to allow for the State to do what
we are doing in this very case; that’s what the history of the
statute says. And so it is appropriate. We’re entitled as good
lawyers to make our cases as good as we c¢an within the bounds of --
of ethics. And certainly our notice was timely filed in this case.

THE COURT: Anything further, Ms. Palm?
MS. PALM: Well, in response to that. We’ve never been able

to put on evidence that Victoria Whitmarsh recanted. So the fact
that we may talk about that whether things are admissible or not

admissible, we've never put on evidence about that. Last time we

14
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took our lumps, he’s got a felony conviction for domestic battery.
The Court did the balancing already on that and we weren’'t allowed
to come forward with -- but yeah, she recanted in that case.

And we're not asking to now, so there’s no reason to
bring on this expert who’s going to talk about her state of mind
which is entirely ambiguous given her mental health history. And
it’s not timely.

THE COURT: Well, he'’s not going to -- the expert’s not going
to say her -- her particular state of mind is generally this is
what the dynamics of this -- of a domestic vioclence relationship
entails. So he can‘t -- is not going to be allowed to say this is
what she was thinking in this case.

MS. PALM: Well, then I'm not sure how it’'s relevant.

THE COURT: Well, we’re going to deal with that at 1:30
‘cause that’s part and parcel of the motion for 1:30. But the
issue of the timeliness that there’s absolutely no case law,
statutory law, that provides that on a second trial, third trial,
fourth trial that the State can’t -- State or defense can’'t notice
new witnesses, can’'t notice new experts as long as they’re noticed
timely.

So on item 2 as far as the timeliness of the notice I
find that it was timely and we‘ll deal with the issue of substant
area of that at 1:30.

The last item of the first part of the motion, Ms.

Palm, is that your client’s speedy trial rights have been violated.
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MS. PAILM: That’s correct, Your Honor. Mr. 0O'Keefe has at
all times prior to this asserted his speedy trial rights. The last
time the case presented -- this case was presented, the State
wasn’'t prepared to present this evidence. They didn't give notice
for this evidence. 1It's lack of preparedness directly implicates
his speedy trial right. BAgain it’s a whole double jeopardy speedy
trial kind of mix as their remedying what they didn’t do last time
although we think that they're responsible for the hung jury last
time.

So -- and also allowing this late notice expert is
going to cause even further delay because we haven’t had the
opportunity to go get a battered woman’s expert to talk about. I
don’t know what their expert’'s going to say either. We haven’t had
-- at this point, not only was there notice just for this person,
we don't have a report. We don’'t know what they’re going to talk
about. I can’'t go get somebody to tell me how to counter what the
evidence is when they haven’t given me notice of what the evidence
is. There’s no report. This is going to cause further delay
because I'm going to have to look into battered woman syndrome and
whether their opinions are accurate. I don’'t know what the
opinions are.

THE COURT: I haven’'t seem to notice, but I'm assuming the
notice identifies a brief statement as to the area they’'re going to
testify too and their CV needed to be attached to the notice. I'm

assuming that was done in this case?
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MR. LALLI: Yes, Your Honor. It was.

THE COURT: &And it has a list of publications and other cases
they testified in?

MR. LALLI: 1It’s a -- 1it’'s a curriculum vitae, Your Honor. I
guess here’s what I can tell the Court on this. With respect to --
let’s just -- without trying to morph everything back into one big
issue. With respect to the speedy trial issue, I understand that
the Defendant has been invoking his right to speedy trial and he
has that right. We’'re not suggesting he doesn’t after a retrial.

But I do want to point out that the Court has really
bent over backwards to accommodate his speedy trial right. The
Court may recall that initially after the verdict or the -- the non
verdict in this case, the Court wanted to put this case on the very
next day to set it for retrial. The very next day. And it was at
Ms. Palm’s request and the State’s acquiescence. I don’'t want to
suggest that we didn’t join in the request or agree to the request,
but in -- in opposition to this -- to the Court’s desire to set it
the very next day, it was asked to be passed for a time. A short
period of time, but it was asked to be passed for a time, so that
the -- the parties could explore whatever they were going to
explore.

And then the Court certainly that has a lot of trials
on it’s calendar and does a lot of trials, set this really almost
out of desperation for the date that we’re now set because the

Court may recall there was a -- a very lengthy case invelving UMC,
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a fraud case, that had previously started and couldn’t finish, just
a monster of a case and as I recall there’s also a capital case
that was at thig area of time, but the Court was so determined to
give and to honor Mr. O'Keefe’s right to speedy trial that it set
this trial now.

And as things would have it, the storm clouds have
cleared if you will and the Court now does have an opportunity to -
- to hear the trial now. It was a time that worked for my schedule
and it was a time that worked for Ms. Palm’'s schedule.

When you look at the cases that we’ve cited, the Manley
case that talks about delays by conflicts. In the Court’'s
schedule, that does not in and of itself amount to a speedy trial
violation. A crowded docket or crowded calendar as we we're
experiencing in the Eighth Judicial District Court does not result

in a speedy trial violation and that’s under Bailey versus State,

the 1978 case that we cited, B-A-I-L-E~Y,

So with respect to just mere timing issues, there is no
issue here. There’'s none whatscever. With respect to the notice,
the Legislature and the Supreme Court has adopted this idea of
twenty-one days whether I agree that that’'s sufficient time or not
is really irrelevant, but that’s what our Legislature has said is
sufficient time to notice the defense of an expert so that they can
call the expert if they want too. They can reach out to the
expert. We’ve never said hey you can’t talk to this person. They

can do their investigation. They could have sought immediately to
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retain an expert upon receiving our notice. Or start exploring
that opportunity. Or reaching out to the office of appointed
councgel for that purpose.

So these -- if there is a delay that Ms. Palm believes
she needs based upon our right and our willingness to endorse and
call an expert in domestic vioclence, that’s not our issue. That's
not our fault. That’s not something that can be blamed upon the
State because we have complied with our -- our statutory duty. If
she needs more time to prepare because of that, that’s a separate
issue, but that’s not something that you can say the State did or
the Court did to infringe upon that man’s speedy trial rights.

THE COURT: Frankly, I don’'t recall stating that we could
start the trial the next day or the next week, but it seems like
Ms. Palm isn’t objecting to that --

MS. PALM: No.

THE COURT: -- so apparently I did say that.

MR. LALLI: TIt’s in the record. I cited the --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. LALLY: ~- tramnscripts where that occurred in the --

THE COURT: But no. The point is --

MS. PALM: Well, vyou --

THE COURT: -~ Ms. Palm, that --
MS. PALM: -- well --
THE COURT: -- this Court attempted to give you the earliest

trial date possible after the hung jury or the mistrial was
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declared and assuming the transcript is accurate that I was willing
to give you a trial the next week or the next day. Also I tried to
squeeze this case in as best I could. BAs for the record, I have a
split calendar which gives me five weeks of civil trials and five
weeks of criminal trials.

So, I did what I could to fit this case in as soon as
possible. 2And I recall now that at the time the trial was set for
January which was done in 2010 that I had I believe twelve to
fourteen murder trials set for 2011. And each one of those -- I
think there was eight death penalty cases out of those and as we
know it takes two to three weeks. So, this was the earliest case I
can give and, in fact, it was trailing and two other cases or
another death penalty case I think it was Schneider I think we
talked about and also Lacy Thomas case.

So, I don't find any violation of speedy trial rights
in this case, so I'm denying your motion in that regard.

If counsel can come back at 1:30 we could resolve the -
- the other motion.

MS. PALM: Your Honor, I would just like to clear up the
record a little bit. When we ended the trial last time, part of
the reason is we had to find out who was going to be new counsel.
Whether the -- whether I was going to be reappointed counsel or
not, so I think that that was the hesitation about whether -- what
we had to take care of because I was removed from the case after

the trial and then Drew had to reappoint me, so --
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MR. LALLI: Your Honor, that's -- and I don’t mean to quivel
about this; that’s simply not my recollection and if the Court were
to look at the -- at the transcript --

MS. PALM: What date is that?

MR. LALLT: It's September 2, 2010 at page 5.

MS. PALM: And I will tell you the Court minutes of the
September 16" reflect that I was just being appcinted as his new
counsel, so --

MR. LALLI: And that could very well have been. I think the
peint of it is and it’'s very clear from the transcript, the Court
wanted to put it on the very next day to reset the trial. &and it
was Ms. Palm who requested additional time from that. I'm not
saying that waives the Defendant’'s speedy trial rights. I‘m not
suggesting that her saying hey I need a week or two weeks or
whatever it was to look at some things, but I just -- I just -- I
want to point out the Court’s willingness to accommecdate this
Defendant because certainly that has been the case.

THE COURT: I think the record will bare that out as far as
what I attempted to do to schedule this again with my split
calendar.

So I'm going to deny that portion of your motion on
vioclation of Defendant’s speedy trial rights.

And if you can come bkack at 1:30. Again, I apologize
to counsel. Therefs a confusion. I will have those motions

reviewed and we can argue them at 1:30 this afternoon.
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MS. PALM: 2nd, Your Honor, just so that the Court remembers,
we had left an issue number four in my previous motion from the 13"
to deal with today too. It‘s all the same domestic violence
matters, but the Court will need te make a ruling con that still
when we come back.

THE COURT: All right. See you back at 1:30.

MR. LALLI: Your Honor, I -- I don't want to be fly in the
ointment here, but I've got a preliminary hearing tomorrow and I‘ve
got a witness, an important cne, who's going to be here at 1:30.

Is it possible to deo this at 17

THE COURT: That’ll be fine. Are you available, Ms. Palm?

M5. PALM: Yesg,

THE COURT: All right.

MR. LATLI: Thank you.

[Matter trailed]
[Matter recalled at 1:07 p.m.]

THE COURT: The first item -- this is our -- this is the
State’s metion in limine to admit evidence of other bad acts
pursuant to 48.045. The first item, Mr. Lalli or Ms. -- who’'s
handling this? Do you have it, Ms. Mercer?

MS. MERCER: It's mostly me, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Which is the January 7" ‘03 incident?

MS. MERCER: Yes.

THE COURT: He was -- the Defendant pled guilty to

obstructing a police officer, not a domestic violence and Ms. Palm
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said she did not get -- did not receive the full packet of reports
that may relate to this incident.

MS. MERCER: Judge, I think Mr. Lalli’s going to be
addressing the discovery issues.

MR. LALLI: Yes.

MS. MERCER: So --

MR. LALLI: If I can just address --

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. LALLI: -- the discovery -- just the overall discovery
issue. I can tell the Court I had presumed that Ms. Palm had all
0f the discovery for all of these events and I’ll tell the Court
why .

I came in last minute before the last trial. And based
upon the -- the condition of my file and file reviews, Ms. Palm had
done a file review prior to that. I certainly believed that she
had everything that I had at certainly at that time, but I believe
she had more for a couple of reasons.

One, during -- during the trial I was -- I had
requested discovery from her things that I certainly should have
had, but I didn't have and an example would have been all of the
victims psychiatric records. So I believe that that was missing,
but Ms. Palm was good enough to give it to me. I presumed that we
had provided that to her at some point.

Another example is in our most recent round of motions,

she had actually attached some trial testimony to one of our
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motions that I'’ve never seen before and it is from one of these
cases 1in question. And I do know from her file review that at
least on a limited basis, she had reviewed my file and it had some
of the discovery on these events that I did.

Another example is prior to Mr. O'Keefe testifying in
the first trial, he was warned about opening the door to the priors
that he had had if he said something that would open the door to
something that would be fair game. So, I realize that I was
lacking some of the discovery and resubpoenaed, rerequested all of
the discovery for all of the event numbers.

Now, I think that somewhat there is maybe some
positioning going on by the defense. Our motion was filed on
January 6" of 2011. It was filed on January 6" of this year. 1In
the opposition that we received, there’s this indication well I
have this report which makes reference to other reports. A&And so,
first when that -- if there is no discovery and I don’t doubt it.
Ms. Palm said she didn’t have discovery I believe she doesn’t have
the discovery, but why if -- if this discovery references other
reports which I know that she’'s had because she reviewed it in a
previous file review, why wasn’'t there a request for it at that

point. Why after we filed our motion wasn’'t there a request back

7 th th?

on January 6" or or 8
We had a calendar call and Ms. Palm did not mention
anything about not having discovery. It wasn’t until the moment

that I received that motion and as soon as I got the motion, I
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picked up the phone and I called her and I said didn't realize you
did not have these things. I‘ve recopied everything. Scanned it
on a disc. I have it for you. Here you go.

So, I -- she said she doesn’t have it. I'm not going
to guestion that. However, I don’'t know why I'm learning that for
the first time in an opposition that’s filed after -- after our
calendar call was held.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. LATLI: And it very well might be that she doesn’t have
it, sc that is the discovery piece, Your Honor. Ms. Mercer'’s going
to talk about the actual merits of these things.

MS. PALM: Would you like me to address the discovery, Your
Honor, or regpond to that?

THE COURT: Just very briefly because we’'re going to get into
each one.

MS. PALM: On the discovery, we had done file reviews the
first trial. There was an exchange of discovery. The only thing
we ever got were incident reports and we didn’t think ever that
this would be coming in because we had an agreement with the D.A.
who was very upfront. I'm not going to bring any of this into my
cage in chief. There’s no reason to do a whole bunch of
investigations. Mr. O'Keefe had invoked. We had to get ready for
trial. We were not going to open the door to this and we made it
very clear that we were not going to open the door and we discussed

it with the Court what would open the door, what would not open the
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door.

So, there was no reason to go investigate all of these.
We did get some things like Ms. Whitmarsh’s testimony, but we
didn‘t -- we don’'t have everything. We never did. We never got
more than an incident reports from the D.A.’'s office.

Then I did the file reviews. I did two file reviews.
One with Ms. Graham and one with Mr. Lalli. I got what they had
which was just incident reports and then I remember the day it went
during trial, he gave me a folder, here’s some additional discovery
and in that it was more copies of the same incident reports. So,
he was trying to give me what he had, but that’s all he had that
I'm aware of that’s all I've ever had from the D.A.’'s Office.

I did do a discovery motion before this Court which
asked for discovery of everything that they intended to introduce
in their case in chief. I‘ve done everything I could to get this
discovery. Why didn’t I jump up and down, am I going to get
discovery when I finally get their notice that they’re intending to
put this in on January 7%, that’'s not going to give me enough time
to do anything any way. We’'re already well into trial preparation
and -- and exchanging motions and as you know I‘ve been litigating
the heck out of this case and filing every motion that I could and
responding to every motion that they did.

So, giving me discovery, you know, two weeks out would
not have helped me. 2nd the fact is that I did get three hundred

pages of discovery yesterday afternoon from Mr. Lalli on a disc and

26
002570




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

some of them on paper and most of it I have never seen before. So
that’'s the discovery.

THE COURT: All right, Ms. Mercer, let‘s talk about the first
incident of January 7" ‘03.

MS. MERCER: Uh-huh. What specifically do you want to talk
about, Judge?

THE COURT: So the reports that you have provided identify
that on or about January 7" Defendant had -- they were drinking T
guess. Defendant slapped her and she had a nose bleed.

MS. MERCER: Correct. And that when the police arrived they

saw that she was -- that her nose was still bleeding.
THE COURT: Then she pled -- he pled to obstructing a police
officer?

MS. MERCER: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Was he charged with battery domestic violence, do
you know?

MS. MERCER: Yes,.

THE COURT: On the -- the merits of that first item, Ms.
Palm, what’s your objection ‘cause I‘ve read your opposition and
the main part of that at least on this one was your I only have
three pages. I don't have photos. I don‘t have, you know, all of
the documentation.

MS. PAIM: Okay.

THE COURT: I don’'t know if the Court has all the

documentation, but --
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MS. PALM: Well, if the Court would allow me to I can have a
general objection to all of them and I can go through it on the
first one because all of it will apply to all of them.

But first of all there’s -- there is unfairness in
letting this in because we weren’t allowed -- maybe I'1ll save some
of this for the expert’s testimony or did you just want to hear it
now ‘cause it kind of all gces together?

THE COURT: 1Is sort of does. Go ahead.

MS. PALM: Okay. 2As far as allowing evidence of octher
evidence domestic viclence and the expert diagnogis, we were
precluded from introducing evidence of her actual diagnosis during
the last trial and I believe the guote was we're not going to do
that now at this time. We were too close to trial.

It also has -- Mr. Lalli said this evidence is relevant
because it shows why she went back to him. We’re not challenging
anything about her going back to him. We’re not challenging her
récanting testimony. There’s not reason to -- to show why she
would go back to him. It doesn’'t have any relevance to any
material fact.

The only fact and issue is that there’s malice and
intent to cause her death. The felony battery that you let in
already weighs heavily towards that along with Ms. Morris’
statements; that balance was already made by this Court. So this
is just tipping the scales further prejudicially. What’s in is

already extremely prejudicial to him.
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We were also denied the opinion testimony about a
loving relationship without opening the door to other bad acts.
The last trial we had a big discussion. Mr. Lalli didn’t want us
to be able to say they had a loving relationship even though we had
neighbors and friends and other people who would say that at the
time that they had reestablished their relatienship out of prison.
And the discussion was we went there, we were going to open the
door to this stuff, so we didn’t go there.

So, it’s not fair to do it mow. I think it’s going to
be a due process preoblem.

THE COURT: Well, if I recall I allowed the witnesses in your
examination to include what did you observe --

MS. PALM: That's correct.

THE COURT: -- if they were kissing, etcetera, but as far as
reputation, well then if they’re coming in -- if they -- their
reputation merit they were very loving couple, that he was very
peaceful with her or loving with her, then the State could come in
and say well will your opinion change for --

MS. PALM: Right.

THE COURT: -- various reasons, SO --

MS. PALM: But here what --

THE COURT: Well you were not precluded from saying they were
holding hands, doing kissy face, whatever else, so you weren’t
precluded.

MS. PALM: Right. And I'm not saying that we were. I'm just
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saying that they want to do the reverse now. They want to have
this hole that they, you know, this is a domestic violence
relationship and it’s not fair at this point in the game I don’t
think.

There’s a due process problem with notice. This case
came back after the reversal because they hadn’t notice an unlawful
act theory. I think trying to do this through showing battered
woman syndrome and the repeat domestic violence incidents is just
trying to prove the case through it occurred during an unlawful act
being a battery which they haven't noticed. And it’s
inappropriate. The notice is just for a second degree murder. Not
a domestic violence battery murder. So I think it creates some due
process issues.

As far as NRS 48.045, I think that showing any more
than the felony battery which encompasses three of the acts that
are in there, is just tipping the scale way too far. 1It’'s
overwhelmingly prejudicial. The State has grossly misstated the
strength of their case in their motion. One of the things they
were saying this should be in because this is a good case for us
any ways, so it’s not going to do us any harm; that is just not
true.

The Supreme Court says there’s not overwhelming
evidence of a second degree murder. The jury hung the last time.
The experts who testified can’t rule out accident or suicide based

on the body. Their AME testified there was -- they were all
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injuries that she identified as acute and everybody said they
couldn’t -- those injuries were not inconsistent with an accident.
They were not inconsistent with happening during the arrest or
rescue. I mean, we had -- not that the expert testified about it
exactly, but the evidence I think we had good evidence that
supported those theories.

The colder injuries could have been caused by innocent
accidental means, bumping into things with her cirrhosis and her
alcohol abuse. We had innocent explanations for those. The
neighbors heard no yelling and no screaming during this incident.
The neighbor testified that they were very quiet. They never heard
any noise coming from there until this incident.

So, this whole ongoing abuse theory that'’'s happening at
the time that’s not -~ there’s no evidence to support it. Mr.
O’Keefe had defensive cuts. His next door neighbor saw him enter
an apartment just fifteen minutes before this happened supported
that she would have been alone in there.

We were allowed to let in a limited amount of her
history just so innocent reasons for the noises the neighbors heard
the reason for the knife in the bedroom a potential innocent cause
of death being suicide or accident. We didn’'t get to put in all of
her suicide attempts. We didn’t get to put in her drug problems.
We didn’t get to put in a lot of evidence that we otherwise would
have wanted to put in.

But the Court struck the balance and we think that’'s
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where it should stay. And aside from that Mr. O’'Keefe was
extremely intoxicated, so they just don‘t have a strong case by any
-- by any measure.

The whole late discovery thing, they’ve always
indicated it was never their intent to introduce any of this other
evidence. We've built our case theory. Our entire case theory is
built around this is the evidence that we’re dealing with. This is
how we’re going to go with our investigation. Letting anything
else in at this point would cause me to have to go out and
investigate all of this.

I would have to go look for impeachment evidence. I
probably have to subpoena her other counseling that she had. I
probably have to subpoena the safe house that she was living in
‘cause I think she was in when Mr. O’Keefe was incarcerated. I
have to interview the witnesses and character witnesses. Good
character witnesses for Mr. O‘'Keefe potentially out of state
because he grew up in Ohio and that’s where his family 1is. And
that’'s where his ex-wife is.

And it’s three hundred pages of new discovery for me to
have to deal with. It‘s not a simple thing to deal with right
before trial.

It’'s also not permitted by the statute, NRS 48.061 they
want to say that there’s a different standard to NRS 48.045 when it
comes to this kind of propensity evidence that our Legislature has

determined that it‘s no -- it’s not to be treated as propensity
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evidence somehow. And that’s just not the case.

Under our case law, bad acts are disfavored. They’'re
disfavored. They’'re supposed to be, you know, scrutinizing and
carefully let in because of there -- there’s a realization they're
so prejudicial. The legislative history of NRS 48.061 shows that
our Legislature had a law in front of it that would have done that.
It didn't get out of committee, so we did not become like those
other States that wanted -- let in this kind of evidence to show
the entire context of the relationship; that’s not Nevada. Nevada
disfavors bad acts. These are bad acts subject to the regular
Nevada test for it. This Court has struck that balance and it
shouldn’t change now.

And then T don’t know how the heck they're going to
prove any of these because I want a Petrocelli hearing on every
single one of them. If they’re saying they can prove them because
they’re all based on Ms. Whitmarsh’s statements and they’re all
hearsay. It’s a violation of the confrontation clause. I don’'t
know how they are going to prove any of these beyond clear and
convincing evidence without going to hearsay and vieclating his
confreontation rights.

And they have not noticed that they want to use any
prior testimony. They haven’'t timely noticed it. They shouldn’t
be able to do it. And if this Court grants their -- their request
to admit these it should be from today and they shouldn’t get to

cure that because then we would have to have time to investigate
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‘cause it’s a problem they caused. So, they should be excluded
from using her -- her transcripts for anything.

And even under the case law, none of these are
relevant. There was no knife involved in them. They cite a case
for, you know, the Johnson case where they let in attempt killing
or whatever it was invelving a weapon ‘cause it was just like the
one they had. None of these prior incidents involve a knife at
all.

And as far as thig first obstructing this one, I don’t,
you know, I don’'t know what else to say about it. I haven’t had
any more on it until yesterday and I don't think still I have
everything. I would have to go get the Court records and, you
know, to be able to challenge it I just don’t know, but I don‘t
think, you know, an obstructing is relevant. It’s not a domestic
violence offense. Other than that I don’'t know anything about it.

THE COURT: On the November 14”"03, I don‘t know if IT’'S a
typo. Was is it supposed to be ‘04, ‘03?7 One of the statements
says a few months later, it looked like -- maybe I misread it, but
it said the last four numbers of the event number is 0539 which I
think is the third item brought up in the State’s motion. Didn'‘t
your client plead guilty to battery domestic violence and by that
plea of guilty doesn‘t it establish by clear and convincing
evidence?

MS. PALM: He pled guilty to a first offense, but if the

Court’s going to say you can tell the jury he pled guilty to a
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first offense that’s one thing. If you're going to say he can put
it -- they can put in hearsay evidence relating to that that’s
another thing. I think that violates his confrontation rights plus
I haven’t had a chance to look at how to challenge it.

THE COURT: And then the felony conviction, he went to trial
and he was guilty of battery DVA third.

MS. PAIM: Which one are you talking about, Your Honor?

THE COURT: This is April 2*d 704, One he had a felony and
went to prison.

MS. PAIM: Oh, ockay.

THE COURT: And then on was it April 3%, which is the very
incident, he pled guilty to battery DV.

MS. PALM: Yes.

THE COURT: So we have at least two guilty pleas and one jury
verdict of guilt.

MS. PALM: And, Your Honor, what those are the three domestic
batteries that resulted in a felony. B&nd we’re not saying that he
is not guilty of those, but what they can put intoc prove those up
is ancther questiocon and -- and if they’'re just saying they want to
put in the fact that he was convicted of those three incidents like
we did last time with their putting in the facts he was convicted
of a felony domestic battery. And then they -- to say they’'re
supported by these three incidents, they could prcbably prove that,
but the underlying facts of it, the other things that they haven't

properly noticed that I haven't been given before, you know, I
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think that it’s just too late in the day to start noticing a whole
bunch of other things. And they haven’'t yet said how they’'re
proving anything.

THE COURT: Just so I'm clear from the second trial, it
appeared to the Court that there was some argument or perhaps part
of your client’'s statement to the police officers that there was
self defense, perhaps some attempt suicide, perhaps an accident,
they were wrestling around and she got stabbed with a knife. So
aren’t some of these incidents relevant to the issue of lack of
mistake, intent or motive?

MS. PALM: Well, Your Honor --

THE COURT: Those are your three defenses it sounds like if I
recall from the trial.

MS. PAIM: -- our defenses are that she either stabbed
herself or in the struggle over the knife, she was accidentally
stabbed. Those are defenses and I would say that there’s a
guestion of relevance, yes. Some of those things are relevant.

The Court considered that when you said the felony domestic
violence conviction is going to come in.

But when you start talking about what's coming in to
actually show this again beyond the fact of conviction, that’s when
we're getting into the real prejudice. And I deon’t know how
they’'re going to do that. And I haven’t, you know, I don‘t have a
full discovery on this, so I don’t know how to challenge it at this

point.
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THE COURT: ‘Cause typically I see a lot of these with, you
know, where someone’s a serial burglar. I had one in particular
where they go on the roof of the business and break a hole in; sort
of like the hole in the wall game, but I think they’re hitting some
fast food stores. So they can go into the facts saying that -- I
think it was like a Burger King they broke a hole in the roof at
the Burger King; and they went to a McDonald’'s and they went to a
Wendy'’s and under this they just don‘t bring in that they were
charged with these crimes. Can’t they bring in the facts of
breaking in the roofs, jimmying the cash register?

MS. PALM: Who are they geoing to bring in to testify to that?

THE COURT: Well, if we have a guilty plea or a conviction
and isn‘t the allegation is to proof -- prove -- proved by clear
and convincing evidence?

MS. PALM: The conviction itself would be clear and
convincing evidence, but what’'s admissible is another question.

THE COURT: Mg. Mercer, on that issue.

MS. MERCER: Judge, as to a number of these events there were
other witnesses involved. People that she ran to for help such as
security guards, apartment managers. A neighbor in one of them
pulled her out of the apartment. There’s 9-1-1 calls. I
understand that her peosition is that Crawford bars us from
introducing all hearsay evidence. It hasn’t been subjected to
prior cross-examination, but it applies to testimonial hearsay and

it’s the State’'s opinion that we will be able to present sufficient
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non-testimonial hearsay to support many of these allegations,
Judge.

MS. PALM: Well, then I guess we would need a Petrocelli
hearing.

MS. MERCER: And we agree with that Judge.

THE COURT: All right.

MS. PALM: And also, you know, I'm going to need some time to
look at impeachment.

THE COURT: At least at this point from what I have and
obvicusly I need to hear more and I want Ms. Palm to have an
opportunity to review all the -- there’s always an arrest report,
incident report, affidavit. There's like four or five reports
generated from each situation, but it does seem here at least with
the two guilty pleas and the jury verdict that those items would be
coming in.

MS. MERCER: Judge, I'm sorry I meant to bring it to your

attention. There also actually was another jury verdict of guilt

as to the
THE COURT: That was the last one --
MS. MERCER: Correct.
THE COURT: -- where he was charged with sexual assault,
attempt sexual assault, burglary.
MS. MERCER: And he was convicted of battery and burglary.
THE COURT: Was the battery DV or just --

MS. MERCER: I can’t recall off the top of my head --

38
002582




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

MS. PALM: I'm not sure --

MS. MERCER: -- Judge. I'1ll have to look at them again.

MS. PALM: -- I'm not sure if there was a conviction of
battery. I think the burglary was just based on a battery.

MS. MERCER: He was given credit for time served on the
battery charge. I do recall that, Judge.

[Collogquy between Plaintiff’s counsel]

MR. LALLI: I believe it was a battery domestic violence
conviction --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. LALLI: -- ‘cause I remember reading the transcript and I
believe it was Judge Loehrer who sentenced him --

MS. MERCER: Yes.

MR. LALLI: -- if I'm not mistaken.

MS. MERCER: It was.

THE COURT: ‘Cause I don'‘t have that information in front of
me for -- for me to make a decision on that, but I think we need to
get a little bit more factual basis for these, but, you know, I
feel the State would meet the burden of c¢lear and convincing
evidence on the two misdemeanor battery DV'’s, the felony battery DV

where he went to trial.

I'm not sure on the last item which was with the sexual

assault, attempt sexual assault when the jury came back with

burglary, battery, assuming misdemeanor. I don’'t know if there’'s

battery DV or not.
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The -- the first two items where he was charged with
obstructing a police officer, you know, the State’s going to be
able to establish that situation of a -- of a battery and show some
further relevance to the Court, I’'ll entertain that, but I think
right now we need to have more evidence than what’s been presented.
And Ms. Palm needs -- has some challenging opportunity to see all
the reports.

And so, at this point I'm inclined to grant some of
these assuming they pan out, but I think the felony battery DV went
to trial and the two guilty pleas would preobably be allowed in this
case, but I want Ms. Palm to have an opportunity to look at all the
reports for those at least those misdemeanor battery DV‘s as well
as the other ones.

The other ones I‘m not inclined to say -- to say
anything one or the other, but at least with the guilty pleas the
State will meet their burden of clear and convincing.

MS. PALM: And -- and the Court’s not ruling that they’'re
admissible because they’'re clear and convincing at this point; is
that correct because we still have --

THE COURT: I just need to have more information --

MS. PALM: -- the prejudice versus relevance issue?

THE COURT: Well, you know, I think they are relevant. T
mean, assuming it pans out as set forth, I think they’re relevant
to motive, lack of mistake in this particular case.

MS. MERCER: Correct, Judge.
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MS. PALM: Well --

MR. LATLI: Your Honor, my understanding what the Court’s
inclined to do at this point, you're -- you're -- you're tending to
grant our motion on those items that you suggested. You want to
see a Petrocelli hearing or you want to see witness testimony or at
least a proffer on each one of those as to what we would prove.

THE COURT: Correct.

MR. LALLI: Okay.

THE COURT: And make sure that Ms. Palm has all the reports
relating to those situations.

MR. LALLI: She has -- she has everything that I have with
respect to reports on a disc that I gave her.

MS. PAILM: What I got last --

MR. LALLI: And I welcome her to come over to my office.

M5. PALM: -- what I got last night and their reports will be
helpful. I just don’t know if there’s any impeachment out there
because we’'re on the eve of trial and now how am I supposed to go
out and find impeachment evidence.

THE COURT: I understand what you're saying. ©Okay. And so
we need to have this hearing and the trial set for Monday and I
think by almost default, Ms. Palm, you would be getting your
continuance. I think your main concern was to file a Writ which is
your right and I respect that, but we do need to hash out some of
these factual scenarios before I make a definitive ruling on these.

Some of the other ones I'm concerned about.
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So, you’'re not going to be ready to go to trial on
Monday, correct? Even if the State got you all these -- assuming
they gave you everything yesterday, I'm assuming you’'re not going
to go to trial?

MS. PALM: No, I would not be ready if these bad acts are
admissible.

THE COURT: Okay. 2And so we're going to vacate the trial
date and I don't know if -- I know you’'re busy, Ms. Palm, and so 1is
Ms. Mercer and Mr. Lalli. I have cases with him. It seems like I
have to set trials 2013 for him, but does everyone have their
calendar with them?

MS. MERCER: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. LALLI: I do, Your Honor.

MS. PALM: I do.

THE COURT: You have yours, Ms. Palm?

MS. BATM: T do.

THE COURT: All right. Actually, it probably might be easier
just to come up and look at Carol’s calendar and my calendar
instead of us throwing all kinds of dates out and Carol can peoint
to you and show you what where we have some openings.

[Matter recalled at 1:42 a.m.]

THE COURT: Carol, ‘cause Michelle’s got the recorder going
on now; would you put on the record the trial date, calendar call
date and Petrocelli -- Petrocelli hearing date.

THE CLERK: Okay. Petrocelli hearing May 12", 10 o’clock.
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Calendar Call May 30 -- I‘m sorry, April -- April 12™ at 10 o‘clock

for the Petrocelli hearing.
Trial June Sm; 1 o‘clock.
THE COURT: All right.

MS. PALM: Thank vyou.

MS. MERCER: Thank you.

MR. LALLI: Thank you,

[Proceeding concluded at 1:43 a.m.]

ATTEST: I hereby certify that I have truly and correctly
transcribed the audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case

to the best of my ability.

May 31°° Ccalendar Call, 8:15. Jury

We’re good.

Your Honor.

* ok k% * K

Mlchell amsey
Co Recorder/Transcriber
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[*P1] Defendant Jason Betts appeals from his
conviction for aggravated murder afleging felony mr-
der, two counts of aggravated robbery, and firearm spec-
ifications. For the reasons st forth below, we affirm.

[*P2] Omn May [4, 2004, defendant was indicted
for two counts of aggravated murder with felony murder
and three-year firearm specification, and two counts of
aggravated robbery with one and three-year firearm
specifications, in connection with the shooting death of
David Reyes. Defendant pled not guiley and the matter
proceeded to a jury trial on September 14, 2005. In his
opening statement, the proseeuting attorney told the jury
that the state's evidence would [**2] show that de-
fendant's girlfriend, Jessica Randleman, made oan oral
siatement to police in which she indicated that defendant
got rid of a gun during a pursuit for breaking and enter-
mg and rhar he hoped that the gun was notl recovered
"because it could tie him to a lot of stif” (Tr.
1213-1214), Defense counsel moved for a mistrial, citing
this statement and the prosecuting attomey's failure to
disclose it prior to trial. At the hearing on this issue,
Randleman denied making the oral statement and testi-
fied that she told the prosecuting attorney that the state-
ment was not true, The trial court denied the motion for a
mistrial,

[*P3] Defense counsel also moved for a mistrial
after all of the evidence had been ptesented, and com-
plained that in his opening statement, the prosecuting
attorney informed the jury that Norman Pomales would
iestify, but Pamales was never called as a witness. (Tr.
2503), The trial court denied this second mation for a
misirial and the matter was submitted to the jury for de-

002588



Page 2

2007 Ohio 5533, *; 2007 Ohio App. LEXIS 4873, **

liberations. The jury was ultimately unable to reach a
verdict and was discharged.

[*P4] A second trial to a death-qualified jury
commenced on June 12, 2006, The state’s evidence
demonstrated that in  [**3] the weeks preceding his
death, the decedent drove a gold Buick Riviera with dis-
tinctive specialty 20 inch Polo” rims. At this time, he
was also helping his friend Jeffrey Williams remodel
Williamg' mother's house.

[*P5] On Ociober B, 2002, Reves left his vehicle
on Cantor Avenue and went with Willlams o meet
friends af a bar, Later that night, Reyes was driven back
to his car. Trisha Smith and Tina Maynard spoke to
Reves. Afier a few minutes, Tina observed someone
walking in a nearby alley. Reves said, "Oh shit,” and
fled. The mdividual chased Reves. Reves slipped and feli
and the other man caught Reyes by the back of the shirt,
took ouf a gun and shot Reyes, killing him. Maynard
then observed a man drive away in Reyes' car.

[*P6] - Smith described the assailant as a dark
complexioned African-American male, approximately
5%” or 5’5", with dread locks or braids. Police recovered
2 9 mm shell casing from the scene. A few hours later,
police recovered Reyes' car while responded to a call that
an automobile was being stripped on Parkview Avenue.
The vehicle was missing both passenger side tires and
the wheels on the driver’s side appeared to be replace-
ment wheels. The distinctive Polo rims had been  [¥*4]
removed. Police obirined fingerprints from the right
front fender, three extetior windows and a CD case in-
side the car.

[*P7] Smith believed that she saw the man again
at Reyes’ wake. In the ensuing weeks, she looked at ap-
proximately twenty photographs for police but could not
identify the assailant.

[*P&] On October 16, 2002, Jeffrey Williams re-
ceived a wlephone call from Norman Pomales. Follow-
ing this phone call, Williams contacted investigators and
investigators in turn identified a green Pontlac swtomo-
bile owned by Randleman.

[*P9] By April 2003, police linked two of the
fingerprinis recovered from the right front fender of
Reves' car to defendant. The next month, Trisha Smith
was shown a six-person photo array and indicated that
defendant locked Hke the person but she could not be
sure. Following a second phoio array in April 2004,
Smith identified defendant. That same month, Maynard
identified defendant from a different six-person phot
array but she stated that she could not be sure. At trial,
Smith also identified defendant as the assailant.

[*P10] In March 2003, Houston Foster tumed
over to police 2 9 mm weapon he had found in the out-

door grill at his home located at 1371 East 185<th>
Street, Police [**S8]  later determined that defendant
had been arrest at 1371 East 185<th> Street in March
2003, In May 2004, police determined that a Browning 9
mm weapon found in the grili at Foster's home fired the 9
mm casing found at the crime scene and that a live round
found within the Browning 9 mm was the same make
and manufacture of the casing found at the crime sceng,

[*P11] Police located defendant hiding in a closet
at his parents’ home. He denied ever secing Reves or
Reves' car. Defendant stated that Randleman is his girl-
friend.

[*Pi2] Defendant presented the testimony of
Solomon Fulero, Ph.ID. who testified that eye witness
memories can be taimnted by post-event information, that
memories fade over time, that brief eve witness observa-
tions are less accurate than observations involving longer
exposure times, and that various factors including the
presence of weapons and other stressful factors tend to
render eyve witness observations less accurate. In addi-
tion, identifications of individuals from a different race
tend to be less accurate as same-race identifications. Fi-
nally, Fulero opined that the presentation of a six-person
photo array yields less reliable identifications than a se-
quential presentation [**6] of photos.

[*P13] The defense also presented the testimony
of Officer Edward Csoltko who arrested defendant at 1
371 East 183«<tly- Street. According to Officer Csoltko,
he reported to his dispaicher that the subject he was
chasing was "possibly armed,” and the report does not
mention a gun but he believed that he did observe de-
fendant to be armed during the pursuit. He conceded,
however, that it was possible that a second individual
involved in this incident could have been the person he
ohserved with a weapon,

[*P14] Defendant was subsequently convivted of
the felony mmwder charge, both aggravated robbery
charges, and the firearm specifications. Following the
penalty phase of the trizl, defendant was sentenced 1o life
imprisonment without the possibility of parole, plus a
coneurrent term of ten years for the aggravated robbery
charges, and a single three-year ferm for the firearm
specifications. Defendant mow appesls and assigns
twelve errors for our review,

{*P15] For his first assignment of error, defendant
asserts that the trial court ermed in denying his motion for
# puistrial made in the first trial, which challenged the
prosecuting  attorney's reference to Randleman's oral
statement and Pomales’ statement, [**7] Defendant
further asserts that "[blecause of the severity of the pros-
ecutorial misconduct which occurred during the first
trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause bars his retrial” pur-
suant to Oregon v. Kennedy (1982), 456 US. 667, 102 8.
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¢ 20183, 72 L. Ed 2d 416, and he asks us to reverse and
remand for a hearing as to this issug.

[*F16] With regard to our standard of review, we
note that the granting or denial of a motion for misirial
rests in the sound discretion of the irial court and will not
be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.
State v. Treesh, 90 Ohio St.3d 460, 2001 Ohio 4, 739
N.E2d 749; State v. lacona, 93 Ohkio St. 3d 83, 2001
Qhio 1202,752 N.E.2d 937. The granting of a misirial is
only necessary when the ends of justice so require and a
fair trial is no longer possible, State v. Franklin (1991),
62 Ohio St.3d 118, 127, 580 N.E2d |, citing [ilinois v.
Somerville {1973), 410 U.S. 438, 462-463, 93 8.Ct. 1066,
35L.Ed2d 425,

[*P17] The denial of an evidentiary hearing is also
reviewed for an evidentiary abuse of discretion. Cf. Ab-
dus-Samad v. Beli (CA. 6 2005),420 F.3d 614, 626.

[*P18] Inthis instance we find no abuse of discre-
tzon. The prosecuting attorney's comments were made in
opening statement and [**8] closing areument and the
Jury was instructed thai these were not evidence. Further,
in Light of the actual evidence linking defendant to the
home at 1371 East 185<th> Street and linking the mur-
der weapon to this address, this court cannot say that the
brief reference to Randleman’s alleged statement ren-
dered a fair trial impossible. Similarly, we cannot say
that the brief reference to Pomales' out-of-court state-
ment rendered a fair trial impossible.

[*P19] Moreover, we naote that the state did not
dispute the essence of the defendant’s claims and asserted
instead, that it thought Randleman's statement couid
come in as a prior inconsistent stateent and Pomales’s
statement could come in as nonhearsay offered not for
the truth of the matter asserted but to explain subsequent
conduct, we are unable 0 conclude that the trial court
erred in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing.

[*P20] As to whether plain error occurred in
holding the second trial, we note that we conduct de no-
vo review of a denial of a motion & dismiss an indict-
ment on the grounds of double jeopardy. In re Ford (tith
Cir, 1992), 987 F.2d 334, 339.

[*P21] The Fifth Amendment io the 1S, Constitu-
¢ion provides that no person shall "be subject [**9] for
the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or
limb."

[*P22] In Oregon v. Kennedy, supra, the Supreme
Court noted that the Double Jeopardy Clause affords a
criminal defendant a valued right to have his trial com-
pleted by a particular tribunal, but does not offer a guar-
antee to the defendant that the State will vindicate its
societal interest in the enforcement of the eriminal laws
in one proceeding.

[*P23] As an initial matier, this court notes that
the first trial ended with a mistrial because the jury could
not reach a verdict, Under R C. 294534, this did not ter-
minate the original jeopardy. Accord Oregon v. Kennedy,
supra, (noting that the Powble Jeopardy Clause has been
heid not to bar a retrial where there is a "manifest neces-
sity™ Tor declaring a mistrial and that a “hung jury re-
mains the protofypical example™ of manifest necessity).

[*P24] In some instances, prosecutorial miscon-
duct may prevent a retrial. Typically mistrials for prose-
cutorial misconduct present possible double jeopardy
implications where the defendant moves for a mistrial,
the motion is granted and the double jeopardy implica-
tions of retrial must then be addressed. See, e.g., Cregon
v. Kennedy, supra, Here, however, [*¥10] this matter
presents the somewhat unusual backdrop of potential
double jeopardy implications following the denial of the
motion for misirial and the case is then retried following
a hung jury. This exact scenario was addressed in United
Stares v. Gollamudi {Jan. 29, 1993), EDN.Y. No.
CR-9{-518, 1993 U.S. Disr. LEXIS 1402,

[*P25] The Gollamudi court considered the issue
of the standard o be applied where the request for a mis-
irial was denied, the matter was tried to a hung jury and a
double jeopardy claim was then raised. The court con-
sidered the standard set forth in Oregon v. Kennedy, su-
pra, i.e., that retrial is barred only if the prosecutorial
misconduct was intended to subvert the double jeopardy
protections, that is where the government intended to
“goad” the defendant Into moving for a mistrial. The
court also considered the standard set forth in Linited
States v. Wallach (C.A.2 {992), 979 F .24 912, in which
the court held that where a defendant had suffered "no
impairment” of hig valued right to have his trial com-
pleted by a single iribunal reirial is barred only where the
misconduct of the prosecuior is undertaken to prevent an
acquiltal that the prosecutor believed was likely to oceur
in the absence of such [**11] misconduct. Liltimately,
the court conchuided thai a prosecutor's misconduct, no
matter how egregions, will not bar a subsequent retrial as
long as the prasecutor did not act with the specific intent
cither to inspire a motion for a misirial, or to obtain a
conviction where an acquittal was likely.

[*P26] Accord State v. Loza, 71 Ohio St.3d 61,
70, 1994 Ohin 409, 641 N.E.2d 1082. "Only where the
prosecutorial conduct in question is intended to 'goad' the
defendant into moving for a mistrial may defendant raise
the bar of double jeopardy to a second trial afier having
succeeded in aborting the first on his own motion." Mere
negligence will not suffice to show intent to provoke a
mistrial. Stare v. Gires (1997), 121 Ohic App.3d 539,
353, 7O N.E2d 395.
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[*P27] The trial court’s finding regarding whether
the prosecuting attorney intended to cause a mistrial is a
finding of fact which Is accorded great deference. Ore-
gonv. Kenmedy, 456 U.S. at 673. A reviewing court may
consider the following factors in determining whether the
required intent to provoke a mistrial existed: (1) whether
there was a sequence of overreaching prior to the single
prejudicial incident; {2} whether the prosecutor resisted
or [**12] was surprised by the defendant’s motion for
a mistrial; and (3) the findings of the trial and appellate
courts concerning the intent of the prosecutor. Stafe v
CHirts, supra.

[*P28] A hearing is necessary only if there existed
a genuine issue in the mind of the trial court concerning
the prosecutor's intent. United States v, Wentz (CA 4
1986} 800 F.2d 1325,

[*P29] After reviewing the record, we find no
plain error in proceeding to the second trial. The record
reveals that the prosecuting attorney believed that
Randleman had made the oral smtement about defend-
ant's fears of discovery of the g to investigating oftic-
ers, and that he believed that he could impeach Randle-
man with the prior statement under Evid R 687, Moreo-
ver, there is absolutely no indication of an intent to goad
the defense into moving for a mistrial, no evidence of a
sequence of overreaching prior w this incident, and the
prosecutor resisted or was surprised by the defendant's
motion for a mistrial. Likewise, the record reveals that
the prosecuting atiorney believed that Pomaies’
out-of-gourt statement was not hearsay, and offered it to
show the subsequent conduct of officers in relation to
Randleman and her car. There is [**13] absolately no
indication of an intent to goad the defense inte moving
for a mistrial, no evidence of a sequence of overreaching
prior to this incident, and the prosecutor resisted or was
surprised by the defendant’s motion for a mistrial. The
prosecutor’s actions did not operate 1o bar the retrial as
the prosecutor did not act with the specific intent either
to inspire a motion for a mistrial, or to obtain a convic-
tion where an acquittal was likely,

{*PF30] The first assignment of error is without
merit.

[*P31] For his second assignment of error, de-
fendant asserts that the trial court erred in refusing to
suppress the eyewitness testimony of Trisha Smith be-
cause, he claims, the identification was the result of un-
necessarily suggestive pretrial identification procedures.
Specifically, defendant complains that Smith was shown
a photo array which featured a photo of defendant with a
darker complexion than the other subjects,

[*P32] When a witness has been confronted with
a suspect before trial, due process requires a court to
suppress an identification of the suspect if the confronta-

tion was unnecessarily suggestive of the suspect's guilt
and the identification was unreliable under all the cir-
cumstances, Sigle v. Waddy ¢1992), 63 Ghio 5r3d 424,
438, 388 NE2d 819, [**14] citing Mansor v
Brathwaite ¢1977), 432 US98 114, 97 8.8 2243,
2254, 53 LEJ2d 140, 155, and Nedl v. Biggers (1972),
409 U8 188 I196.198, 93 5.(t 375, 381-382 34
LEQId401, 410-411.

[¥P33] The defendant bears the initinl burden of
establishing that the photographic identification proce-
dure was unnecessarily suggestive. If the defendant
meets this burden, the court must consider whether the
procedurs was so unduly suggestive as to give Tise W
irreparable mistaken identification. State v. Willy (1997),
{20 Ohio App.3d 320, 324-325, 697 N.E.2d 1072, citing
Manson v. Brathwaite, supra.

[*P34] ‘The court must determine whether the
photographic identification procedure was “so impermis-
sibly suggestive as to give rise fo a very substantial like-
lihood of #reparable misidentification.” Simmons v
Unijted States (1968) 390 US 377, 384, 19 LEJL2
1247 88 8 Cr. 967.

[*P35] However, no due process violation will be
found where an identification is instead the result of ob-
servations at the time of the crime and does not stem
from an impermissibly suggestive confrontation. Cole-
mar v. Alabama (1870). 399 LS I, 5-6, 90 8Ct, 1999,
2007, 26 LEL2d 387, 394.

[*P36] A court must consider the following fac-
tors [**15] with regard 1o potential misidentification;
*the opportunity of the witness fo view the criminal at
the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the
accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal,
the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the
confrontation, and the length of time between the crime
and the confrontation **** Neil v. Biggers, supra.
(1972), 409 U8, 188, 199-200, 34 LEA2d 401, 93 8.C4,
375. The court must review these factors under the toml-
ity of the circumstances. [d. Even if the "identification
procedure may have contained notable faws, this factor
dogs not, per se, prechude the admissibility of the identi-
fication.” State v. Merrill (1984), 22 Ohio 4pp 3d 119,
121,22 Ohio B. 320, 489 N.E 2d 1037; Siate v. Moody
(1978} 55 Ohio S1.2d 64, 67, 377 N.E.2d 1048,

[*P37] In this matter, we cannot conclude that the
trial court erred in denying the metion to suppress. The
evidence demonstrated that immediately following the
shooting, Smith described the assallant as a dark com-
plexioned African-American male, approximately 5'6" or
38", with dread locks or braids. Smith believed that she
saw the man again at Reyes' wake. In the ensving weeks,
she looked at [**16] approximately twenty pboto-
graphs for police but could nwot identify the assailant, In
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May 2003, she was shown a six-person photo array and
indicated that defendant looked like the person but she
could not be sure. All of the foregoing strongly suggests
that Smith's identification is instead the result of obser-
vations at the time of the crime. Moreover, there is noth-
ing to indicate that the identification procedure was un-
necessarily suggestive. A six-person black and white
photo array was presented. The men have comparable
facial hair, and hair styles. We cannot accept defendant's
claim that his complexion is darker than the others so as
to isolate his identity and we also reject defendant's con-
tention that his photo is the only one consistent with
Smith's description. The photo array was well-constituted
and not impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very
substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

[*P38] This assignment of error is without merit.

[*P39] For his third assignment of error defendant
asserts that the trial court violated his rights under the
Confrontation clause by determining that she was una-
vailable under Evid R. 804, and permitting the state to
introduce Randleman's [**17] testimony at the first
trial.

[*P40] A testimonial statement from a witness
who does not appear at trial is inadmissible against the
accused unless the witness is unavailable to testify and
the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine
the witnessed. Crawford v. Washington (2004), 541 U.S.
36, 124 8. Ci. 1354, 158 L.Ed 2d 177. Evid R. 804(4)(5)
defines the initial requirement of unavailability in the
following manner:

[*P41] "Unavailability as a witmess' includes situ-
ations in which the declarant:

[*P42] "(5) is absent from the hearing and the
proponent of his statement has been unable to procure his
attendance (or in the case of a hearsay exception under
subdivision (13)(2), (3), or (4), his attendance or testi-
mony) by process or other reasonable means. * * * ™

[*P43] A wimess is not considered unavailable
unless the prosecution has made reasonable efforts in
good faith to secure his presence at tnial, State v, Keairns
(1984), 9 Ohio 51.3d 228, 230,9 Ohio B. 569, 460 N.E.2d
245. "A showing of unavailability under Evid R. 804
must be based on testimony of witnesses ratherthan
hearsay not under oath unless unavailability is conceded
by the party against whom the statement is being of-
fered." Id ar 232.

[*P44] In this matter, [**|8] Randleman was
under subpoena and a bench warrant was issued for her
appearance at trial but she was absent from the proceed-
ings. The prosecuting attorney was unable to procure her
appearance and he played a voice mail message from
Randleman for the trial court in chambers in which

Randleman indicated that she had received her subpoena
and was aware of the court date but expressed notice,
transportation and other issues. In another phone call to
the attorney's personal cell phone, she indicated that she
would be available on Tuesday and needed a ride. The
prosecutor then related that the Elyria Police and Sher-
iff's Deputies had gone to her home on numerous times
to locate her, and spoke to a woman taking care of
Randleman's children who stated that she did not know
when Randleman would return. The record supports the
trial court'’s finding that the state did make a reasonable
good-faith effort, including numerous attempts by law
enforcement, to secure her appearance. Cf. State v. Smith
(1990), 49 Ohio 5t.3d 137, 551 N.E.2d 190 Although the
state's evidence was not under oath, defense counsel does
not appear to have objected to the informal in chambers
proceeding,

[*P45] In any event, we conclude [**19] that
admission of this evidence was harmless beyond a rea-
sonable doubt in light of the acmal evidence linking de-
fendant to the home at 1371 East 185<th> Street and
linking the murder weapon to this address, the evidence
of defendant's fingerprints on Reyes' car, and the identi-
fication evidence. Cf. State v. Coma (August 14, 2000),
Columbiana App. No. 99 CO 8, 2000 Ohio App. LEXIS
3683.

[*P46] This assignment of error is overruled.

[*P47] For his fourth assignment of error, de-
fendant complains that his convictions are not supported
by sufficient evidence.

[*P48] When reviewing the sufficiency of the ev-
idence, an appellate court's function is to examine the
evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such ey-
idence, if believed, would convince the average mind of
the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, Stare v.
Thompkins (1997), 78 Ohio 5t.3d 380, 386, 1997 Ohio
52, 678 N. E.2d 541. The relevant inquiry is whether,
after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to
the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have
found the essential elements of the crime proven beyond
a reasonable doubt. Id.

[*P49] The essential elements of felony murder
are set forth in R.C. 2903.01(B) as follows:

[*P50] "(B) No person shall purposely cause the
[**20] death of another or the unlawful termination of
another's pregnancy while committing or attempting to
commit, or while fleeing immediately after committing
or attempting t0 commit, kidnapping, rape, aggravated
arsom, arson, aggravated robbery, robbery, aggravated
burglary, burglary, terrorism, or escape.”

[*P51] The elements of aggravated robbery are set
forth in R.C. 2911.01 as follows:
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[*P52] "{A} No person, in attempting or commit-
ting a theft offense * * * shall do any of the following: *
* * (3} Inflicy or attempt to inflict, serious physical harm
on another.”

[*P53] The Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected
the argument that there is no aggravated robbery when
the victim's property is taken after he is murdered. The
court has stated:

[*P54] "[T]he victim of a robbery, killed just prior
to the robber's carrying off [his] property, is nonetheless
the victim of an aggravated robbery. The victim need not
be alive at the time of asportation. A robber cannot avoid
the effect of the felomv-murder rule by first killing a vic-
tim, watching [him] die, and then stealing [his] property
after the death.”

[*P331 Srme v. Smith (1991), 61 Ohio S5t.3d 254,
294, 374 KE2d 510. Accord Stare v. Rojas, 64 CGhio
St3d 131, 139 1992 Ohip 114, S92 NE 2d 1376,

[*Psa]  [**21] In this matfcr, the siate’s evi-
dence demonstrated that defendant chased Reves down
and shot amd killed him then fled in Reyes' car. The car
was stripped of its rims and defendant’s fingerprints were
found on the fender, despitc defendant’s statement to
police that he did not know Reves and had never seen his
car. In a prior arrest, defendant was also linked to 1371
East 185<th> Street, the location from which the murder
weapon was recovered, In light of the foregoing, we
conclude that this evidence, if believed, would convince
the average mind of defendant's guilt of the offenses be-
yoted a reasonable doubt. Cf. Srare v. Scon, 181 Chin
St.3d 34, 2004 Ohio 10, SO0 N.E.2d 1133,

[*P57] This assignment of error is withowt merit,

[*P58] For his fifth assipnment of error defendant
complains that his convictions are against the manifest
weight of the evidence.

[*F59] In evaluating a challenge o the verdict
based on manifest weight of the evidence, the court, re-
viewing the entire record, weighs the evidence and all
reasonable inferences, considers the credibility of wit-
nesses and determines whether in resolving conflicts in
the evidence, the jury clearly lost its way and created
such a manifest miscarriage of [**22] justice that the
conviction must be reversed and a new trial ordered.
State v. Thomptins, supra. The discretionary power to
grant a new frial should be exercised only in the excep-
tional case in which the evidence weighs heavily against
the conviction, Id ar 387,

[*P80] As explained by the Ohio Supreme Court;

[*P61] "Weight of the evidence concerns ‘the in-
clination of the greater amount of credible evidence off
fered 1n a trial, to support one side of the issue rather

than the other. It indicates cleatly to the jury that the
party having the burden of proof will be entitled to their
verdict, if, on weighing the evidence in their minds, they
shall find the greater amount of credible evidence sus-
tains the issue which i3 to be established before them.
Weight is not a question of mathematics, but depends on
its effect in inducing belief.” 1d.

[*P62] The evidence in this matter indicated that
defendant was arrested at 1371 East 185<th> Street sub-
sequent to the instant offense, and the owner of this
home found the weapon used to kil Reyes hidden in his
grill. The evidence also indicated that defendant was
identified ss the assailant, thai his fingerprinis were
found on Reyes' car. and that the car was stripped
[**23] of its specialty rims. From the foregoing, we
cannot say that the jury lost its way in convicting de-
fendant of the offenses. This claim is without merit

[*P83] For his sixth assighment of error, defend-
ani asserts that the Sfate of Ohio violated his constitu-
tional rights to equal protection by using its preemplory
challenges to sfrike African-American jurors.

{*Péd] In Baison v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U8 79,
08 S.Cr 1712, 90 LEJ2d 69, the United States Su-
preme Court held that the Egual Protection Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment prohibiis the use of peremptory
challenges in a discriminatory manner 10 ex¢lude poten-
tial jurors solely on account of their race. Baisom created
a three-part test for determining whether a prosecutor's
use of a peremptory challenge is ractally motivated.
First, a defendant must make a prima facle showing of
intentional diserimination by demonsirating that the state
has used peremptory challenges to exclude potential ju-
rors on the basis of race. Id. at P31, The defendant must
point to facts and relevant circumstances which raise an
inference that the prosecutor used the peremptory chal-
lenges to exclude jurors on accomnt of their race. 14, ses,
also, State v. Jordan, 167 Ohic App.3d 157, 2006 Ohio
2738 854 NE 24520, [**24] citing Batson.

[*P83] Once a defendant makes a prima facie case
of discrimination, the burden shifis to the state to provide
a race-neutral explanation for the peremptory challenge.
Id., citing Herngndez v. New York (1991), 500 U8, 352,
111 8.Cr. 1859, 114 L. Ed 2d 395. "The state's explana-
tion need not rise to the level of a 'for cause’ challenge;
rather, it need only be based on a juror characteristic
other than race and not be pretextual.” /i The issue is the
facial validity of the prosecutor’s explanation; unless a
discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutors ex-
planation, the reason offered will be deemed race neutral,
See Purkett v. Elem (1995}, 514 U8 765, 767-768, 115
S. e 1769, 1771, 131 L.Ed 2d 834, quoiing Hernandez
v. New York, supra,
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[¥P66] The court's finding that the state had no
discriminatory intent in excluding the juror will not be
reversed unless it is clearly erroneous. State v. Hernan-
dez (1992), 63 Ohio St. 3d 577, 582, 589 N.E.2d 1310,
1313.

[*P67] In this matter, the state used a preemptory
to strike Juror Jeffries, an African-American. The state
explained that she stated that she did not want to be
there, (see Tr. 3433, 3438), and she had a problem put-
ting people [**25] in jail. This was a race-neutral ex-
planation, and there was no showing of pretext. Another
African-American remained on the panel. We find no
error in connection with this preemptory challenge.

[*P68] For his seventh assignment of error de-
fendant asserts that the trial court erred in failing to con-
duct an in-camera review of Det. Beamon's report pur-
suant to Crim.R. 16(B)(1)(g).

[*P69] Those portions of police reports reeording
the officer's personal observations and recollections of
the events are subject to scrutiny under Crim.R
16(B)(1)(g); State v. Jenkins (1984), 15 Ohio St.3d 164,
15 Ohio B. 311, 473 N.E.2d 264. Those portions which
recite matters beyond the witness’ personal observations,
such as notes regarding another witness' statement or the
officer's investigative decisions, interpretations and in-
terpolations, are privileged and excluded from discovery
under Crim.R. 16(B)(2). 1d.

[*P70] Before a writing can be considered a wit-
ness's "staternent,"” it must be demonstrated that the wit-
ness prepared, signed, or adopted the statement or that it
is a continuous narrative made by the witness. State v.
Cummings (1985), 23 Ohio App. 3d 40, 23 Ohio B. 84,
491 N.E.2d 354. Reports or notes taken by a police of-
ficer during an interview [**26] with a victim or wit-
ness in a case are not considered a statement for the pur-
poses of Crim.R. 16(B)(1)(g) and are not subject to an in
camera  inspection  within  the meaning of
Crim. R.I16(B)(1)(g). State v. Washington (1978), 36 Ohio
App. 2d 129, 381 N.E.2d 1142; State v. Watts (June 4,
1998), Cuyahoga App.No. 72863, 1998 Ohio App. LEXIS
2410; State v. Spraggins, Cuyahoga App. No. 87238,
2006 Ohio 5739. The Washington Court noted that "***
the word 'written' in this context does not refer to notes
made by a detective talking to a witness during an inves-
tigation. The word *written’ refers to a writing made by a
witness or by somebody else at the witness' direction.”
56 Ohio App.2d at 132-133. See, also, State v. Henry
(1987), 37 Ohio App. 3d 3, 523 N.E.2d §77.

[*P71] in this matter, there is no indication that
the documents at issue constitute "statements” within the
eontemplation of Crim. R 16, Det. Beamon was not pre-
sent at the scene of the shooting, and the documents at
issue were not his statement or narrative. There is abso-

lutely no indication that the officer was present for any
of the defendant’s conduct or that he made any observa-
tions pertaining to the actual commission of the offense.
Rather, the officer became [**27] involved with this
matter after commission of the offenses and in the
months following the shooting, he spoke (o witnesses
regarding the witnesses’ observations. The documents are
investigative reports and not witness statements.

{*P72] Defendant herein relies upon Spraggins,
supra for support herein. In that case, the officer whose
statement was at issue was a member of the unit that
participated in the "buy/bust" of the defendant, was pre-
sent for the transaction at issue and made personal ob-
servations of the defendant's conduct. Spraggins is
therefore completely distinguishable from this matter.

[*P73] Insofar as the defense sought to review the
statement because the detective used it to refresh his rec-
ollection, the trial court was vested with discretion in
making this ruling, Evid. K. 672, and we find no abuse of
discretion as the trial court determined that those por-
tions were turned over to the defense. (Tr. 4200).

This claim lacks merit.

[*P74]) For his eighth assignment of error, de-
fendant claims that the trial court erroneously instructed
the jury as to the offense of aggravated robbery. Specifi-
cally, he challenges that portion which indicate that the
violent act "must occur as part of the sequence [**28]
of acts leading up to, occurring during or immediately
subsequent to armed robbery and that the death was as-
sociated with the armed robbery."

[*P75] As an initial matter, we note that this por-
tion of the instruetion pertained to the charge of at-
tempted aggravated robbery. We further note that no
error was recognized in connection with this instruction
in State v. Andrews (May 4, 1993), Cuyahoga App. No.
67370, 1995 Ohio App. LEXIS 1839,

[*P76] We reject this claimed error.

[*P77] Within his ninth assignment of error, de-
fendant asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for
failing to object to the aggravated robbery instruction. As
we have rejected the underlying challenge to the jury
instruction, the claim of error premised thereon must
likewise fail. State v. Henderson (1988), 39 Ohio St.3d
24,33, 528 NNE.2d 1237.

[*P78] For his tenth assignment of error, defend-
ant maintains that the trial was tainted by prosecutorial
misconduct.

[¥P79] The test for prosecutorial misconduct is
whether the prosecutor's conduct at trial was improper
and prejudicially affected the substantial rights of the
defendant. State v. Lott (1990), 51 Ohio St.3d 160, 165,
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355 NE2d 293. A prosecufor’s conduct during trial
gannot be grounds for error unless the conduct  [**29]
deprives the defendant of a fair trial. State v. Apanovitch
(1987), 33 Ohio 5t3d 19, 24, 514 N E.2d 304, To de-
termoine if the alleged misconduct resulied in prejudice,
an appellate court should consider the following factors:
*{1} the nature of the remarks, (2} whether an objection
was made by counsel, (3} whether corrective instructions
were given by the court, and {(4) the strength of the evi-
dence against the defendant.” State v. Braxton (19935),
102 Ohio App.3d 28, 41, 656 N.E.2d 970, Additionally,
the appellate court should consider whether the aileged
misconduct was "an isolated incident in an otherwise
properly tried case." fd.

{*P80] Defendant complains that the prosecuting
attorney nated that he was unemploved, that he breaks
into houses, that the jurors should use their common
sense in evaluating evewimess identification, and that he
misrepresented the evidence of record,

[*P81} The reference to a defendant’s unemploved
status was determined not to amount to prejudicial pros-
evutorial misconduct in State v. Siler, Ashland App. Ne.
02 COA 02X, 2003 Ohio 5749; vacated on other grounds
Siler v. (Ohio (2004}, 543 ULS. 1019, 125 8.Ct. 671, 140
LEd2d 494,

[*P82] The comiment that defendant breaks into
[**30] houses had only a loose association to the evi-
dence as the state demonstrated that defendant was ar-
rested following a report of a break-in. We cannot con-
clude that this isolated comment prejudicially affected
defendant's substantial rights, as the jury was repeatedly
informed that the comments were not evidence.

[*P83] The reference to jurors using their com-
mon sense has been determined to be neither prosecuto-
rial misconduct nor plain error. See Toledo v. Moore
Lucas dpp. No. L-02-1288, 2003 Ohio 2352,

[*P24] As 1o the claims that the prosecutor come
mitted misconduct by distorting evidence of record, we
note that Dabney's fingerprints were evaluated {Tr.
4231}, the similarity of the rims {aken Gom Reyes and
later put on Randleman's car was established, both Smith
and Maynard did identify defendant as the assailant, We
therefore are unable to conclude that the prosecuting
attorney caused prejudicial error in conngction with these
remarks. Cf. State v Daoud, Montgomery App. No.
19213, 2003 Ohio 676.

[*P85] We reject this assignment of ertor.

[*P86] For his eleventh assignment of error, de-
fandant asserts that the trial court erred in failing to per-
mit his wrial counsel w arcue the existence of residual
doubt [**31] in the penalty phase of the trial.

[*P87] ln Franklin v. Lynaugh (1988}, 487 US.
164, 188, 108 8.Cr. 2320, 2335, 107 LEJ2d 135, 173,
the Court held that states are not required 1o allow a de-
fendant the opportunity to argue residual doubt as a mit-
igating circumstance. The court stated that residual doubt
did not have to be considered as a mitigating factor be-
cause It was not relevant to the defendant's character,
tecord, or any circumstances of the offense. Accord State
v. McGuire, 80 Ohio St.3d 393, 1997 Ohio 333, 686
NE2d 1112

[*PB8] For his final assignment of error, defend-
ant asserts that the trial court violated his right to remain
silent when it noted in the sentencing hearing that de-
fendant had not accepled responsibility for his conduct,
He further complains that the trial court shouid have
considered lesser sentencing alternatives before fashion-
ing the sentence in this matier,

[*P8&9] A defendant’s silence may not be used
gpainst him in fashioning a sentence, Mitchell v. Unir-
ed States (1999), 326 US. 314, 119 8.Cr 1307, 143
LEd2d424.

[*P90] In this matier, however, defendant did not
exercise his Fifth Amendmeni right to remain silent at the
sentencing hearing. Instead, he volunfarily responded
[**32] when the judge gave him the opportunity to
speak prior to sentencing. Moreover, the record clearly
reflects that the court’s determination that defendant did
not accept responsibility was a reference to this
pre-sentence statement.

[*P91] As to defendant’s claim that the trial court
did not consider lesser options before imposing the sen-
tence herein, we note that in State v. Foster, 109 Ohio
St.3d 1, 2006 Ohio 856, 845 N.E.2d 470, the court spe-
cifically held that Mafter the severance, judicial
fact-finding is not required before a prison term may be
imposed within the basic ranges of RC. 2929 14/4)
based upon a jury verdict or admission of the defendant.”
As a result, “trial courts have full discretion to impose a
prison sentence within the statutory range and are no
longer required to make findings and give reasons for
imposing maximom, consecutive or more than the min-
imum sentence.” Id af paragraph seven of the syllabus,
and State v, Mathis, 109 Ohio 5t.3d 34, 2006 Ohio 855,
846 N E 24 |, paragraph three of the syllabus.

[*P92] By application of all of the foregoing, this
assignment of error is

overruled. Affirmed.

It is ordered that appellee recover from appeilant
costs herein taxed.

The court [**33]
grounds for this appeal,

finds there were reasonahle
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1t i ordered that a special mandate issue out of this
court directing the common pleas court to carry this
judgment ino execution. The defendant’s conviction
having been affirmed, any bail pending appeal is termi-
mated. Case remanded to the trial court for execution of
sentance,

A certified copy of this entry shall constitute the
mandate pursuant to Rufe 27 of the Rules of Appeliate
FProcedure.

ANN DYKE, JUDGE
ANTHONY (. CALABRESE, JR., P, and
MARY FILEEN KILBANE, 1, CONCUR
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